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PATENT ASSIGNMENT COVER SHEET

Electronic Version v1.1
Stylesheet Version v1.2

Assignment ID: PATI79958

SUBMISSION TYPE: NEW ASSIGNMENT

NATURE OF CONVEYANCE: MERGER

EFFECTIVE DATE: 11/15/2021

SEQUENCE: 1
CONVEYING PARTY DATA

Name Execution Date

ZeroNorth, Inc. 11/15/2021
Project Protect Merger Sub 1 11/15/2021

RECEIVING PARTY DATA

Company Name: ZeroNorth, Inc.
Street Address: PO Box 120255
City: Boston
State/Country: MASSACHUSETTS
Postal Code: 02112

PROPERTY NUMBERS Total: 8

Property Type Number
Application Number: 15430386
Application Number: 16440918
Application Number: 15181008
Application Number: 15658022
Application Number: 16253944
Application Number: 16253991
Application Number: 17376864
Application Number: 17391619
CORRESPONDENCE DATA
Fax Number: 4087257521

Correspondence will be sent to the e-mail address first; if that is unsuccessful, it will be sent
using a fax number, if provided; if that is unsuccessful, it will be sent via US Mail.

Phone:

Email:
Correspondent Name:
Address Line 1:
Address Line 4:

4087257520
docket@bachmann-law.com
Steve Bachmann

19925 Stevens Creek Blvd STE 100

Cupertino, CALIFORNIA 95014

508426891
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ATTORNEY DOCKET NUMBER: HARN-401

NAME OF SUBMITTER: Stephen Bachmann
SIGNATURE: Stephen Bachmann
DATE SIGNED: 03/08/2024

Total Attachments: 235
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PROJECTPROTECT MERGER SUB |1, LLC AND
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Delaware

The First State

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE AND CORRECT

COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF MERGER, WHICH MERGES:

"PROJECT PROTECT MERGER SUB I, INC.", A DELAWARE CORPORATION,

WITH AND INTO "ZERONORTH, INC.'" UNDER THE NAME OF

“ZERONORTH, INC.”, A CORPORATION ORGANIZED AND EXISTING UNDER
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, AS RECEIVED AND FILED IN THIS

OFFICE ON THE FIFTEENTH DAY OF NOVEMBER, A.D. 2021, AT 4:46

O CLOCK P.M.

Qxﬂny W. Butlock, Secretary of Stste )

Authentication: 204692881

5779551 8100M
Date: 11-15-21

SR# 20213800532

You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml
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State of Delaware
Secretary of State
Division of Corporations
Delivered 04:46 PM 11/152021
FILED 04:46 PM 11/15/2021

SR 20213800532 - FileNumber §779551
CERTIFICATE OF MERGER

MERGING

PROJECT PROTECT MERGER SUB L, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

WITH AND INTO

ZERONORTH, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

Pursuant to Title 8, Section 251(c) of the Delaware General Corporation Law, ZeroNorth, Inc,,
a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify as follows:

FIRST: The name and state of incorporation of the constituent corporations are: (a)
ZeroNorth, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the
State of Delaware, and (b) Project Protect Merger Sub 1, Inc. (“Merger Sub™), a corporation duly
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (collectively, the “Constituent
Corporations”).

SECOND:  An Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of November 15, 2021, by
and among the Constituent Corporations, Harness Inc., Project Protect Merger Sub 1I, LLC, and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, as the securityholder
representative (the “Merger Agreement”), has been approved, adopted, executed and acknowledged
by each of the Constituent Corporations in accordance with Section 251 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law and the requisite stockholders of the Constituent Corporations have given their
written consent thereto in accordance with Section 228 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

THIRD: In accordance with the Merger Agreement, upon the effectiveness of the filing
of this Certificate of Merger, Merger Sub I will merge with and into the Corporation and the separate
corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease. The surviving corporation shall be ZeroNorth, Inc. and
the name of the surviving corporation (the “Surviving Corporation”) is “ZeroNorth, Inc.”

FOURTH:  The Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation is amended and
restated to read in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit A hereto.

FIFTH: An executed copy of the Merger Agreement is on file at the principal place of
business of the Surviving Corporation at the following address: 116 New Montgomery Street #200,
San Francisco, CA. 94105.

SIXTH: An executed copy of the Merger Agreement will be furnished by the Surviving
Corporation, on request and without cost, to any stockholder of either Constituent Corporation.
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OFREORGANIZATION

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF REORGANIZATION (this “Agreement”) is made and
entered into as of November 15,2021 (the “Agreement Date”) by and among HarnessInc., a
Delaware corporation (“Parent”), Project Protect Merger Sub |, Inc., a Delaware corporation and
a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub 1”"), Project Protect Merger Sub Il, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub 11~
and, together with Merger Sub 1, the “Merger Subs”), ZeroNorth, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”), and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability
company, solely in its capacity as representative, agent, and attorney-in-fact of the Indemnifying
Parties (the “Representative”).

RECITALS

A. The parties intend that Merger Sub | shall merge with and into the Company (the
“First Merger”), with the Company to be the surviving corporation of the First Merger (the
“Surviving Corporation”), on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement and pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the
“DGCL™), and, as part of the same overall transaction, the Company would then merge with and
into Merger Sub Il (the “Second Merger” and, together with the First Merger, the “Mergers”),
on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreementand pursuant to the DGCL
and the Limited Liability Company Act of the State of Delaware (the “DLLCA”").

B. The boards of directors of Parent, Merger Sub | and the Company and the
managing member of Merger Sub Il have determined that the Mergers are in the best interests of
their respective companies, stockholders and members, and have unanimously approved and
declared advisable the Mergers on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement pursuant to the applicable provisions of the DGCL and the DLLCA, and the board of
directors of the Company has unanimously recommended the adoption of this Agreement by the
stockholders of the Company.

C. Promptly following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, it is anticipated
that the Requisite Stockholders will execute and deliver to the Company, and the Company shall
thereafter deliver to Parent, a true, correct and complete copy of a stockholder written consent in
the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Written Consent™).

D. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and as a
condition and inducement to Parent’s willingness to enter into this Agreement, those Persons
entitled to receive Merger Consideration in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and
listed on Schedule 1.1(a) hereto (the “Participating Holders”) are completing, executing and
delivering to Parent (i) joinder agreements in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B
(the “Joinder Agreement”), and (ii) investor guestionnaires substantially in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit C (the “Investor Questionnaires”).

E. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and as a
condition and inducement to Parent’s willingness to enter into this Agreement, each of the Key
Employees is executing and delivering to Parent (i) an employment agreement or offer letter

-1-
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SEVENTH: The Certificate of Merger and the Merger shall become effective upon the filing
of this Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

[Signature Page Follows}
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(each such employment agreement or offer letter, whether delivered to a Key Employee or any
other employee of the Company, an “Offer Letter”) and (ii) a confidential information and
invention assignment agreement (each such agreement, and whether delivered to a Key
Employee or any other employee of the Company, a “CI1AA”), which Offer Letters and CIIAAS
are conditioned upon the occurrence of the Closing.

F. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and as a
condition and inducement to Parent’s willingness to enter into this Agreement, each Key
Employee has entered into a non-competition and non-solicitation agreement with Parent (the
“Non-Competition Agreement”), which Non-Competition Agreement shall become effective
at, and is conditioned upon the occurrence of, the Effective Time.

G. Since the aggregate liquidation preference and other payments that holders of the
Company Convertible Notes, Series A Preferred Stock, Series A+ Preferred Stock and Series
Seed Preferred Stock are entitled to receive in connection with this Transaction is in excess of
the aggregate value of the Merger Consideration payable hereunder, the Company has filed with
the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware the Charter Amendment.

H. Parent and the Company intend, by executing this Agreement, that the Mergers (i)
are integrated steps in a single transaction as described in Revenue Ruling 2001-46, 2001-2 C.B.
321, (i) together will qualify as a tax-free reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a)
of the Code and (iii) that this Agreement is intended to constitute a “plan of reorganization”
within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.368-2(g) and 1.368-3 ((i) through (iii)
collectively, the “Intended Tax Treatment”).

l. Parent, the Merger Subs and the Company desire to make certain representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with the Mergers as set forth in this
Agreement.

AGREEMENT

Now, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises, covenants
and conditions contained herein, the parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS
As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below.
“Action” means any action, order, writ, injunction, suit, litigation, proceeding (including
any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or appellate proceeding), hearing, arbitration,
audit, examination or investigation commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before any

court or other Governmental Authority or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with,

-2-
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such Person, and the term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common
control with”) means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting
securities, by Contract or otherwise. References herein to Affiliates of Parent shall be deemed to
include the Surviving Corporation following the Effective Time and the Surviving Entity
following the Second Effective Time.

“Balance Sheet Date” means October 31,2021.

“Base Cash Consideration” means an amount in cash equal to (without duplication)
(i) $2,000,000 plus (ii) the Closing Cash Amount minus (iii) the Closing Indebtedness Amount
minus (iv) the Unpaid Transaction Expenses minus (v) the Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes (net of any
accrued tax refundsor credits listed on Schedule 1.1(b)) minus (vi) the Unpaid Wage Obligations
minus (vii) the amount by which the balance of the Senior Bank Debt is in excess of $2,000,000,
plus (viii) the amount by which the balance of the Senior Bank Debt is less than $2,000,000 plus
(ix) the amount of prepaid benefits listed on Schedule 1.1(c) minus (x) the Representative
Expense Amount.

“Base Consideration” means the (i) Base Cash Consideration plus (ii) the Base Stock
Consideration.

“Base Stock Consideration” means 400,000 shares of Parent Class B Common Stock.

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which
banks are required or authorized by Law to be closed in Boston, Massachusetts or San Francisco,
California.

“CARES Act” means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (Pub. L.
116-136), together with all rules and regulations issued by any Governmental Authority with
respect thereto and any similar or successor statute with respect thereto (including for the
avoidance of doubt the Consolidated Appropriations Actof 2021, P.L. 116-260).

“Certificate of Incorporation” means the Company’s Third Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, as in effect on the Agreement Date.

“Change” means any change, event, circumstance, development, condition or effect.

“Charter Amendment” means the Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of
Incorporation of the Company substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D.

“Claim” means a claim for indemnification, compensation or reimbursement for
Damages under Article 7.

“Closing Cash Amount” means the amount of all unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
of the Company as of immediately prior to the Closing (including any checks and drafts
deposited for the account of the Company but net of any issued but uncleared wires, checks,
drafts or money orders), in each case, determined in accordance with GAAP consistently applied.

-3-
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DocuSign Envelope [D: EOFABA27-07B6-45AA-BOBC-E52EB3216CEA

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, ZeroNorth, Inc. has caused this Certificate of Merger to
be executed in its corporate name as of the 15th day of November, 2021.

ZERONORTH, INC.

By:  Jolun Warvall
Name: John worrall

Title; CEO

[Signature Page to First Certificate of Merger]
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“Closing Consideration” means the (i) Base Consideration minus (ii) the Escrow
Amount.

“Closing Employee Payment” means any payment, benefit or other obligation triggered
solely by or that becomes due solely as a result of the consummation of either of the Mergers,
whether due prior to, at or after the Closing, in each case payable under any management,
employment, retention, bonus, change in control, paid-time off, severance, or other similar
arrangement with any current or former director, officer, employee or individual independent
contractor of the Company and the employer portion of any associated employment, payroll or
similar Tax (including any separation payment, contractual or otherwise, or statutory severance
payments or payments in lieu of notice, including but not limited to payments in lieu of notice
required under the federal WARN Act and state equivalents, payable to any Non-Continuing
Employee), including pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan; provided, however, that no
Parent Employee Obligation shall be a Closing Employee Payment, which Parent Employee
Obligations shall be borne solely by Parent.

“Closing Financial Certificate” means a certificate of the Company, certified as true,
correct and complete by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of the
Company acting in their capacities as such and dated as of the Closing Date, setting forth the
Company’s calculation of (i) the Closing Indebtedness Amount (including an itemized list
thereof, the Person to whom such payment is to be made, whether itis to be paid at the Effective
Time and, if it is not to be paid at the Effective Time, when it is due), (ii) the Unpaid Transaction
Expenses (including an itemized list thereof, the Person to whom such payment is to be made,
whether it is due as of the Closing and, if itis not due as of the Closing, when itis due), (iii) the
Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes (including an itemized list thereof, the Person to whom such payment
is to be made, whether it is due as of the Closing and, if itis not due as of the Closing, when it is
due), (iv) the Unpaid Wage Obligations (including an itemized list thereof, the Person to whom
such payment is to be made, whether it is due as of the Closing and, if itis notdue as of the
Closing, when it is due) and (v) the Closing Cash Amount. The Closing Financial Certificate
shall be used for purposes of calculating the Base Cash Consideration, it being acknowledged
and agreed that its use therefor shall not affect, in any manner whatsoever, any Indemnified
Party’s right to indemnification, compensation or reimbursement pursuant to, and subject to the
limitations set forth in, Section 7.2 if any of the information on the Closing Financial Certificate
is notaccurate or complete, including if any amounts set forth thereon or omitted therefrom
resulted in the Base Cash Consideration being higher than it otherwise would have been absent
such error.

“Closing Indebtedness Amount” means the total amount (if any) of the Company’s
Indebtedness as of immediately prior to the Closing, excluding (i) the Company Convertible
Notes and (ii) the Senior Bank Debt.

“COBRA” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as
amended.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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EXHIBIT A
AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF

ZERONORTH, INC,

ARTICLE ]
The name of the corporation is ZeroNorth, Inc. (the “Corporation”).

ARTICLE I
The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange
Street, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, 19801. The name of the registered agent at such
address is Corporation Service Company.

ARTICLE HI
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations
may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as the same exists or
as may hereafter be amended from time to time.

ARTICLE IV
This Corporation is authorized to issue one class of shares to be designated Common Stock.
The total number of shares of Common Stock the Corporation has authority to issue is 100 with a par
value of $0.0001 per share.

ARTICLE YV
In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of Directors
of the Corporation (the “Board”) is expressly authorized to make, alter, amend or repeal the bylaws
of the Corporation (the “Bylaws”).

ARTICLE VI
Elections of directors need not be by written ballot unless otherwise provided in the Bylaws.

ARTICLE VII
Meetings of stockholders may be held within or without the State of Delaware, as the Bylaws
of the Corporation may provide. The books of the Corporation may be kept (subject to any provision
contained in the statutes) outside the State of Delaware at such place or places as may be designated
from time to time by the Board or in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII

To the fullest extent permitted by law, a director of the Corporation shall not be personally
liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a
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“Company Balance Sheet” means the Company’s unaudited consolidated balance sheet
as of the Balance Sheet Date.

“Company Business” means the business of the Company as conducted as of the
Agreement Date, including the design, development, manufacturing, distribution, sale,
marketing, licensing, supply, and provision of any of the Company Offerings.

“Company Capital Stock” means the Company Common Stock and the Company
Preferred Stock.

“Company Common Stock” means the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001
per share.

“Company Convertible Notes” means the convertible promissory notes issued by the
Company on or about July 27, 2021, and the New Bridge Notes.

“Company Data” means all data, meta-data, or information collected or received by the
Company fromusers or customers of the Company’s products or Company Web Site (including
User Data).

“Company Employee Agreement” means each management, employment, retention,
change in control, severance, Tax gross-up, consulting, relocation, repatriation or expatriation
agreement or other similar Contract between the Company and (a) any current employee, officer,
individual independent contractor, director or other individual service provider of the Company
or (b) any former employee, officer or director of the Company pursuant to which the Company
has executory obligations.

“Company Employee Plan” means each (i) employee benefit plan within the meaning of
Section 3(3) of ERISA whether or not subject to ERISA, (ii) stock option plan, stock purchase
plan, other equity-based plan, bonus or incentive award plan, severance pay plan, program or
arrangement, deferred compensation arrangement or agreement, executive compensation plan or
program, agreement or arrangement, retention plan, change in control plan, program or
arrangement, supplemental income arrangement, vacation or paid-time off plan, death,
hospitalization, health and welfare and fringe benefit plan, retirement, postretirement or retiree
welfare arrangement, educational or employee assistance plan, employee loanand all other
employee benefit plans, agreements, and arrangements, not described in (i) above; and (iii) plan
or arrangement providing compensation to employee and non-employee directors, in the case of
each of clauses (i) - (iii) above, which is sponsored, maintained, contributed to or required to be
contributed to by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate for the benefit of any current or former
employee, officer, director, individual independent contractor or other individual service
provider of the Company (or their spouses, dependents, or beneficiaries) or with respect to which
the Company has or could reasonably be expected to have any liability.

“Company Financial Statements” means (i) the Company’s audited balance sheets
dated as of December 31, 2018, December 31, 2019 and January 31,2021, (ii) the Company’s
audited statements of profit and loss and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2018,
December 31, 2019 and January 31, 2021, (iii) the Company’s unaudited consolidated statements
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of profitand loss and cash flows for the eight (8) months ended September 30, 2021 and (iv) the
Company Balance Sheet.

“Company Intellectual Property Right” means any Intellectual Property Right that is
owned, used, held for use, or practiced by, or exclusively licensed to, the Company, including
any Intellectual Property Right incorporated into or otherwise used, held for use or practiced in
connection with (or planned by the Company to be incorporated into or otherwise used, held for
use or practiced in connection with) any Company Offering.

“Company Material Contract” means any Contract required to be listed on the
Company Disclosure Letter pursuant to Section 3.12 or Section 3.14(f) (whether or not so listed).

“Company Offering” means (i) any Company Software, product (including any
application programming interface (API) and any software development kit (SDKY)) or service
(including hosted software or cloud services) offered, licensed, provided, sold, distributed,
manufactured, or made available by or for the Company, and any Company Software, product or
service under design or development (or already designed or developed) by or for the Company,
including any version or release of the foregoing, together with any related documentation,
materials, or information, (ii) each Company Web Site, including any platform, or other
Software used for each Company Web Site, and (iii) the Company Data.

“Company Option Agreement” means, with respect to any Company Option, the
applicable option agreement and/or other applicable Contract or plan setting forth the terms of
vesting and other terms and conditions applicable to such Company Option.

“Company Optionholder” means any holder of Company Options.
“Company Options” means options to purchase shares of Company Common Stock.

“Company Preferred Stock” means the Series Seed Preferred Stock, Series A Preferred
Stock and Series A+ Preferred Stock.

“Company Restricted Stock™ means any issued and outstanding shares of Company
Common Stock that, at the time of measurement, are not vested or are subject to a repurchase
option, risk of forfeiture or other similar risk or condition under any applicable Company
Restricted Stock Agreement.

“Company Restricted Stock Agreement” means, with respect to any share of Company
Restricted Stock, the applicable stock restriction agreement and/or other applicable Contract or
plan setting forth the terms of vesting or any repurchase option, risk of forfeiture or other similar
risk or condition applicable to such share of Company Restricted Stock.

“Company Securityholders” means, collectively, the Company Stockholders, the
Company Optionholders, the holders of Company Warrants and the holders of Company
Convertible Notes.

“Company Software” means all Software owned by or developed by or for the
Company.
-6-
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director. If the General Corporation Law or any other law of the State of Delaware is amended to
authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the
liability of a director of the Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted
by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as so amended.

The following indemnification provisions shall apply to the persons enumerated below.

1. Right to Indemnification of Directors and Officers. The Corporation shall indemnify and
hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as it presently exists or may
hereafter be amended, any person (an “Indemnified Person”) who was or is made or is
threatened to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding,
whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “Proceeding”), by reason of the
fact that such person, or a person for whom such person is the legal representative, is or was
a director or officer of the Corporation or, while a director or officer of the Corporation, is
or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust,
enterprise or nonprofit entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans,
against all lability and loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) reasonably
incurred by such Indemnified Person in such Proceeding. Notwithstanding the preceding
sentence, except as otherwise provided in Section 3 of this Article VIII, the Corporation shall
be required to indemnify an Indemnified Person in connection with a Proceeding (or part
thereof) commenced by such Indemnified Person only if the commencement of such
Proceeding (or part thereof) by the Indemnified Person was authorized in advance by the
Board.

2. Prepayment of Expenses of Directors and Officers. The Corporation shall pay the expenses
(including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an Indemnified Person in defending any Proceeding
in advance of its final disposition, provided, however, that, to the extent required by law,
such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of the Proceeding shall be made
only upon receipt of an undertaking by the Indemnified Person to repay all amounts
advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the Indemnified Person is not entitled to
be indemnified under this Article VIII or otherwise.

3. Claims by Directors and Officers. If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses
under this Article VIII is not paid in full within thirty (30) days after a written claim therefor
by the Indemnified Person has been received by the Corporation, the Indemnified Person
may file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim and, if successful in whole or in
part, shall be entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such claim. In any such action
the Corporation shall have the burden of proving that the Indemnified Person is not entitled
to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under applicable law.

4, Indemnification of Employees and Agents. The Corporation may indemnify and
advance expenses to any person who was or is made or is threatened to be made or is
otherwise involved in any Proceeding by reason of the fact that such person, or a person
for whom such person is the legal representative, is or was an employee or agent of the
Corporation or, while an employee or agent of the Corporation, is or was serving at the
request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation
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“Company Stock Plan” means the Company’samended and restated 2015 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

“Company Stockholder” means any holder of shares of Company Capital Stock.

“Company Technology” means any and all Technology owned, used, held for use or
practiced by the Company, including any Technology incorporated into or otherwise used, held
for use or practiced in connection with (or planned by the Company to be incorporated into or
otherwise used, held for use or practiced in connection with) any Company Offering.

“Company Warrant” means a warrant to purchase shares of Company Capital Stock.

“Company Web Site” means any web site owned, maintained or operated at any time by
or on behalf of the Company, including the web site at www.zeronorth.io.

“Confidentiality Agreement” means that certain Mutual Confidentiality and
Nondisclosure Agreement, between Parent and the Company, dated as of June 30, 2021.

“Contaminant™ means any “back door,” “drop dead device,” “time bomb,” “Trojan
horse,” “virus,” “corruptant,” “worm,” “malware,” *spyware,” “ransomware,” or “trackware” (as
such terms are commonly understood in the software industry) or any other code designed,
intended to, or that does have any of the following functions: (i) disrupting, disabling, harming or
otherwise impeding in any manner the operation of, or providing unauthorized access to, any
computer, tablet computer, handheld device or other device, or (ii) damaging or destroying any
data or file without a user’s consent.

“Continuing Employee” means each employee of the Company who is employed by
Parent or any of Parent’s Affiliates immediately following the Effective Time.

“Contract” means any written or oral legally binding contract, agreement, instrument,
arrangement, commitment, understanding or undertaking (including leases, licenses, mortgages,
notes, guarantees, sublicenses, subcontracts, purchase orders and sale orders).

“Copyleft License” means any license of Software that provides, as a condition to the
use, modification, or distribution of such licensed Software, that such licensed Software or any
other Software that is incorporated into, derived from, based on, linked to, or used or distributed
or made available with such licensed Software, be licensed, distributed, or otherwise made
available (i) in a form other than binary or object code (e.g., in source code form), (ii) under
terms that permit redistribution, reverse engineering or creation of derivative works or other
modification or (iii) without a license fee. “Copyleft License” includes the GNU General Public
License, the GNU Library General Public License, the GNU Lesser General Public License, the
Affero General Public License, the Mozilla Public License, the Common Development and
Distribution License, the Eclipse Public License, and any Creative Commons “sharealike”
license.

“Copyright” means any copyright, mask work right, exclusive exploitation right, or
similar or equivalent right with respect to Works of Authorship and Mask Works and any
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or of a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust, enterprise or nonprofit
entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against all liability and
loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) reasonably incurred by such person
in connection with such Proceeding. The ultimate determination of entitlement to
indemnification of persons who are non-director or officer employees or agents shall be
made in such manner as is determined by the Board in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding
the foregoing sentence, the Corporation shall not be required to indemnify a person in
connection with a Proceeding initiated by such person if the Proceeding was not authorized
in advance by the Board.

. Advancement of Expenses of Employees and Agents. The Corporation may pay the
expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an employee or agent in defending any

Proceeding in advance of its final disposition on such terms and conditions as may be
determined by the Board.

. Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights conferred on any person by this Article VIII shall
not be exclusive of any other rights which such person may have or hereafter acquire under
any statute, provision of the certificate of incorporation, these by-laws, agreement, vote of
stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

. Other Indemnification. The Corporation’s obligation, if any, to indemnify any person who
was or is serving at its request as a director, officer or employee of another Corporation,
partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, organization or other enterprise
shall be reduced by any amount such person may collect as indemmification from such
other Corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, organization
or other enterprise.

. Insurance. The Board may, to the full extent permitted by applicable law as it presently
exists, or may hereafter be amended from time to time, authorize an appropriate officer or
officers to purchase and maintain at the Corporation’s expense insurance: (a) to indemnify
the Corporation for any obligation which it incurs as a result of the indemnification of
directors, officers and employees under the provisions of this Article VIII; and (b) to
indemnify or insure directors, officers and employees against liability in instances in which
they may not otherwise be indemnified by the Corporation under the provisions of this
Article VIII.

. Amendment or Repeal. Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provisions of this
Article VIII shall not adversely affect any right or protection hereunder of any person in
respect of any act or omission occurring prior to the time of such repeal or modification.
The rights provided hereunder shall inure to the benefit of any Indemnified Person and
such person’s heirs, executors and administrators. Any amendment, repeal or modification
of the foregoing provisions of this Article VHI shall not adversely affect any right or
protection of any director, officer or other agent of the Corporation existing at the time of
such amendment, repeal or modification.
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registration of the foregoing or application for the foregoing (including any moral or economic
right, however denominated).

“COVID-19” means SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19 (novel coronavirus), and any evolutions
or mutations thereof or related or associated epidemics, pandemics or disease outbreaks.

“COVID-19 Measures” means any quarantine, “shelter in place,” “stay at home,”
workforce reduction, social distancing, shut down, closure, sequester or any other Law, Order or
guidance by any Governmental Authority in connection with or in response to COVID-19,
including, but not limited to, the CARES Act.

“Disregarded Shares” means (i) the shares of Company Capital Stock that are to be
cancelled pursuant to Section 2.3(b), if any, and (ii) the Dissenting Shares, if any.

“Dissenters Deadline Date” means the first date at or after the Effective Time on which
no holder of Company Capital Stock as of immediately prior to the Effective Time has an
opportunity to perfect appraisal rights in accordance with the DGCL. in connection with the First
Merger in respect of any shares of Company Capital Stock.

“Dissenting Share” means any share of Company Capital Stock that is issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and in respect of which appraisal rights have
been perfected prior to the Dissenters Deadline Date in accordance with Section 262 of the
DGCL in connection with the First Merger.

“Encumbrance” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, deed of trust, lien,
pledge, charge, security interest, title retention device, collateral assignment, garnishment order,
exclusive license, option to obtain an exclusive license, or similar encumbrance of any kind in
respect of such asset.

“Environmental Law” means any Law relating to pollution or protection of human
health or the environment (including ambient air, surface water, ground water, land surface or
subsurface strata), including any Law or regulation relating to any emission, discharge, release or
threatened release of Materials of Environmental Concern or otherwise relating to the
manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of
Materials of Environmental Concern.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Actof 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any entity, trade or business that is, or at any applicable time
was, a member of a group described in Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (0) of the Code or Section
4001(b)(1) of ERISA that includes the Company.

“Escrow Agent” means Acquiom Clearinghouse LLC.

“Escrow Amount” means $1,000,000.
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“Excess Indemnifying Parties” means (i) the Participating Holders, but excluding
Participating Holders to the extent and solely as it relates to their holdings of New Bridge Notes,
and (ii) the Officer Plan Participants.

“Excess Pro Rata Share” means, as to each Excess Indemnifying Party, the percentage
set forth opposite such Excess Indemnifying Party’s named on the Spreadsheet under the caption
titled “Excess Pro Rata Share”. The aggregate Excess Pro Rata Shares of all Excess
Indemnifying Parties shall be equal to 100%. For the avoidance of doubt, the shares of Parent
Class B Common Stock issued in exchange for the New Bridge Notes will not be included in the
calculation of an Excess Indemnifying Party’s Excess Pro Rata Share.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Expiration Date” means the date that is fifteen (15) months after the Closing Date.

“Foreign Government Official” means any officer or employee of a Governmental
Authority or an Affiliate thereof (including any sovereign wealth fund) or of a public
international organization, or any Person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of any
such Governmental Authority or an Affiliate thereof, or for or on behalf of any such public
international organization, or any political party, party official, or candidate thereof.

“Fraud” shall mean fraud committed in the making of the representations and warranties
set forth in this Agreement with an intent to deceive, with malice or similar intent, including
Intentional Misrepresentation, but excluding any fraud committed without such intent (such as
with only negligence or recklessness).

“Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties of the
Company set forth in the first two sentences of Section 3.1, Sections 3.3(a), (c), (d) and (e),
Sections 3.4(a), (d) and (e) and the second and the last sentences of Section 3.4(b), Section 3.7
and the first sentence of Section 3.26.

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles.

“General Representation Cap” means the lower of (i) the then available balance of the
Escrow Fund and (ii) $1,000,000.

“General Representation Claim” means any Claim under Section 7.2(a) with respect to
any of the General Representations, other than any such Claim involving Fraud.

“General Representations” means the representations and warranties of the Company
set forth in Article 3, other than Fundamental Representations and Specified Representations.

“Governmental Authority” means any (i) multinational or supranational body
exercising legislative, judicial, taxing or regulatory powers, (ii) nation, state, commonwealth,
province, territory, county, municipality, district or other jurisdiction of any nature, (iii) federal,
state, local, municipal, foreign or other government or (iv) governmental or quasi-governmental
authority of any nature (including any governmental division, department, agency, bureau,
commission, instrumentality, official, organization, unit, body, subdivision, court, arbitrator or

-9-

PATENT
REEL: 066769 FRAME: 0356



Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provisions of this Article VIII by the stockholders of
the Corporation shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Corporation
existing at the time of, or increase the liability of any director of the Corporation with respect to any
acts or omissions of such director occurring prior to, such repeal or modification.

ARTICLE IX
Except as provided in Article VIII above, the Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter,
change or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or
hereafter prescribed by statute, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject
to this reservation.
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other tribunal and any authority with responsibility for overseeing and/or enforcing Privacy
Laws).

“Immediate Family” means any child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent,
grandparent, spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in- law, brother-
in-law or sister-in-law and shall include adoptive relationships.

“Indebtedness” means without duplication, (i) all obligations (including the principal
amount thereof or, if applicable, the accreted amount thereof and the amount of accrued and
unpaid interest thereon) of the Company, whether or not represented by bonds, debentures, notes
or other securities (whether or not convertible into any other security), for the repayment of
money borrowed, whether owing to banks, financial institutions, or other lenders, (ii) any
employment, payroll, withholding or similar Taxes with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period
deferred to a taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date under Section
2302 of the CARES Act, Payroll Tax Executive Order or any similar election, relief, order or law
under non-U.S., state, local law to the extent not included in Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes, and (iii)
all premiums, penalties, fees, expenses, breakage costs and change of control payments required
to be paid in respect of any of the foregoing on payment or prepayment, in each case as a result
of the consummation of the Mergers or any of the other transactions contemplated hereby.

“Indemnifying Parties” means (i) the Participating Holders, but excluding Participating
Holders to the extent and solely as it relates to their holdings of New Bridge Notes, (ii) the
Officer Plan Participants and (iii) the Non-Officer Plan Participants.

“Intellectual Property License” means any license, sublicense, right, covenant, non-
assertion or similar covenant, permission, immunity, consent, release or waiver under or with
respect to any Intellectual Property Rights or Technology.

“Intellectual Property Right” means any right in Technology and/or industrial property
(anywhere in the world, whether statutory, common law or otherwise) including any (i) Patent,
(if) Copyright, (iii) other right with respect to Software, including any registration of such right
or any application to register such right, (iv) industrial design right or registration of such right
and any application to register such right, (v) right with respect to any Mark, and any registration
for any Mark and any application to register any Mark, along with all goodwill associated with
each of the foregoing, (vi) right with respect to any Domain Name, including any registration for
any Domain Name, along with all goodwill associated with each of the foregoing, (vii) right with
respect to any Proprietary Information, (viii) right with respect to any Database, (ix) right of
publicity and personality, including any right with respect to use of a Person’s name, signature,
likeness, image, photograph, voice, identity, personality, and biographical and personal
information and materials, (x) moral right, (xi) renewal, reissue, reversion, reexamination, or
extension of any of the foregoing, and (xii) any right equivalent or similar to any of the
foregoing.

“Intentional Misrepresentation” means that, as of the Agreement Date, (i) a material
representation made by the Company in Article 3 of this Agreement was inaccurate in any
material respect and (ii) an individual listed as an Entity Representative for purposes of the
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definition of Knowledge hereunder had actual knowledge of such inaccuracy and that such
Inaccuracy constituted a breach of such representation.

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“IT System” means any information technology and computer system (including
Software, information technology and telecommunication hardware, network and other
equipment) for the transmission, storage, maintenance, organization, presentation, generation,
processing or analysis of dataand information and any support, disaster recovery and online
service used in the conduct of the Company Business.

“Key Employees” means the individuals listed on Schedule 1.1(d).

“Knowledge” means the actual knowledge as of the Agreement Date of a particular fact,
circumstance, event or other matter in question of John Worrall, Karen Higgins, Dave Howell,
Dan Beauregard, or, solely as to matters relating to any representations in Section 3.14 regarding
Intellectual Property Rights or Technology, Bruce McPherson (collectively, the “Entity
Representatives”).

“Law” means any foreign, federal, state, local or municipal law, statute, ordinance,
directive, edict, regulation, or rule of any Governmental Authority (and any regulations
promulgated thereunder), and any other legislative measure having the force of law, treaty or
convention between states, or between states and supranational bodies, rule of common law,
applicable to any of the assets, properties, operations and business of the applicable Person.

“Loss Tax Benefit” means the Tax savings or benefits realized in the year of the
applicable Loss or the following two (2) taxable years by Parent that is attributable to any
deduction, loss, credit, refund or other reduction in Tax resulting from or arising out of such
Loss, in each case computed at the highest marginal Tax rates applicable to Parent, and
determined on a “with” or “without” basis.

“Management Incentive Plan” means the Amended and Restated Key Employee
Retention Plan of the Company.

“Mark” means any trademark, service mark, logo and design mark, trade dress, trade
name and brand name, together with all goodwill associated with any of the foregoing.

“Material Adverse Effect” when used in connection with an entity means any Change
that is, or would reasonably be expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, materially
adverse to the financial condition, business, operations or results of operations of such entity and
its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; provided, however, that in no event shall any of the following
be deemed, either alone or in combination, to constitute, nor shall any of the following be taken
into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred or may, would or
could occur, with respect to such entity (except to the extent, in the case of clauses (i), (ii), or (iv)
below, other than as it relates to Changes resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, they have a
materially disproportionate effect on such entity and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as
compared to other similarly situated companies that conduct business in the countries and
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regions in the world and in the industries and markets in which such entity and its Subsidiaries
operate, in which case, such Changes shall be taken into account only to the extent they are
materially disproportionate when determining whether a “Material Adverse Effect” has occurred
or may, would or could occur): (i) Changes in general economic or political conditions or the
financing or capital markets in general in the United States of Americaor any other country or
region in the world, or Changes in currency exchange rates), (ii) any Change in such entity’s
industry generally in the United States of America or any other country or region in the world,
(iii) any earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, tornadoes, floods, mudslides, wild fires, epidemics,
pandemics or calamities (including the COVID-19 pandemic, and any actions or omissions that
may be taken to comply with COVID-19 Measures or in response to the COVID-19 pandemic)
or other natural disasters, weather conditions and other force majeure events in the United States
or any other country or region in the world, sabotage, terrorism, military action or war (whether
or not declared), (iv) any Changes in Law or GAAP, or the interpretation or method of
enforcement thereof, (v) any failure by such entity to meet internal projections or forecasts or
revenue or earnings predictions for any period (it being understood that the Change giving rise to
such failure may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Material Adverse
Effect unless otherwise excluded pursuant to this definition), (vi) any Change arising out of or
resulting from actions contemplated by the parties hereto in connection with this Agreement or
the pendency or announcement of the transactions contemplated hereby, including actions of
customers, licensors, partners or suppliers or losses of employees, (vii) any action taken pursuant
to or in accordance with this Agreement or at the request of or with the consent of Parent or any
of its Affiliates, or the failure to take any action prohibited by this Agreement or that Parent or
any of its Affiliates fails to consent to promptly following a request by the Company for such
consent, and (viii) any fees or expenses incurred in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

“Materials of Environmental Concern” means any chemical, pollutant, contaminant,
waste, toxic substance, petroleum or petroleum product or any other substance that is currently
regulated by an Environmental Law or that is otherwise a danger to health, reproduction or the
environment.

“Merger Consideration” means the consideration payable to Company Securityholders
in respect of shares of Company Capital Stock, Company Warrants, Company Convertible Notes
and Company Options pursuant to Section 2.3 and Section 2.4.

“Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements” means, as to Merger Sub | or Merger Sub 11, as
the case may be, each agreement or document (other than this Agreement) that such Merger Sub
IS to enter into as a party thereto pursuant to this Agreement.

“Merger Sub I Common Stock” means the common stock, par value $0.0001 per share,
of Merger Sub I.

“Multiemployer Plan” means an employee pension or welfare benefit plan to which
more than one unaffiliated employer contributes and which is maintained pursuant to one or
more collective bargaining agreements.

“New Bridge Notes” means the Company Convertible Notes issued on the date hereof.
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“Non-Continuing Employee” means any employee of the Company as of the Agreement
Date, or who becomes an employee of the Company following the Agreement Date and prior to
the Closing Date, who is not a Continuing Employee.

“Non-Negotiated Vendor Contract” means a Contract that meets all of the following
conditions: (i) such Contract grants to the Company a non-exclusive license to download or use
generally commercially available, non-customized Software or a non-exclusive right to access
and use the functionality of such Software on a hosted or “software-as-a-service” basis (and does
notinclude any other material Intellectual Property Licenses), (ii) such Contract doesnot impose
any continuing obligation on or grant of any right by the Company that survives termination or
expiration of such Contract, (iii) the Software licensed under such Contract is not included,
incorporated or embedded in, linked to, combined, distributed or made available with any
Company Software or Company Offering, (iv) such Contract does not require the Company to
pay any license fee, subscription fee, service fee or other amount except for a one-time license
fee of no more than $25,000 or ongoing subscription or service fees of no more than $25,000 per
year, and (v) such Contract is not a license for Open Source Software.

“Non-Officer Plan Participants” means the participants in the Management Incentive
Plan set forth on Schedule 1.1(e) hereto.

“Officer Plan Participants” means the officers participating in the Management
Incentive Plan as set forth on Schedule 1.1(f) hereto.

“Open Source Software” means any Software that is made available under any open
source license (including any Copyleft License), including any license (a) meeting the Open
Source Definition (as promulgated by the Open Source Initiative) or the Free Software
Definition (as promulgated by the Free Software Foundation), or any substantially similar
license, or (b) that requires that such Software or other Software linked with, called by,
combined or distributed with such Software be (1) disclosed, distributed, made available,
offered, licensed or delivered in source code form, (2) licensed for the purpose of making
derivative works, (3) licensed under terms that allow reverse engineering, reverse assembly, or
disassembly of any kind, or (4) redistributable at no charge.

“Ordinary Course of Business” means a course of business that is in the ordinary course
of the business of the Company and consistent, in all material respects, with its past practices,
including with respect to frequency and amounts, taking into account any acts or omissionsthat
have been or may be takento comply with COVID-19 Measures or in good faith response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, or otherwise to the extent necessary to avoid, mitigate or remediate a
material adverse effect on the Company or its business as may result from the COVID-19
pandemic, and subject to any reasonable changes required to addressany then current facts and
circumstances (including requirements to comply with applicable law and guidelines and to
reasonably preserve the health and safety of current employees and other service providers of the
Company).

“Parent Ancillary Agreements” means each agreement or document (other than this
Agreement) that Parent is to enter into as a party thereto pursuant to this Agreement.
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“Parent Common Stock” means the shares of Parent Class A Common Stock and shares
of Parent Class B Common Stock, $0.00001 par value per share, of Parent.

“Parent Class A Common Stock” means the shares of Class A Common Stock,
$0.00001 par value per share, of Parent.

“Parent Class B Common Stock” means the shares of Class B Common Stock,
$0.00001 par value per share, of Parent.

“Parent Employee Obligation” means (i) any payment, benefit or other obligation to be
made by Parent to any employee pursuant to the terms of an Offer Letter entered into by and
between Parent and such employee, (ii) any payment, benefit or other obligation triggered by the
termination of an employee by Parent after the Closing or directed by Parent before the Closing
and (iii) the employer portion of any employment, payroll or similar Tax associated with the
amounts described in (i) and (ii) above.

“Parent Financial Statements” means (i) the consolidated balance sheets of Parent and
its Subsidiaries as of January 31, 2021, January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2019, which shall be
audited for the fiscal year ended as of January 31, 2021 only and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended January 31,
2021, January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2019, which shall be audited for the fiscal year ended as
of January 31,2021 only, and (ii) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Parent and its
Subsidiaries as of July 31, 2021 and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the six monthsended July 31,2021.

“Parent Financing Agreements” means that certain Amended and Restated First
Refusal and Co-Sale Agreement, dated January 6, 2021 by and among the Parent and the holders
of Parent Common Stock and Parent Preferred Stock party thereto; that certain Amended and
Restated Voting Agreement, dated January 6, 2021, by and among the Parent and the holders of
Parent Common Stock and Parent Preferred Stock party thereto; and Amended and Restated
Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated January 6, 2021, by and among the Parent and the holders of
Parent Preferred Stock party thereto.

“Parent Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties of
Parent set forth in Section 4.1(a), Section 4.2(a) and (c), Section 4.4(a), Section 4.5, Section 4.12
and Section 4.13.

“Parent Shares” means shares of Parent Class B Common Stock issuable pursuant to
the terms of this Agreement.

“Parent Stock Plan” means Parent’s 2015 Stock Optionand Grant Plan.

“Patent” means any patent or patent application, utility model or application for any
utility model, inventor’s certificate or application for any inventor’s certificate, or invention
disclosure statement.
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“Payroll Tax Executive Order” means the United States Presidential Memorandumon
Deferring Payroll Tax Obligations in Light of the Ongoing COVID-19 Disaster, as issued on
August 8, 2020 and including any administrative or other guidance published with respect
thereto by any Governmental Authority (including IRS Notice 2020-65 and Notice 2021-11).

“Permitted Encumbrance” means (i) any statutory lien for Taxes (a) not yet due or
delinquent or (b) the validity or amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings; provided, that in the case of clause (b), reserves have been established therefor to
the extent required by GAAP on a basis consistent with prior periods and are reflected on the
Company Financial Statements; (ii) any mechanics’, carriers’, workers’, materialmen’s,
warehousemen’s, landlord’s repairers’ or other similar lien; (iii) any pledge, deposit or other lien
securing the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases or statutory obligations (including
workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, retirement or other social security legislation);
(iv) with respect to any real property leased by the Company (a) any Encumbrance on leases,
subleases, easements, licenses, rights of use, rights to access and rights of way arising therefrom
or benefiting or created by any superior estate, right or interest, (b) any Encumbrance that would
be set forth in any title policies, endorsements, title commitments, title certificates and/or title
reports and any zoning, entitlement, conservation restriction and other land use and
environmental regulations by Governmental Authorities, and (c) any minor encroachment; (v)
any licence or covenant; (vi) any lien on goods in transit incurred pursuant to documentary
letters of credit, in each case arising in the Ordinary Course of Business; (vii) relating to
capitalized lease financings or purchase money financings that have been entered into in the
Ordinary Course of Business; (viii) any Encumbrance created by the terms of any non-exclusive
lease or license agreement in the Company’s intellectual property to any of the Company’s
customers or service providers in the Ordinary Course of Business; (ix) any Encumbrance arising
under applicable securities laws; (x) any Encumbrance arising solely by action of Parent or its
Affiliates; and (xi) other imperfections of title, licenses, or encumbrances, if any, that
individually or in the aggregate do not impair, in any material respect, the continued use and
operation of the property to which they relate in the Company Business.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, company, limited liability company,
partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, trust, estate, proprietorship, joint
venture, association, organization, or other entity of any kind or nature or any Governmental
Authority.

“Personal Information” means, in addition to all information defined or described by
the Company as “personal data”, “personal information,” “personally identifiable information,”
“PI1,” or any similar term in the Company’s privacy policies or other public-facing statement,
any information that is subject to any Privacy Law and reasonably capable of being associated
with an individual consumer, including: (i) information that identifies, could be used to identify
(alone or in combination with other information) or is otherwise identifiable with an individual
or a device, including name, physical address, telephone number, email address, financial
account number, government-issued identifier (including Social Security number and driver’s
license number), medical, health or insurance information, gender, date of birth, educational or
employment information, any religious or political view or affiliation, marital or other status,
photograph, face geometry, or biometric information, and any other data used to identify, contact
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or precisely locate an individual, (ii) any data regarding any activity of an individual online or on
a mobile device or other application (e.g., any search conducted, web page or content visited or
viewed), if such information is associated with an identifiable individual, and (iii) any Internet
Protocol address or other persistent identifier if such Internet Protocol address or other persistent
identifier is associated with an identifiable individual. Personal Information may relate to any
individual, including any user of any Internet or device application who views or interacts with
any Company Offering, or a current, prospective or former customer, employee or vendor of any
Person. Personal Information includes the foregoing information in any form, including paper,
electronic and other forms.

“Pre-Closing Tax” means (i) any Tax imposed on the Company for any Pre-Closing Tax
Period, (i) any Tax of any Company Securityholder for which any of the Company or any
Indemnifiable Party is liable as of the Closing Date, whether by reason fo any requirement to
withhold or otherwise, (iii) any Tax for which the Company is held liable under Treasury
Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign
Tax Law) by reason of the Company being included in any consolidated, affiliated, combined or
unitary group in any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (iv) any Tax of another Person for which the
Company is held liable as a result of being a successor or transferee of such Person on or prior to
the Closing Date or as a result of any Contract (other than any Contract entered into in the
Ordinary Course of Business and the primary subject matter of which is not Taxes) or otherwise,
(v) the employer portion of any payroll or employment Taxes with respect to any payments
contemplated by this Agreement (other than with respect to any Parent Employee Obligation),
(vi) any Transfer Taxes, and (vii) any employment, payroll, withholding or similar Taxes with
respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period deferred to a taxable period (or portion thereof) ending
after the Closing Date under Section 2302 of the CARES Act, Payroll Tax Executive Order or
any similar election, relief, order or law under non-U.S., state, local law; provided, that Pre-
Closing Tax shall notinclude (x) any Tax that arises due to actions taken by or at the direction of
Parent on the Closing Date after the Closing that are outside of the Ordinary Course of Business
or (y) the employer portion of any employment, payroll or similar Tax based on or attributable to
any Parent Employee Obligation. For purposes of the foregoing, in the case of a Straddle Period,
the amount of any Tax based on or measured by income or receipts or imposed in connection
with any transaction that is allocable to the portion of a Straddle Period ending on the Closing
Date shall be determined based on an interim closing of the books as of the close of business on
the Closing Date (and for such purpose, the Tax period of any partnership, controlled foreign
corporation or other pass-through entity in which the Company holdsa beneficial interest shall
be deemed to terminate at such time), and the amount of any other Tax of the Company that is
allocable to the portion of a Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date shall be deemedto be
the amount of such Tax for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of
which is the number of days in the portion of the Straddle Period ending on and including the
Closing Date, and the denominator of which is the total number of daysin the entire Straddle
Period.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax period ending on or before the Closing Date
and that portion of any Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date.
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“Privacy Law” means any Law that governs the receipt, collection, compilation, use,
storage, processing, sharing, safeguarding, security, disposal, destruction, disclosure or transfer
of Personal Information or User Data and any such Law governing breach notification, any
penalties and compliance with any order, including the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act,
the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, the California Online Privacy Protection Act, the Video
Privacy Protection Act, the Communications Decency Act, the Payment Card Industry Data
Security Standard, the CAN-SPAM Act and Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation, the UK Data
Protection Act 1998, Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 27 April 2016, and any Law or regulation implementing either or both of EU Directive
95/46/EC and EU Directive 2002/58/EC (each as amended from time to time).

“Pro Rata Share” means, as to each Indemnifying Party, the percentage of the Escrow
Fund attributable to such Indemnifying Party as set forth opposite such Indemnifying Party’s
named on the Spreadsheet under the caption titled “Pro Rata Share”. The aggregate Pro Rata
Shares of all Indemnifying Parties shall be equal to 100%. For the avoidance of doubt, the shares
of Parent Class B Common Stock issued in exchange for the New Bridge Notes will not be
included in the calculation of an Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share.

“Proprietary Information” means any information or material not generally known to
the public, including any trade secret, know-how or other confidential and proprietary
information.

“Reference Price” means $3.99.

“Registered Company Intellectual Property Right” means (i) any issued Patent,
pending Patent application, Mark registration, application for Mark registration, Copyright
registration, application for Copyright registration and Domain Name registration owned, filed or
applied for by or on behalf of the Company, and (ii) any other application, registration, recording
and filing filed by or on behalf or in the name of the Company with respect to any Company
Intellectual Property Right owned by the Company.

“Representative Expense Amount” means $25,000.
“Requisite Stockholders” means the holders of (i) a majority of the issued and
outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock (voting together as a single class on an as-

converted basis); and (ii) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Company Preferred
Stock (voting together as a single class).

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Senior Bank Debt” means that Indebtedness owed to Avidbank pursuant to that certain
Loan and Security Agreement between the Company and AvidBank dated as of September 25,
2019.

“Series A Preferred Stock” means the Series A Preferred Stock of the Company, par
value $0.0001 per share.
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“Series A+ Preferred Stock” means the Series A+ Preferred Stock of the Company, par
value $0.0001 per share.

“Series Seed Preferred Stock” means the Series Seed Preferred Stock of the Company,
par value $0.0001 per share.

“Software” means any (i) computer program, including any APl or SDK, software
implementation of any algorithm, model or methodology, whether in source code, object or
executable code, or other form, (ii) Database, (iii) descriptions, flow-charts and other work
product used to design, plan, organize and develop any of the foregoing, screens, subroutines,
user interfaces, report formats, firmware, development tools, templates, menus, buttons and icons
and (iv) documentation, including user manuals and other training documentation, related to any
of the foregoing.

“Specified Representation Cap” means an amount equal to 50% of the Merger
Consideration actually received (and, for the avoidance of doubt, neither the shares of Parent
Class B Common Stock issued in exchange for the New Bridge Notes nor the amounts in the
Escrow Fund shall be treated as “actually received” by the Excess Indemnifying Parties), and net
of taxes paid, by the Excess Indemnifying Parties in connection therewith.

“Specified Representation Claim” means any Claim under Section 7.2(a) with respect
to any of the Specified Representations, other than any such Claim involving Fraud.

“Specified Representations” means the representations and warranties of the Company
set forth in Section 3.14.

“Spreadsheet” means a spreadsheet in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E, certified as
true, correctand complete by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of the
Company (in their capacities as such) and dated as of the Closing Date, which spreadsheet shall
set forth: (i) the names of those Company Stockholders, holders of a Company Convertible Note,
Officer Plan Participants and Non-Officer Plan Participants that are entitled to receive a portion
of the Merger Consideration hereunder, and their respective taxpayer identification number, wire
instructions, last known addresses and email addresses (in each case solely to the extent such
Person is entitled to receive Merger Consideration with respect thereto), (ii) the number and kind
of shares of Company Capital Stock held by such Persons, (iii) the aggregate principal amount
and accrued interest of each Company Convertible Note as of the date of this Agreement, (iv) the
calculation of the Closing Consideration, Base Cash Consideration, Base Consideration and Base
Stock Consideration, (v) whether such Person is an Excess Indemnifying Party, (vi) with respect
to each Indemnifying Party, such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share and such Indemnifying
Party’s portion of the Escrow Amount contributed to the Escrow Fund with respect to such
Indemnifying Party, (vii) with respect to each Excess Indemnifying Party, such Excess
Indemnifying Party’s Excess Pro Rata Share, and (viii) the aggregate Merger Consideration
payable at Closing to each Company Securityholder with respect to the Company Capital Stock
and/or Company Convertible Notes, as applicable, held by such Company Securityholder in
accordance with this Agreement. Parent shall be entitled to rely on the information in the
Spreadsheet for all relevant purposes hereunder, it being acknowledged and agreed that its use
therefor shall not affect, in any manner whatsoever, any Indemnified Party’s right to
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indemnification, compensation or reimbursement pursuant to Section 7.2 if any of the
information on the Spreadsheet is not accurate or complete.

“Straddle Period” means any Tax period beginning before or on the Closing Date and
ending after the Closing Date.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any entity (whether or not incorporated)
of which (i) such Person or any other Subsidiary of such Person is a general partner (excluding
partnerships, the general partnership interests of which held by such Person or any Subsidiary of
such Person do not have a majority of the voting interest in such partnership) or (ii) at leasta
majority of the securities or other interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to electa
majority of the board of directors or others performing similar functions with respect to such
entity or a majority of the profit interests in such entity is directly or indirectly owned or
controlled by such Person or by any one or more of its Subsidiaries, or by such Person and one or
more of its Subsidiaries.

“Tax” (and, with correlative meaning, “Taxes”) means any federal, state, local or foreign
net income, alternative or add-on minimum, gross income, gross receipts, sales, use, VAT,
transfer, franchise, profits, license, withholding, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp,
occupation, premium, property, environmental, estimated or windfall profit tax, custom duty,
national insurance tax, health tax or other tax or other like assessment or charge in the nature of a
tax, together with any interest or any penalty, addition to tax or additional amount imposed by
any Governmental Authority responsible for the imposition of any such tax (domestic or
foreign), whether disputed or not, (ii) any Liability for the payment of any amount of the type
described in clause (i) as a result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined,
unitary or aggregate group for any Tax period, and (iii) any Liability for the payment of any of
the type described in clause (i) or (ii) as a result of being a transferee of or successor to any
Person or as a result of any express or implied obligation to indemnify any other Person, by
Contract or otherwise (other than pursuant to any Contract entered into in the Ordinary Course of
Business and the primary subject matter of which is not Taxes).

“Tax Return” means any return, amended return, election declaration, report, voluntary
disclosure, claim for refund, information return or statement filed or required to be filed in
respect of Taxes with a Governmental Authority, including any schedule or attachment thereto,
and including any amendment thereof.

“Technology” means any: (i) technology, formulae, algorithm, procedure, process,
method, technique, idea, know-how, creations, inventions, discoveries and improvement
(whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice); (ii) technical,
engineering, manufacturing, or product information and materials or other Proprietary
Information; (iii) specification, design, industrial design, model, device, prototype, schematic,
configuration and development tool; (iv) Software, website, content, image, logo, graphic, text,
photographs, artwork, audiovisual works, sound recording, graph, drawing, reports, analysis,
writing, of any other work of authorship and copyrightable subject matter (“Work of
Authorship”); (v) database or other compilation or collection of data or information
(“Database”); (vi) mask work, layout, topography or other design feature with respect to any
integrated circuit (“Mask Work”); (vii) Mark; (viii) domain name, uniform resource locator or
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other name or locator associated with the Internet (“Domain Name”) or social mediaidentifier;
and (ix) tangible embodiments of any of the foregoing, in any form or media whether or not
specifically listed in this definition.

“Transaction Expense” means the following fees and expenses incurred by the
Company prior to the Closing in connection with the Mergers and this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, as well as any related sale or financing process,
without duplication: (i) any fee or expense of any investment banker, financial advisor, legal
counsel, accountant or other professional advisor, (ii) any premiumor related cost for any
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance (including the Tail Policy) purchased by the Company
in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (iii) the employer portion of
any payroll, employment or similar Tax based on any payment pursuant to this Agreement at or
around Closing or attributable to a Closing Employee Payment, and (iv) any Closing Employee
Payment.

“Transfer” means, with respect to any security, to sell, offer, pledge, contract to sell,
grant any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any right
or warrant to purchase, lend or otherwise transfer (including by gift or operation of law), dispose
of, hypothecate or encumber, directly or indirectly, such security, or to enter into any swap,
hedging or other arrangement that transfersto another, in whole or in part, any of the economic
consequences of ownership of such security.

“Treasury Regulations” means the United States Treasury Regulations promulgated
under the Code.

“Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes” means liabilities for any unpaid Pre-Closing Tax.

“Unpaid Transaction Expenses” means all Transaction Expenses, in each case whether
due prior to, on or after the Closing, that are not paid in full as of immediately prior to the
Closing.

“Unpaid Wage Obligations” means all Wage Obligations, in each case whether due
prior to, on, or after the Closing, that are unpaid as of the Closing.

“User Data” means any Personal Information or other data or information collected by or
on behalf of the Company from any user of any website or any Company Offering or Company
Software.

“VAT” means any ad valorem, value added, goods and services or similar tax.

“Wage Obligations” means all remuneration required to be paid by the Company, or
obligations therefor incurred by the Company, before the Closing to any current or former
director, officer, employee or independent contractor of the Company, including any salary,
wages, accrued vacation, accrued paid time-off or other unpaid vacation benefits, accrued bonus,
commission payments, severance, and the employer portion of any associated employment,
payroll or similar Tax, in each case with respect to any service provided to the Company or any
of its Affiliates by any such Person on or prior to the Closing, including any such remuneration

-20-

PATENT
REEL: 066769 FRAME: 0368



arising out of the termination of any such service; provided, however, that for the avoidance of
doubt, Wage Obligations exclude any Parent Employee Obligation.

“WARN Act” means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as
amended, and all state and local statutory equivalents.

Other capitalized terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement and not defined in this
Avrticle 1 shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in this Agreement in the sections
referenced below.

Defined Term Section
Advisory Committee 7.12(b)
Agreement Preamble
Agreement Date Preamble
Basket 7.3(e)
Board Approval 3.3(d)
Books and Records 3.18(a)
Bribery Act 3.24(a)(vi)
Charter Documents 3.1
CIIAA Recitals
Closing 2.1
Closing Date 2.1
Company Preamble
Company Benefit Arrangement 3.17(D
Company Benefit Arrangements 3.17()
Company Customer 3.21(a)
Company Disclosure Letter Article 3
Company Indemnification Obligations 5.1(a)
Company Indemnification Obligation Payments 5.1(d)
Contested Claim 7.5()(ii)
Contingent Worker 3.17(a)
Covered Communication 9.15(b)
Covered Person 5.1(a)
Current Representation 9.15(a)
Damages 7.2

De Minimis Basket 7.3(e)
Designated Person 9.15(a)
Dissenting Shares 2.7
DGCL Recitals
DLLCA Recitals
Effective Time 2.1
Escrow Agreement 2.5
Escrow Fund 2.5
Exclusively Licensed Company IP 3.14(c)
Export Approvals 3.25(b)
Export Control Laws 3.25(a)
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Defined Term

FCPA

First Certificate of Merger
First Merger

Governmental Permits
Holder

Indemnified Parties
Indemnified Party

Intended Tax Treatment
Invention Assignment Agreement
Investor Questionnaires
Joinder Agreement
Licensed IP

Market Stand-Off

Mergers

Merger Sub |

Merger Sub |1

Merger Subs
Non-Competition Agreement
Notice of Claim

Offer Letter

Owed Amount

Owned Company IP

Parent

Participating Holders
Payment Condition
Post-Closing Representation
Representative
Representative Group
Representative Losses
Requisite Indemnifying Parties
Right of First Refusal
Second Certificate of Merger
Second Effective Time
Second Merger

Significant Customer
Significant Supplier

Special Matters

Standard EULAS
Stockholder Approval
Surviving Corporation
Surviving Entity

Tail Policy

Tax Claim

Third-Party Claim

Transfer Notice
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Section
3.24(a)(vi)
2.1
Recitals
3.16(b)
6.2

7.2

7.2
Recitals
3.14(D)
Recitals
Recitals
3.14(c)
6.2
Recitals
Preamble
Preamble
Preamble
Recitals
7.4
Recitals
7.5(c)
3.14(c)
Preamble
Recital
2.7(a)
9.15(a)
Preamble
7.12(b)
7.12(b)
7.12(a)
6.3(a)
2.1

2.1
Recitals
3.21(a)
3.21(b)
7.3(c)
3.12(d)
3.3(e)
Recitals
2.2(b)(i)
5.1(c)
8.3(a)
7.6
6.3(a)
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Defined Term Section

Transfer Taxes 8.4
Transferee 6.3(a)
Virtual Data Room Article 3
Written Consent Recitals
ARTICLE 2
THE MERGERS

2.1  TheClosing. The closing of the First Merger (the “Closing”) shall take place by
teleconference or through electronic exchange of transaction documents concurrently with the
execution of this Agreement. The date onwhich the Closing occurs is referred to herein as the
“Closing Date”. On the Closing Date, the Company and Merger Sub | shall cause the First
Merger to be consummated by filing a certificate of merger, in the formattached hereto as Exhibit
E (the “First Certificate of Merger”), with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in
accordance with the DGCL. The time of such filing and acceptance by the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware, or such later time as may be agreed in writing by Parent and the Company
prior to the Closing and specified in the First Certificate of Merger, shall be referred to herein as
the “Effective Time”. Assoon as practicable after the Effective Time, butin all cases within one
(1) Business Day thereafter, the Surviving Corporation and Merger Sub 1l shall cause the Second
Merger to be consummated by filing a certificate of merger, in the formattached hereto as Exhibit
G (the “Second Certificate of Merger”), with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in
accordance with the DGCL and the DLLCA. The time of such filingand acceptance by the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, or such later time as may be agreed in writing by
Parent and the Company prior to the Closing and specified in the Second Certificate of Merger,
shall be referred to herein as the “Second Effective Time”.

2.2 Effects of the Mergers.

(@) The First Merger.

(i) At the Effective Time, Merger Sub | shall be merged with and into
the Company, the separate existence of Merger Sub | shall cease and the Company shall
be the surviving corporation of the First Merger pursuant to the terms of this Agreement
and the First Certificate of Merger. The effect of the First Merger shall be as provided in
this Agreement and the applicable provisions of the DGCL. Without limiting the
foregoing, except as otherwise set forth in Section 9.15, from and after the Effective
Time, all of the property, rights, powers, privileges and franchises of the Company and
Merger Sub | shall be vested in the Surviving Corporation and all of the debts,
obligations, liabilities, restrictions and duties of the Company and Merger Sub | shall
become the debts, obligations, liabilities, restrictions and duties of the Surviving
Corporation, all as provided under the DGCL.

(i)  Asof the Effective Time, by virtue of the First Merger and without
any further action on the part of the Company, Merger Sub | or any other Person, (i) the
certificate of incorporation of the Company shall be amended to read in its entirety as the
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certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub I as in effectimmediately prior to the Effective
Time (except the name shall remain ZeroNorth, Inc. and the provisions relating to the
incorporator shall be omitted), and as so amended shall be the certificate of incorporation
of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended as provided therein or by
applicable Law and (ii) the bylaws of the Company shall be amended to conform to the
bylaws of Merger Sub | as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time (except that
all referencesto Merger Sub I shall be changed to refer to ZeroNorth, Inc.),and as so
amended shall be the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter changed or
amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.

(i) ~ The members of the board of directors of Merger Sub I and the
officers of Merger Sub I, respectively, as of immediately prior to the Effective Time shall
be the initial members of the board of directors of the Surviving Corporation and the
initial officers of the Surviving Corporation, respectively, immediately after the Effective
Time, each to hold office until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed or
until their earlier death, resignation or removal, in each case in accordance with the
certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

(b)  The Second Merger.

(i) At the Second Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall be
merged with and into Merger Sub 11, the separate existence of the Surviving Corporation
shall cease and Merger Sub 11 shall be the surviving entity of the Second Merger pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement and the Second Certificate of Merger. The surviving
entity after the Second Effective Time is sometimes referred to herein as the “Surviving
Entity”. The effect of the Second Merger shall be as provided in this Agreement and the
applicable provisions of the DGCL and the DLLCA. Without limiting the foregoing,
except as otherwise set forth in Section 9.15 from and after the Second Effective Time,
all of the property, rights, powers, privileges and franchises of the Surviving Corporation
and Merger Sub 11 shall be vested in the Surviving Entity and all of the debts, obligations,
liabilities, restrictions and duties of the Surviving Corporation and Merger Sub 11 shall
become the debts, obligations, liabilities, restrictions and duties of the Surviving Entity,
all as provided under the DGCL and the DLLCA.

(i)  Asof the Second Effective Time, by virtue of the Second Merger
and without any further action on the part of the Surviving Corporation, Merger Sub |1 or
any other Person, the certificate of formation of Merger Sub Il shall be the certificate of
formation of the Surviving Entity and the limited liability company agreement of Merger
Sub 11 shall be the limited liability company agreement of the Surviving Entity, until
thereafter amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.

(iii)  Parentshall be the managing member of the Surviving Entity. The
officers of Merger Sub Il as of immediately prior to the Second Effective Time shall be
the initial officers of the Surviving Entity as of immediately after the Second Effective
Time, each to hold office until their respective successors are duly appointed or until their
earlier death, resignation or removal, in each case in accordance with the limited liability
company agreement of the Surviving Entity.
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2.3 Conversion of Shares.

(@) Conversion of Merger Sub Common Stock. Subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the First Merger and without
any action on the part of any holder of any Merger Sub | Common Stock, each share of Merger
Sub I Common Stock that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time
shall be converted into one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share, of the Surviving Corporation, and the shares of the Surviving
Corporation into which the shares of Merger Sub | Common Stock are so converted shall be the
only shares of common stock of the Surviving Corporation that are issued and outstanding
immediately after the Effective Time.

(b) Cancellation of Company-Owned Stock. Subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the First Merger and without
any action on the part of any holder of Company Capital Stock, each share of Company Capital
Stock held in the Company’s treasury or owned by the Company, Parent or either Merger Sub
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be cancelled and extinguished without any
payment of any consideration therefor.

(c) Conversion of Company Capital Stock. Subjectto the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the First Merger and without
any action on the part of any holder of Company Capital Stock, each share of Company Capital
Stock (other than any Disregarded Shares) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the
Effective Time shall be cancelled and extinguished and automatically converted into the right to
receive such Company Stockholder’s share of the Closing Consideration as listed on the
Spreadsheet, if any. In addition, and subject to and upon the terms and conditions set forth
herein, each Company Stockholder shall have the non-assignable contingent right to receive such
Company Stockholder’s Pro Rata Share, if any, of any payments from the Escrow Fundthat are
to be made to the Indemnifying Parties pursuant to the terms hereof.

(d) Effect of Second Merger on Equity of Surviving Corporation and Merger
Sub 1. At the Second Effective Time, by virtue of the Second Merger and without any action on
the part of any holder of any common stock of the Surviving Corporation or any membership
interests of Merger Sub |1, (i) each share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation shall be
cancelled and extinguished without payment of any consideration therefor and (ii) each
membership interest of Merger Sub Il shall remain outstanding and represent membership
interests of the Surviving Entity.

(e) Calculations.

(1) For purposes of calculating the amount of cash and number of
Parent Shares issuable with respect to shares of a particular class or series of Company
Capital Stock held by a particular Company Stockholder, including for purposes of
calculating the allocation of the Escrow Amount, the consideration payable shall be
calculated after aggregating all such shares of such class or series, as the case may be,
held by such Company Stockholder. No fraction of a Parent Share will be issued by
virtue of the Merger. Any Company Stockholder who would otherwise be entitled to
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receive a fraction of a Parent Share shall instead be entitled to receive an amount of cash
equal to the product obtained by multiplying (i) such fraction by (ii) the Reference Price,
rounded to the nearest whole cent. All payments to be made by Parent hereunder shall be
without interest.

(f) Transfer Restrictions. The Parent Shares issuable hereunder shall be
subject to certain restrictions on Transfer in accordance with Article 6.

2.4 Treatment of Company Options, Company Warrants and Company Convertible
Notes.

(@) Cancelled Options and Company Warrants. Atthe Effective Time, each
Company Option and each Company Warrant outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Time shall be cancelled and terminated without consideration.

(b) Treatment of Convertible Notes. Subjectto the terms and conditions of
this Agreement (including Section 2.9), atthe Effective Time, by virtue of the First Merger, each
Company Convertible Note shall be cancelled and extinguished and automatically converted into
the right to such Company Securityholder’s share of the Closing Consideration in respect of such
Company Convertible Note as listed on the Spreadsheet. In addition, and subject to and upon the
terms and conditions set forth herein, each Company Securityholder that is an Indemnifying
Party hereunder shall have the non-assignable contingent right to receive such Company
Securityholder’s Pro Rata Share in respect of such Company Convertible Note of any payments
from the Escrow Fund that are to be made to the Indemnifying Parties pursuant to the terms
hereof.

2.5 Closing Payments.

(@)  Atthe Closing, Parent shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, by wire
transfer of immediately available funds or electronic delivery of Parent Shares, as applicable:

(i) to each holder of a Company Convertible Note, the amount to
which such holder of a Company Convertible Note is entitled pursuant to the
Spreadsheet, in accordance with the instructions provided in the Spreadsheet;

(i)  toeach holder of a Company Capital Stock, the amount to which
such holder of Company Capital Stock is entitled pursuant to the Spreadsheet, if any, in
accordance with the wire transfer instructions provided in the spreadsheet;

(iii)  toeach lender of any portion of the Closing Indebtedness Amount,
the Closing Indebtedness Amount payable to such lender in accordance with the wire
transfer instructions set forth in the Closing Financial Certificate;

(iv)  toeach third-party with respect to whom any Unpaid Transaction
Expenses are due, the Unpaid Transaction Expenses payable to such third-party in
accordance with the wire transfer instructions set forth in the Closing Financial
Certificate; and
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(b)  tothe Representative, the Representative Expense Amount.

(c) Subjectto Section 2.9, at or prior to the Closing the Company shall pay,
through a special payroll cycle under the Company’s payroll processing system, to each recipient
of a Closing Employee Payment that is due as of the Closing, the amount so due to such recipient
as of the Closing as set forth on the Closing Financial Certificate.

2.6 Escrow Amount. On the Closing Date, Parent shall deposit with the Escrow Agent
the Escrow Amount in cash, to be held in trust as an escrow fund (such amount in deposit (as may
be reduced fromtime to time), together with any interest and other income thereon, the “Escrow
Fund”), which amounts shall not become payable as of the Closing Date but shall instead be paid
in accordance with, and subject to the provisions of, Article 7 and pursuant to the terms of an
Escrow Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H (the “Escrow Agreement”). The
Escrow Fund shall be held as security for any Damages for which any of the Indemnified Parties
are entitled to recovery under this Agreement, including Article 7 and Article 8. Parentshall be
treated as owner of cash in the Escrow Fund for Tax purposes prior to disbursement and all
interest on or other Taxable income, if any, earned from the investment of such cash in the
Escrow Fund pursuant to this Agreement shall be treated for tax purposes as earned by Parent
provided that the Escrow Agent is hereby authorized and directed to distribute to Parent (i) within
thirty (30) days after the end of each quarter, and (ii) upon any final release of cash held in the
Escrow Fund, an amount equal to twenty-eight percent (28%) (or otherwise at least the maximum
marginal corporate federal income tax rate for a subchapter C corporationin effect for such year
plus 7%) of all interest or other taxable income earned on the Escrow Fund during such quarter
(for purposes of clause (i)) or during the portion of the year ending on the date of release (for
purposes of clause (ii), as applicable). Itis intended that the cash in the Escrow Fund will qualify
for installment sale reporting under Section 453 of the Code. Any payments to be made out of the
Escrow Fund for the benefit of the Indemnifying Parties shall be made in accordance with Section
7.7. Each Indemnifying Party’s right, if any, to receive amounts from the Escrow Fund are non-
transferable and non-assignable, except that each Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to assign
such Indemnifying Party’s rights to such amounts by will, by the Laws of intestacy or by other
similar operation of law.

2.7 Exchange.

@) Parent shall deliver an Investor Questionnaire (which may be done
electronically) immediately following the Effective Time to each Company Stockholder
entitled to receive Merger Consideration hereunder who has not yet completed an Investor
Questionnaire. Parentshall deliver, or causeto be delivered, as promptly as reasonably
practicable following the Closing to any Company Stockholder and holder of a Company
Convertible Note who delivers a duly completed and validly executed Investor
Questionnaire (such delivery, the “Payment Condition”), the consideration that such
Company Stockholder or holder of a Company Convertible Note has the right to receive
pursuant to the Spreadsheet; provided that Parent shall deliver, or cause to be delivered,
such consideration at the Effective Time to each such Company Stockholder or holder of a
Company Convertible Note who has satisfied the Payment Condition at or prior to such
time. Parentshall have no obligation to deliver, or cause to be delivered, any such
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consideration to a particular Company Stockholder or holder of a Company Convertible
Note until such Person has satisfied the Payment Condition.

(b)  Promptly following the Effective Time, Parent shall deliver, or cause to be
delivered:

(i) to each lender of any Closing Pay-Off Indebtedness, the Closing
Pay-Off Indebtedness payable to such lender in accordance with the wire transfer
instructions set forth in the applicable Closing Pay-Off Indebtedness Documentation; and

(i)  toeach third-party with respect to whom a Transaction Invoice was
delivered prior to the Closing, the Unpaid Transaction Expenses set forth in the
applicable Transaction Invoice in accordance with the wire transfer instructions provided
in the Transaction Invoice.

(c) From and after the Effective Time, no shares of Company Capital Stock or
Company Convertible Notes held by Company Securityholders prior to the Effective Time will
be deemed to be outstanding, and such former holders of Company Capital Stock and Company
Convertible Notes shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto except as provided herein or
by Law.

(d)  Atthe Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be
closed and no transfer of Company Capital Stock shall thereafter be made.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, none of Parent,
Merger Sub, the Company, the Surviving Corporation, or the Surviving Entity shall be liable to
any Company Securityholder for Merger Consideration delivered to a public official pursuant to
any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law. Any Merger Consideration
remaining undistributed to Company Securityholders immediately prior to such time as such
Merger Consideration would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental
Authority shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of the Parent
free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

2.8  Dissenting Shares. If, in connection with the First Merger, holders of Company
Capital Stock shall have demanded and perfected their appraisal rights in accordance with Section
262 of the DGCL, none of such shares (the “Dissenting Shares”) shall be converted into a right
to receive the Merger Consideration otherwise payable to the holder of such Dissenting Shares as
provided in the Spreadsheet, but shall instead be converted into the right to receive such
consideration as may be determined to be due with respect to such Dissenting Shares pursuant to
the DGCL. Each holder of Dissenting Shares who, pursuant to the provisions of the DGCL,
becomes entitled to payment of the fair value of such shares shall receive payment therefor in
accordance with the DGCL (but only after the value therefor shall have been agreed upon or
finally determined pursuant to the DGCL). In the event that any Company Stockholder fails to
make an effective demand for payment or fails to perfect its appraisal as to its shares of Company
Capital Stock or any Dissenting Shares shall otherwise lose their status as Dissenting Shares, then
any such shares shall immediately be converted into the right to receive the consideration payable
pursuant to the Spreadsheet in respect of such shares as if such shares had never been Dissenting
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Shares, if any, and Parent shall deliver to the holder thereof, at (or as promptly as reasonably
practicable after) the applicable time or times specified in Section 2.6, following the satisfaction
of the Payment Condition, the Merger Consideration to which such Company Stockholder would
have been entitled under the Spreadsheet with respect to such shares. Schedule 2.8 lists all
Company Stockholdersthat, as of the date of this Agreement and in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby, have demanded appraisal of Company Capital Stock or
provided notice of exercise of such Company Stockholder’s appraisal rights in accordance with
the DGCL.

2.9  Tax Withholding. Each of Parent, the Surviving Corporation and the Surviving
Entity shall be entitled to deduct and withhold, or cause to be deducted and withheld, from the
Merger Consideration or any other payment otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement
(including the Escrow Amount), the amounts required to be deducted and withheld under the
Code, or any provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law, with respect to the making of such
paymentand, to the extent that amounts are so deducted and withheld and paid over to the
applicable Governmental Authority, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this
Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of whom such deduction and withholding
was made. The parties agree to cooperate to allow Parent, at its election, to effectuate such
withholding by means reasonably acceptable to Parent, including by paying the applicable Merger
Consideration for which suchwithholding is required to the Surviving Corporation or the
Surviving Entity and causing the Surviving Corporation or the Surviving Entity to withhold the
applicable amounts through the Surviving Corporation’s or the Surviving Entity’s payroll system.
Except for such withholding rights, the recipient of any payments payable pursuant to this
Agreement is solely responsible for any and all Liabilities for Taxes that may arise with respect to
any Merger Consideration or other amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement.

2.10  Further Assurances. If, atany time after the Effective Time, any of the parties
hereto reasonably believes or is advised that any further instruments, deeds, assignments or
assurances are reasonably necessary to consummate the Mergers or to carry out the purposes and
intent of this Agreement at or after the Effective Time, then the Company, Parent, the Surviving
Corporation, the Surviving Entity and their respective officers, directorsand managers shall
execute and deliver all such proper deeds, assignments, instruments and assurances and do all
other things reasonably necessary to consummate the Mergers and to carry out the purposes and
intent of this Agreement.

2.11 Tax Consequences. The Mergers are intended to be treated as an integrated
transaction that qualifiesas a “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code,
and this Agreement is intended to constitute, and is hereby adopted as, a “plan of reorganization”
for purposes of Sections 354, 361 and 368 of the Code and Income Tax Regulations section
1.368-2(g). So long as the representation in Section 3.7(c)(xiii) is true, the parties agree that the
(i) Convertible Notes shall be treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (ii) the
Convertible Notes shall be treated as exchanged in the Mergers for the consideration received
pursuant to this agreement, and (iii) the parties will file all Tax Returns relating to the Mergers in
a manner consistent with the Intended Tax Treatment and such treatment of the Convertible
Notes, unless otherwise required by applicable law. None of the parties to this Agreement makes
any representation regarding whether the Mergers will so qualify. The Company acknowledges
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that the Company and the Company Securityholders are relying solely on their own Tax advisors
in connection with this Agreement, the Mergers and the other transactionsand agreements
contemplated hereby.

ARTICLE 3
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Subject to the exceptions set forth in the disclosure letter of the Company addressed to Parent,
dated as of the Agreement Date and delivered to Parent concurrently with the parties’ execution
of this Agreement (the “Company Disclosure Letter”) (which exceptionswill qualify the
section or subsection they specifically reference and will also qualify other sections or
subsections in this Article 3 to the extent that it would be reasonably apparent on the face any
such disclosure that such disclosure is applicable to such other section or subsection), the
Company represents and warrants to Parent and each Merger Sub that the statements contained
in this Article 3 are true and correct (with the understanding and acknowledgement that Parent
and each Merger Sub would not have entered into this Agreement without being provided with
the representations and warranties set forth herein, that Parent and each Merger Sub are relying
on these representations and warranties, and that these representations and warranties constitute
an essential and determining element of this Agreement). For purposes of this Agreement, a
document shall be deemed to have been “made available” by the Company to Parent only if it
has been posted in the electronic data site (the “Virtual Data Room”) maintained by the
Company at https://harness.box.com/s/nloa5m12gm9g7b3t6t5hOnqw6mgdyOg in connection
with the Mergers and as to which Parent and its representatives have been provided unredacted
access at least 24 hours prior to the execution of this Agreement.

3.1  Organization and Good Standing. The Company is a corporation duly organized,
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation. The
Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, operate and lease its assets and
properties and to carry on the Company Business. The Company is duly qualified or licensed to
do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of the properties
owned, leased or operated by it or the character or location of its assets or properties (whether
owned, leased or licensed) or nature of its activities makes such qualification or licensing
necessary, except for such failures to be so duly qualified, licensed and in good standing as would
notresultin a Material Adverse Effect. Schedule 3.1 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth
each jurisdiction in which the Company is qualified or licensed to do business. The Company has
made available to Parent true and complete copies of the Certificate of Incorporation and its
current bylaws, including all amendments thereto other than the Charter Amendment (the
“Charter Documents”). The Company is not in material violation of its Charter Documents.

3.2  Subsidiaries The Company doesnot have any Subsidiaries.

3.3 Power, Authorization and Validity.

(@) Power and Authority. The Company has all requisite corporate power and
authority to enter into, execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement and to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, subject only to receipt of the Stockholder
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Approval. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the
consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby, have been duly and
validly approved and authorized by all requisite corporate action. No other corporate actions or
proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and
performance by the Company of this Agreement.

(b) No Consents. No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or
registration, declaration or filing with, or notice to (i) any Governmental Authority or (ii) any
other Person is necessary or required to be made or obtained by the Company to enable the
Company to lawfully execute and deliver, enter into, and perform its obligations under this
Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (including the consent of or
notice to any Person required to be obtained or given in order to keep any Material Contract
between such Person and the Company in effect following the Mergers or to provide that neither
the Company, the Surviving Corporation (following the Effective Time) nor the Surviving Entity
(following the Second Effective Time) is in breach or violation of any such Material Contract
following the Mergers, in each case, as a result of failure to obtain such consent or provide such
notice), except for the filing of the First Certificate of Merger and the Second Certificate of
Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and the Stockholder Approval or as
would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Enforceability. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by
the Company. This Agreement is, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by
Parent and the other Persons party hereto, a valid and binding obligation of the Company,
enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of (i)
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws now or
hereafter in effect relating to rights of creditors generally, and (ii) rules of law and equity
governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies.

(d) Board Approval. The board of directors of the Company has, ata meeting
duly called and held, by a unanimous vote of the entire board of directors, or by a unanimous
written consent in lieu thereof: (i) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, (if)
determined that the Mergers and other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are
advisable, fair to, and in the best interests of the Company and the Company Stockholders and
approved the same, (iii) resolved to recommend to the Company Stockholders the adoption of
this Agreement, and (iv) directed that this Agreement be submitted to the Company Stockholders
for adoption (such board approval in (i)-(iv), the “Board Approval”).

(e) Required Vote of Company Stockholders. The affirmative vote or consent
of the Requisite Stockholders are the only votes or consents of the holders of any class or series
of Company Capital Stock prior to the Effective Time necessary to adopt or approve this
Agreement, the Mergers, the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (including the
Charter Amendment), and the other matters set forth in the Written Consent (such vote or
consent, the “Stockholder Approval”). Upon receipt of the Stockholder Approval, no further
vote or consent of the holders of any class or series of Company Capital Stock prior to the
Effective Time is necessary to adopt this Agreement and approve the Mergers, the transactions
contemplated hereby and the other matters set forth in the Written Consent.
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3.4 Capitalization of the Company.

(@) Authorized and Outstanding Capital Stock of the Company. The
authorized capital stock of the Company consists solely of 95,000,000 shares of Company
Common Stock and 65,937,061 shares of Company Preferred Stock, of which 1,248,134 have
been designated Series Seed Preferred Stock, 41,946,150 have been designated Series A
Preferred Stock and 22,742,777 have been designated Series A+ Preferred Stock. The number
and class and series of issued and outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock held by each
Company Stockholder as of the Agreement Date is set forth on Schedule 3.4(a) of the Company
Disclosure Letter, no shares of Company Capital Stock are issued or outstanding as of the
Agreement Date that are not set forth on Schedule 3.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, and
no shares of Company Capital Stock will be issued or outstanding as of the Closing Date that are
not set forth on Schedule 3.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, except for: (i) shares of
Company Common Stock issued upon the conversion of shares of Company Preferred Stock that
are issued and outstanding on the Agreement Date and/or (ii) shares of Company Common Stock
issued upon the exercise of outstanding Company Options or Company Warrants listed on
Schedule 3.4(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter. The Company does not hold any treasury
stock and does not otherwise own any shares of Company Capital Stock. All issued and
outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock (x) have been duly authorized and validly issued,
are fully paid and nonassessable, and (y) were offered, issued, sold and delivered by the
Company in compliance in all material respects with Law, the Charter Documents, and all
requirements set forth in applicable Contracts. The Company has no Liability for accrued and
unpaid dividends. All of the outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock are electronically
certificated through Carta.

(b)  Company Options; Company Warrants. The Company has reserved an
aggregate of 21,806,524 shares of Company Common Stock for issuance pursuant to the
Company Stock Plan (including shares subject to outstanding Company Options). As of the
Agreement Date, a total of 10,975,565 shares of Company Common Stock are subject to
outstanding Company Options, of which 4,646,986 were vested and exercisable, as of the
Agreement Date. None of the outstanding Company Options may be exercised prior to vesting.
An aggregate of 81,235 shares of Company Common Stock are issuable upon the exercise of the
Company Warrants. The terms of the Company Stock Plan and the Company Warrants permit
the treatment of Company Options and the Company Warrants as provided herein, without the
consent or approval of any Company Optionholders or holders of Company Warrants, the
Company Stockholders or any other Person other than the board of directors of the Company,
which board approval was obtained prior to the execution and delivery hereof by the Company.

(c) Company Convertible Notes. Section 3.4(c) of the Company Disclosure
Letter sets forth, as of the Agreement Date, for each Company Convertible Note: (i) the name of
the holder thereof, (ii) the date of issuance of such Company Convertible Note, (iii) the maturity
date, interest rate and principal amount of such Company Convertible Note and (iv) the accrued
and unpaid interest on such Company Convertible Note. Complete and correct copies of each
agreement in respect of the Company Convertible Notes have been made available to Parent, and
there are no agreements, understandings or commitments to amend, modify or supplement any
Company Convertible Note or any such agreements.
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(d) No Other Rights. Except for (i) the Company Options, (ii) the Company
Warrants, (iii) the conversion rights of the Company Preferred Stock, and (iv) the Company
Convertible Notes, there is no outstanding (x) stock appreciation right, option, restricted stock,
restricted stock unit, “phantom” stock or any similar security or right that is derivative or
provides any economic benefit based, directly or indirectly, on the value or price of any security
of the Company or (y) warrant, call, right, commitment, conversion privilege or preemptive or
other right or Contract to purchase or otherwise acquire any share of Company Capital Stock or
any security or debt convertible into or exchangeable for Company Capital Stock or obligating
the Company to grant, extend or enter into any such stock appreciation right, option, restricted
stock, restricted stock unit, “phantom” stock, warrant, call, right, commitment, conversion
privilege or preemptive or other right or Contract. Exceptunder the terms of the Company
Restricted Stock Agreements, Company Option Agreements and Company Stock Plan, there is
no voting agreement, registration right, rights of first refusal, preemptive right, co-sale right or
other similar right or restriction applicable to any outstanding security of the Company.

e) Ungranted Options. There are no employees of the Company or other
Persons with an offer letter or other Contract that contemplates or commits to making a grant of
any option to purchase any share of Company Capital Stock or any other security of the
Company, or who have otherwise been promised any option to purchase any share of Company
Capital Stock or any other security of the Company, which option has not been granted, or other
security has not been issued, as of the Agreement Date.

3.5  No Conflict. Neitherthe execution and delivery of this Agreement by the
Company, nor the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder or the consummation
by the Company of the transaction contemplated hereby, shall conflict with, resultin a
termination, breach, violation of (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both), acceleration of
any obligation or loss of any benefit, or constitute a default, or require the consent, release, waiver
or approval of, or notice to, any third party, under: (a) any provision of any Charter Documents of
the Company, each as currently in effect, (b) any Law applicable to the Company or any of its
assets or properties, (¢) any Company Material Contract, (d) any Governmental Permit, (e) any
privacy policy of the Company, or (f) any judgment, decree or order to which the Company is
subject, except, in the case of clauses (b) through (f), as would not have a Material Adverse
Effect.

3.6  Litigation. To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no, and for the past two (2)
years there has been no, material Action pendingor threatened against the Company (or to the
Knowledge of the Company, against any officer, director, employee or agent of the Company in
his or her capacity as such or relating to his or her employment, services or relationship with the
Company). There is no material judgment, decree, injunction, rule or order of any Governmental
Authority, arbitrator or mediator binding specifically on the Company or any of its assets or
properties. The Company hasno Action pending against any Governmental Authority or any
other Person.

3.7 Taxes.

(@) Tax Returns, Taxes and Audits.

-33-

PATENT
REEL: 066769 FRAME: 0381



(i) The Company (A) has properly completed and timely filed all
income and other material Tax Returnsrequired to be filed by it, and all such Tax
Returns filed or required to be filed by it are true, correct and complete in all material
respects, (B) have timely paid all Taxes required to be paid by it for which payment was
due (whether or not shown on any Tax Return), (C) has established an adequate accrual
or reserve for the payment of all Taxes payable in respect of the periods or portions
thereof prior to the Balance Sheet Date (which accrual or reserve as of the Balance Sheet
Date is fully reflected on the face of the Company Balance Sheet (rather than in any notes
thereto)) and will establish an adequate accrual or reserve for the payment of all Taxes
payable in respect of the periods or portion thereof through the Closing Date, (D) has
made (or will make on a timely basis) all estimated Tax payments required to be made
sufficient to avoid any underpayment, penalties or interest in excess of $10,000 in the
aggregate, (E) has no Liability for Taxes in excess of the amount so paid or accruals or
reserves so established, and (F) since the Balance Sheet Date has not incurred any
Liability for Taxes outside the Ordinary Course of Business or otherwise inconsistent
with past custom and practice other than as a result of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement. The Company has made available to Parent correct and complete copies
of all federal and state income and other material Tax Returns, examination reports, and
statements of deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by the Company filed or received
for all taxable years remaining open under the applicable statute of limitations.

(i) No written or, to the Company’s Knowledge, any unwritten
deficiency for any Tax, which remains outstanding or unresolved, has been threatened,
claimed, proposed or assessed by any Governmental Authority against the Company.

(iii) ~ The Company has notreceived from the IRS or any other
Governmental Authority (including any sales or use Tax authority) any written or, to the
Company’s Knowledge, any unwritten (A) notice indicating an intent to open an audit or
other review related to any Tax matter, (B) request for information related to any Tax
matter, or (C) notice of deficiency or proposed adjustment of any amount of Tax
proposed, asserted, or assessed by any Governmental Authority against the Company, in
each case, which remains outstanding or unresolved. No Tax Return of the Company is
under audit by the IRS or any other Governmental Authority and any past audits (if any)
have been completed and fully resolved to the satisfaction of the applicable
Governmental Authority conducting such audit and all Taxes determined by such audit to
be due from the Company have been paid in full to the applicable Governmental
Authorities or adequate reserves therefor have been established and are reflected on the
face of the Company Balance Sheet (rather than in any notes thereto). No written claim
has ever been made by a Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where the Company
does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be required to file any Tax Return in that
jurisdiction.

(iv)  No Tax liens are currently in effect against any of the assets of the
Company other than Permitted Encumbrances. There is notin effect any waiver by the
Company of any statute of limitations with respect to any Taxes nor has the Company
agreed to any extension of time for filing any Tax Return that has not been filed (other
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than automatic exensions). The Company has not consented to extend the period in
which any Tax may be assessed or collected by any Tax agency or authority which
extension is still in effect.

(v)  The Company has not made an election to defer any Taxesunder
the CARES Act, the Payroll Tax Executive Order, or any similar election under state or
local Tax lax, and is not otherwise currently deferring or planning to defer any such
Taxes.

(vi)  The Company has collected, remitted and reported to the
appropriate Tax authority all sales, use and value added Taxes required to be so collected,
remitted or reported pursuant to all applicable Laws. The Company has complied in all
material respects with all applicable Laws relating to record retention (including, without
limitation, to the extent necessary to claim any exemption from sales or value added Tax
collection and maintaining adequate and current resale certificates to support any such
claimed exemption).

(vii)  The Company will not be required to include any material item of
income in, or exclude any material item of deduction from, taxable income for any Tax
period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of: (A) any change in
method of accounting made prior to the Closing Date for a taxable period ending on or
prior to the Closing Date, including the application of Section 481 or Section 263A of the
Code (or any corresponding or similar provisions of state, local or foreign Tax Laws) to
transactions, events or accounting methods employed prior to the Closing, (B) any use of
an improper method of accounting for a taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or
prior to the Closing Date; (C) any “closing agreement,” as described in Section 7121 of
the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law)
executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (D) any “intercompany transaction” or any
“excess loss account” (within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.1502-13
and 1502-19, respectively) (or any corresponding or similar provisions of state, local or
foreign Tax Law) occurring or arising with respect to any transaction on or prior to the
Closing Date, (E) any installment sale, open transaction or other transaction made on or
prior to the Closing Date, (F) any prepaid amount received or paid on or prior to the
Closing Date, or (G) any election made under Section 108(i) of the Code prior to the
Closing.

(b)  Withholding. The Company has complied in all material respects with all

Laws relating to the payment, collection and withholding of any material Tax (including
withholding of Taxes pursuant to Sections 1441, 1442, 1445 and 1446 of the Code or any
corresponding or similar provisions of state, local or foreign Tax Law), and have, within the time
and in the manner prescribed by Law, collected and withheld from employee wages and other
amounts payable to or from third parties and paid over to the proper Governmental Authorities
all material amounts required to be so collected and withheld and paid over under all Laws
(including the Federal Insurance Contribution Act, Medicare, Federal Unemployment Tax Act
and relevant state income and employment Tax withholding Laws), including federal, state, local
and foreign Taxes, and has timely filed or provided all withholding Tax Returns in accordance
with Law.
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(c) Tax Status and Indemnification Obligations.

() The Company is not a party to or bound by any Tax sharing,
indemnity, allocation or similar Contract (other than any Contract entered into in the
Ordinary Course of Business and the primary subject matter of which is not Taxes), the
Company has no any liability to another party under any such Contract.

(i)  The Company is notnow, nor has ever been,a member ofa
consolidated, combined, unitary or aggregate group of which the Company was not the
ultimate parent corporation. The Company has no liability for the Taxes of any Person
under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any corresponding or similar provision
of state, local or foreign Tax Law), as a transferee or successor, by Contract (other than
any Contract entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and the primary subject
matter of which is not Taxes) or otherwise.

(iii) ~ The Company has never constituted either a “distributing
corporation” or a “controlled corporation™ in a distribution of stock intended to qualify in
whole or in part for Tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code (or so much of
Section 356 of the Code as relates to Section 355 of the Code).

(iv)  The Company is notand has not been a party to a transaction or
Contract thatis in conflict with the Tax rules on transfer pricing in any relevant
jurisdiction. All applicable transfer pricing rules have been complied with in all material
respects, and all material documentation required by all relevant transfer pricing Laws
has been timely prepared.

(v)  The Company is notand has not been party to any joint venture,
partnership or other arrangement or Contract that is treated as a partnership for federal
income Tax purposes. No entity classification election pursuant to Treasury Regulations
Section 301.7701-3 has ever been filed with respect to the Company and the Company is
and always has been taxed as a C corporation for U.S. federal income Tax purposes. The
Company uses, and has always used, the accrual method of accounting for income Tax
purposes and the taxable year of the Company is the calendar year ending December 31.

(vi)  The Company has made available to Parent all documentation
relating to any Tax holidays or incentives currently applicable to the Company. The
Company is in material compliance with the requirements for any applicable Tax
holidays or incentives.

(vity  The Company has not ever participated in and is not participating
in an international boycott within the meaning of Section 999 of the Code.

(viii) The Company has not ever requested or received a ruling from any
Tax authority or signed a closing or other agreement with any Tax authority.

(ix)  The Company (A) has not, and has not ever had, a permanent
establishment in any country other than the country in which it is organized and resident,
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(B) has notengaged in a trade or business in any country other than the country in which
it is organized and resident that subjected it to Tax in such country, (C) is not, and has not
ever been, subject to Tax in a jurisdiction outside the country in which it is organized and
resident, or (D) is not required to register in any jurisdiction for VAT purposes pursuant
to applicable Law.

(x) None of the shares of Company Capital Stock are “covered
securities” under Treasury Regulations Section 1.6045-1(a)(15).

(xi)  The Company has disclosed on its federal income Tax Returns all
positions taken therein that could give rise to a substantial understatement of federal
income Tax within the meaning of Section 6662 of the Code.

(xii)  As of the date hereof, neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates
has knowingly taken or agreed to take any action, nor does the Company have knowledge
of any fact or circumstance that could reasonably be expected, to prevent the Merger
from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code

(xiii) The Company Convertible Notes are properly treated as equity for
U.S. federal income tax purposes and the Company hasfiled all Tax Returns in a manner
consistent with the foregoing and not otherwise taken any Tax position that is
inconsistent with the foregoing.

(xiv) The Company is not, nor has it been, a “United States real property
holding corporation” within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code during the
applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code.

(d) No Tax Shelters. The Company has (i) no disclosure obligation under
Section 6662 of the Code or comparable provisions of state, local or foreign Law (ii) not
participated in any reportable transaction within the meaning of Treasury Regulations
Section 1.6011-4(b) or any transaction that is substantially similar to any of those transactions.
The Company has not consummated, has not participated in, and is not currently participating in
any transaction which was or is a “tax shelter” transaction as defined in Sections 6662, 6011,
6012 or 6111 of the Code or the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.

(e) Nonqualified Deferred Compensation.

() Each “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” under which the
Company makes, is obligated to make or promises to make, payments subject to Section
409A of the Code, if any, has, since the inception of the Company, been operated in
material compliance with Section 409A of the Code, and the applicable Treasury
Regulations and IRS guidance thereunder so as to avoid any Tax pursuant to
Section 409A of the Code and the document or documents that evidence each such plan
have, since the inception of the Company, conformed materially to the provisions of
Section 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. No payment
pursuant to any arrangement between the Company and any “service provider” (as such
term is defined in Section 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder)
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would subjectany Person to a Tax pursuant to Section 409A of the Code, whether
pursuant to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or
otherwise. No Company Benefit Arrangement or other Contract providesa gross-up,
reimbursement or other indemnification for any Tax or related interest or penalty that
may be imposed for failure to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the
Code.

(i) All Company Options have been authorized by the board of
directors of the Company or an appropriate committee thereof, and, if required, approved
by stockholders of the Company by the necessary number of votes or written consent,
including approval of the option exercise price or the methodology for determining the
Company Option exercise price and the substantive option terms. No Company Option
has been retroactively granted, or the exercise price of any Company Option determined
retroactively. No Company Option or other right to acquire Company Common Stock or
other equity of the Company (A) has an exercise price that has been or may be less than
the fair market value of a share of the underlying stock as of the date such Company
Option or right was granted as determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code,
(B) has any feature for the deferral of compensation other than the deferral of recognition
of income until the later of exercise or disposition of such Company Option or right, or
(C) has been granted with respect to any class of stock of the Company that is not
“service recipient stock” (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and the
Treasury Regulations thereunder).

() Additional Tax Representations. The Company has never entered into any
Contract or maintained any Company Benefit Arrangement that could give rise to payments with
respect to the performance of services that are nondeductible under Section 280G of the Code or
subjectto the excise Tax under Section 4999 of the Code in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, and neither the execution of this Agreement nor the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby could (either alone or upon occurrence of
any additional event) (i) result in, or cause the accelerated vesting, payment or benefit to any
employee, officer, director, consultant, independent contractor or other service provider of the
Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates, other than as required by Section 411(d)(3) of the Code
and other than distributions on account of the termination of the Company’s 401(k) plan, or (ii)
resultin any “parachute payment” as defined in Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code (whether or not
such payment is considered to be reasonable compensation for services rendered). There is no
Company Benefit Arrangement or other Contract by which the Company is bound to compensate
any employee of the Company or other service provider of the Company for any excise Tax or
related interest or penalty paid pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code.

(9) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, it is agreed
and understood that (i) the representations and warranties of the Company in this Section 3.7
(other than Sections 3.7 (a)(vi),(a)(viii), (c)(i), (c)(ii), (c)(iii), (c)(viii), (c)(x), (c)(ix), (e} and (f))
refer only to activities prior to the Closing and shall not serve as representations and warranties
regarding, or a guarantee of, nor canthey be relied upon with respect to, Taxes attributable to
any Tax period (or portion thereof) beginning, or Tax positions taken, after the Closing Date, and
(i) no representations or guarantees are made with respect to the amount or availability of Tax
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attributes of the Company for any taxable period (or portion thereof) beginning after the Closing
Date.

3.8  Related Party Transactions. Except(a) for Company Benefit Arrangements
disclosed on Schedule 3.17(n) of the Company Disclosure Letter (or not required by the terms of
this Agreement to be so disclosed) and the Company’s obligations thereunder, or (b) for Contracts
pursuant to which securities of the Company were issued or sold that have been made available to
Parent (or are not required by the terms of this Agreement to be so made available), the Company
is not a party to any Contract (other than offer letters, confidentiality agreements and intellectual
property assignment agreements entered into with officers, directors or employees in the Ordinary
Course of Business) with, or indebted, either directly or indirectly, to any of its officers, directors,
employees, stockholders or other securityholders or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any of
their respective relatives or Affiliates. The Company has not made and does not have outstanding
any loans to any of its officers, directors, employees, stockholders or other securityholders or, to
the Knowledge of the Company, any of their respective relatives or Affiliates.

3.9 Company Financial Statements.

(a) The Company has made available to Parent the Company Financial
Statements. The Company Financial Statements: (a) are derived from the books and records of
the Company, (b) fairly present in all material respects the financial condition of the Company at
the dates therein indicated and the results of operations and cash flows of the Company for the
periods therein specified, and (c) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, applied ona
consistent basis throughout the periods indicated (except that the unaudited Company Financial
Statements do not have notes and are subject to normal recurring year-end adjustments, the effect
of which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Company). The Company does
not have any “off-balance sheet arrangement” within the meaning of Item 303 of Regulation S-K
promulgated under the Securities Act. The Company maintains a system of internal accounting
controls appropriate for a private company of the Company’ssize and stage that is intended to
provide reasonable assurance that: (i) material transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorizations and (ii) material transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP. Neither the
Company nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any representative of the Company has
received written notice of any complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that the Company has
engaged in accounting or auditing practices that were not in compliance with GAAP and, to the
Knowledge of the Company, there have been no instances of fraud in connection with the
Company’s financial reporting that occurred during any period covered by the Financial
Statements.

(b) Schedule 3.9(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct
and complete list of all Indebtedness of the Company as of the Agreement Date including for
each item of Indebtedness, the Contract(s) governing such item of Indebtedness. All
Indebtedness may be prepaid at the Closing without penalty under the terms of the Contract(s)
governingsuch Indebtedness.

(c) The Company does not have any liabilities, except for (i) those shown on
the Company Balance Sheet, (ii) those that were incurred after the Balance Sheet Date in the
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Ordinary Course of Business, (iii) liabilities not required to be reflected in the liabilities column
of a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, (iv) those incurred pursuant to or in
connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or as a result of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Transaction Expenses, (iv) those that
would not, individually or in the aggregate, be material to the business or operations of the
Company, and (v) executory (including payment) obligations under any Contract (other than
obligations in respect of breach of contract, breach of law or tort). Section 3.9(c) shall not apply
with respect to any liability arising out of the subject matter specifically addressed within the
scope of another representation or warranty of the Company in this Agreement (including, for
the avoidance of doubt, any liability that is not required to be disclosed after giving effect to any
knowledge or materiality (including Material Adverse Effect) qualifier, monetary threshold or
date, time or other temporal limitation contained in such representation or warranty).

3.10 Title to Properties. The Company has good and marketable title to, or in the case
of leased assets and properties, valid leasehold interests in, all of the material tangible assets and
properties (including those shown on the Company Balance Sheet) necessary for the operation of
the Company Business (other than any business proposed in any written product roadmaps of the
Company but not actually engaged in by the Company as of the Agreement Date), free and clear
of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances. All material tangible personal property
owned or leased by the Company and used in the Company Business are in good condition and
repair, normal wear and tear excepted. The Company has not ever owned any real property.
Schedule 3.10(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of all
real property leases or real property licenses to which the Company is a party. Schedule 3.10(ii)
of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of all leases or licenses
with respect to material tangible personal property used by the Company.

3.11 Absence of Certain Changes. From the Balance Sheet Date through the
Agreement Date, (i) the Company Business has been operated in the Ordinary Course of Business
and (ii) there has not been with respect to the Company any:

(@) Material Adverse Effect;

(b)  material damage, destruction or loss of any material property or material
asset, whether or not covered by insurance, except ordinary wear and tear;

(c) entering into or negotiation of any collective bargaining agreement or
relationship with any labor organization;

(d) material change in the manner in which it extends discounts, credits or
warranties;

(e) adoption of a plan or agreement of complete or partial liquidation,
dissolution, restructuring, consolidation or other reorganization;

(f) change in accounting or Tax reporting methods or practices (including any
change in depreciation or amortization policies or rates or revenue recognition policies) (except
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to the extent required by changes in GAAP or applicable Law) or any revaluation of any of its
assets;

(9) settlement or compromise of any claim, notice, audit report or assessment
in respect of Taxes; amendment to or filing of any Tax Return; making of, change in, or
revocation of any election in respect of Taxes; adoption, change in, or revocation of any
accounting method in respect of Taxes; surrender any right to claim a material refund of Taxes;
entering into of any Tax allocation, sharing or indemnity agreement (other than any agreement
entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and the primary subject matter of which is not
Taxes) or closing agreement relating to Taxes; or consent to any extension or waiver of the
limitation period applicable to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes;

(h) deferral of the payment of any accounts payable other than in the Ordinary
Course of Business, or any discount, accommodation, customer credit or other concession made
in order to accelerate or induce the collection of any receivable;

(1) Action threatened in writing (or, to the Company’s Knowledge, otherwise
threatened) or initiated by or, to the Company’s Knowledge, against, or Action or threatened
Action settled or otherwise resolved by, the Company;

()] entering into any new line of business; or

(k)  entry into any Contract to do any of the things described in the preceding
clauses (a) through (j) (other than negotiations and agreements with Parent and its
representatives regarding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement).

3.12 Contracts, Agreements, Arrangements, Commitments and Undertakings.
Schedule 3.12 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth as of the Agreement Date a list of each
Contract of the following types (i) to which the Company is a party or to which the Company or
any of its assets or properties is bound and (ii) under which the Company has any remaining
material rights or obligations, including the applicable subsection(s) to which such Contract is
responsive:

(@) any Contract (other than Company Employee Agreements providing for
at-will employment or engagement entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and
terminable upon notice without any liability to the Company) providing for payments (whether
fixed, contingent or otherwise) by or to the Company in an aggregate annual amount of $50,000
ormore;

(b) any material Contract with the Company’susers, customers or clients
other than ones that constitute a Standard EULA,

(c) any material dealer, distributor, reseller, VAR (value added reseller), sales
representative or similar Contract under which any third party is authorized to sell, license,
sublicense, lease, distribute, market or take orders for any Company Offering or Company
Technology;
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(d) any Contract that (i) provides for the authorship, invention, creation,
conception or other development of any Technology or Intellectual Property Rights (A) by the
Company for any other Person where such Technology or Intellectual Property Rights are
material or (B) for the Company by any other Person, including, in the case of each of clauses
(A) and (B), any joint development, (ii) provides for the assignment or other transfer of any
ownership interest in Technology or Intellectual Property Rights (1) to the Company from any
other Person or (2) by the Company to any other Person, other than Invention Assignment
Agreements entered into between the Company and its employees, independent contactors or
directors, in the case of clause (2), where such Technology or Intellectual Property Rights are
material, (iii) includes any grant of an Intellectual Property License to any other Person by the
Company (other than, with respect to this subsection (iii} only, non-exclusive licenses granted to
any user of the Company Offerings in the Ordinary Course of Business pursuant to the
Company’s standard end user agreement(s), copies of which have been provided to Parent
(*Standard EULAs"), or (iv) includes any grant of an Intellectual Property License to the
Company by any other Person (other than, with respect to this subsection (iv) only, (x) Non-
Negotiated Vendor Contracts, and (y) licenses for Open Source Software listed in Schedule
3.14(n) of the Company Disclosure Letter);

(e) any Contract that provides for the formation of a partnership or joint
venture with any other Person;

) any Company Employee Agreement or other Contract providing for the
employment by the Company of any director, officer, or employee, in each case, with an annual
salary of at least $100,000 other than any that are terminable at will and without payment of
severance;

(9) any Contract with any Contingent Worker for annual cash compensation
expected to be in excess of $50,000 for 2021, or that cannot be terminated without material
penalty with less than thirty (30) days’ notice;

(h)  any Contract providing for any severance, change of control, retention or
similar payments or benefits;

(i) any indenture, mortgage, trust deed, promissory note, loan agreement,
security agreement, guarantee or other Contract for the borrowing of money, a line of credit, a
leasing transaction of a type required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP or evidencing
any other Indebtedness of the Company;

()] any agreement containing covenants of the Company that prohibit the
Company from competing in any line of business or geographic area that would be reasonably
expected to be material to the Company, taken as a whole;

(k) any Contract under which the Company grants any rights of refusal, rights
of first negotiation or similar rights to any Person;

() any Contract that following the Closing would or would purport to require
Parent or any of its Affiliates to grant any Intellectual Property License because they are
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Affiliates of the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries after the First Merger and of the
Surviving Enitity and its Subsidiaries after the Second Merger;

(m) any Contract with any labor union or any collective bargaining agreement
or similar Contract with the Company’s employees;

(n) any Contract providing for the settlement or other resolution of any Action
or threatened Action (including any agreement under which any employment-related claim is
settled);

(0) (i) any material Contract that includes an obligation by the Company to
indemnify any other Person against any claim of infringement, misappropriation, misuse,
dilution or violation of any Intellectual Property Rights or Technology, and (ii) any other
Contract of guarantee, support, assumption, or endorsement of, or any similar commitment, in
each case, except (y) to the extent that such Contract is consistent with the Ordinary Course of
Business; and (z) Non-Negotiated Vendor Contracts or Standard EULAS;

(p)  any Contract pursuant to which the Company has acquired a business or
entity, any securities of any entity, or any significant portion of the assets of a business or entity,
whether by way of merger, consolidation, amalgamation, plan or scheme of arrangement,
purchase of stock, purchase of assets, license or otherwise;

(g)  any Contractthat involves the sharing of profits with other Personsor the
payment of royalties or referral fees to any other Person, excluding Non-Negotiated Vendor
Contracts;

)] any Contract imposing any support, maintenance or service obligations on
the part of the Company that has been entered into outside of the Ordinary Course of Business
and involves annual payments in excess of $50,000;

(s) any Contract that provides for any interest rate or currency, swap, cap,
collar or other derivative or hedging arrangement;

® any Contract that contains an earn-out or other similar obligation; and

()  any Contract or subcontract to which any Governmental Authority,
university, college other educational institution or research center is a party.

True, correctand complete copies of each Company Material Contract (including
schedules, exhibits and amendments thereto), or summaries of any oral Company Material
Contract, have been made available to Parent.

3.13 No Default: No Restrictions.

(@) Each of the Company Material Contracts is in full force and effectand is
enforceable against the Company and, to the Company’s Knowledge, each other party thereto, in
accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws now or hereafter in effect relating to rights of
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creditors generally, and (ii) rules of law and equity governing specific performance, injunctive
relief and other equitable remedies. The Company has performed in all material respects all of
the material obligations required to be performed by it, and is not alleged in writing to be in
material default in respect of, any Company Material Contract. To the Knowledge of the
Company, no event of default or event, occurrence, condition or act, which, with the giving of
notice, the lapse of time or the happening of any other event or condition, would reasonably be
expected to (1) become a material default or material event of default under any Company
Material Contract, or (2) give any third party (A) the right to declare a material breach under any
Company Material Contract or (B) the right to accelerate the maturity or performance of any
obligation of the Company under any Company Material Contract. The Company has not
received any written, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, oral notice or other communication
regarding any actual or possible material violation or material breach of or material default
under, or intention to cancel or modify in any material respect, any Company Material Contract.

3.14 Intellectual Property.

(@)  Schedule 3.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true,
correct and complete list of all material Registered Company Intellectual Property Rights. For
each such item of Registered Company Intellectual Property Rights, Schedule 3.14(a) of the
Company Disclosure Letter lists (A) the record owner of such item, and, if different, the legal
owner and beneficial owner of such item, (B) the jurisdiction in which such item is issued,
registered or pending, (C) the issuance, registration or application date and number of such item,
and (D) for each Domain Name registration, the applicable Domain Name registrar, the name of
the registrant and the expiration date for the registration.

(b)  All necessary fees and filings with respect to any material Registered
Company Intellectual Property Rights have been timely submitted to the relevant Governmental
Authorities and Domain Name registrars to maintain such Registered Company Intellectual
Property Rights in full force and effect. No issuance or registration obtained and no application
filed by the Company for any Intellectual Property Rights has been cancelled, abandoned,
allowed to lapse or not renewed, except where the Company has decided to cancel, abandon,
allow to lapse or not renew such issuance, registration or application in its reasonable
determination that such Intellectual Property Rights are not material to the Company Business.
The Registered Company Intellectual Property Rights are, and, as of and immediately following
the Effective Time, will be, subsisting and enforceable and, to the Knowledge of the Company,
valid, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no facts or circumstances that would
render any Registered Company Intellectual Property Rights invalid or unenforceable.

(c) The Company is the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title and interest
in and to (i) all Registered Company Intellectual Property Rights, (ii) all other Company
Intellectual Property Rights owned by the Company, and (iii) all Company Technology owned
by the Company (clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) collectively, the “Owned Company IP”), free and
clear of all Encumbrances (except for Permitted Encumbrances). The Company has the sole and
exclusive rightto bringa claim or suit against a third party for infringement or misappropriation
of Owned Company IP. The Company has not (i) transferred to any Person ownership of, or
granted any exclusive license with respect to, any Intellectual Property Rights that are or would
have been, but for such transfer or grant, Company Intellectual Property Rights or (ii) permitted
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the rights of the Company in any Intellectual Property Rights that are or were, at the time,
material Company Intellectual Property Rights to lapse or enter into the public domain. The
Company is not subject to any claim, proceeding or outstanding decree, order, judgment,
stipulation or Contract restricting in any material manner, the use, transfer, or (except for non-
exclusive licenses granted pursuant to Intellectual Property Licenses listed in Schedule
3.12(d)(iii) of the Company Disclosure Letter or Standard EULAS) licensing of any Owned
Company IP or Company Intellectual Property Rights exclusively licensed to the Company
(“Exclusively Licensed Company IP”’) by the Company, or which may affect the use or
enforceability of, or challenging the use, ownership, validity or enforceability of, any material
Owned Company IP or any Exclusively Licensed Company IP. All Company Intellectual
Property Rights and Company Technology that are not Owned Company IP (“Licensed IP”) and
that are material to the Company are licensed to the Company pursuant to (A) Intellectual
Property Licenses contained in the Contracts listed on Schedule 3.12(d) of the Company
Disclosure Letter, (B) Open Source Software licenses listed in Schedule 3.14(n) of the Company
Disclosure Letter, or (C) Non-Negotiated Vendor Contracts that have been made available to
Parent. The Company has (and will continue to have immediately following the Closing) valid
and continuing rights (under such Contracts) to use, license and otherwise exploit, as the case
may be, all Licensed IP as the same are currently used, licensed and otherwise exploited by the
Company.

(d)  All Owned Company IP is fully and freely transferable and assignable and
may be transferred and assigned to Parent without restriction and without payment of any kind to
any third Person.

(e) To the Knowledge of the Company, the Owned Company IP and the
Licensed IP constitute all of the Intellectual Property Rights and Technology that are used in or
are necessary, and are sufficient, to enable the Company to conduct the Company Business,
including the design, development, manufacture, use, marketing, import for resale, distribution,
licensing out and sale of any Company Offering, to the extent conducted within the twelve (12)
months preceding the Agreement Date.

) None of the material Registered Company Intellectual Property Rights
have been or are subject to any interference, derivation, reexamination (including ex parte
reexamination, inter partes reexamination, inter partes review, post grant review or Covered
Business Method (CBM) review), cancellation, or opposition proceeding.

(9) Schedule 3.14(qg) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and
correct list of all material Intellectual Property Licenses granted expressly under Patents (i) from
another Person to the Company, and (ii) from the Company to another Person.

(h)  Copies of the Standard EULA and any other of the Company’s standard
form(s), including attachments (collectively, the “Standard Form Agreements”) have been
made available to Parent.

(1) To the Knowledge of the Company, neither the conduct of the Company
Business by the Company, nor any activity by the Company, nor any Company Offering
(including the design, development, use, practice, offering, licensing, provision, import,
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branding, advertising, promotion, marketing, sale, distribution, making available, or other
exploitation of any Company Offering) (i) has been or is infringing, misappropriating (or
resulting from the misappropriation of), diluting, using or disclosing without authorization, or
otherwise violating any Intellectual Property Rights of any third Person, (ii) has been or is
contributing to or inducing any infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of any
Intellectual Property Rights of any third Person, or (iii) has been or is constituting unfair
competition or trade practices under the Laws of any relevant jurisdiction.

{)) There are no written claims pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company
any other claims pending or threatened, against the Company, and the Company has not received
any written notice from any Person, in each case (i) alleging any infringement, misappropriation,
misuse, dilution, violation, or unauthorized use or disclosure of any Intellectual Property Rights
or Technology or unfair competition by the Company, (ii) inviting the Company to take a license
under any Intellectual Property Rights or consider the applicability of any Intellectual Property
Rights to any Company Offerings or the conduct of the Company Business or (iit) challenging
the ownership, use, validity or enforceability of any Owned Company IP or Exclusively
Licensed Company IP. To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no basis for any Person to
make any such allegation, invitation, or challenge. To the Knowledge of the Company, the
Company has no reason to believe that any such claim is or may be forthcoming.

(k)  Tothe Knowledge of the Company, no Personis infringing,
misappropriating, misusing, diluting or violating any Owned Company IP or Exclusively
Licensed Company IP. The Company has not made any written or unwritten claim againstany
Person alleging any infringement, misappropriation, misuse, dilution or violation of any Owned
Company IP, Exclusively Licensed Company IP or Company Offering.

() Neither this Agreement nor the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, including the assignment to the Surviving Entity by operation of Law of any
Intellectual Property Licenses to which the Company is a party, will resultin: (i) Parent or any of
its Affiliates granting to any third Person any right to or with respect to any Intellectual Property
Rights owned by, or licensed to any of them (other than rights granted by the Company a on or
prior to the Closing Date under Intellectual Property Rights held by the Company as of the
Closing Date) or being required to provide any source code for any Company Offering to any
third Person, (ii) Parent, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates being bound by, or
subject to, any non-compete or other restriction on its freedom to engage in, participate in,
operate or compete in any line of business, or (iii) Parent, the Company or any of their respective
Affiliates being obligated to pay any royalties or other license fees with respect to Intellectual
Property Rights of any third Person in excess of those payable by the Company in the absence of
this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

(m)  To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has taken commercially
reasonable measures to protect all Proprietary Information of the Company and all Proprietary
Information of any third Person in the Company’s possession or control, or to which the
Company has access, in each case, with respect to which the Company has a confidentiality
obligation. The Company has notauthorized such Proprietary Information to be disclosed nor
has the Company actually disclosed such Proprietary Information to any Person other than
pursuantto a written confidentiality Contract restricting the disclosure and use of such
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Proprietary Information. Each currentand former employee, director, and individual
independent contractor of the Company that has been involved in the authorship, invention,
creation, conception or other development of any Company Technology has entered into an
enforceable written non-disclosure and invention assignment Contract with the Company that
assigns to the Company all Intellectual Property Rights and Technology authored, invented,
created, conceived, or otherwise developed by such employee, independent contractor, or
director in the scope of his or her employment or engagement with the Company (an “Invention
Assignment Agreement”) in a form made available to Parent prior to the Agreement Date. No
currentor former employee, individual independent contractor or director of the Company that
entered into an Invention Assignment Agreement has (i) excluded any Technology (or any
Intellectual Property Rights in or to any Technology) authored, invented, created, conceived, or
otherwise developed prior to their employment or engagement with the Company from their
assignment of inventions pursuant to such Person’s Invention Assignment Agreement that relates
to the Company Business and would be material thereto, (ii) alleged to the Company or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, any third Person, ownership or other exclusive rights by such
employee, independent contractor or director, in any Technology authored, invented, created,
conceived or otherwise developed by such employee, independent contractor or director in the
scope of their employment or engagement with the Company, or (iii) failed to waive all moral
rights held by such employee, independent contractor or director, in any Technology authored,
invented, created, conceived or otherwise developed by such employee, independent contractor
or director, in the scope of their employment or engagement with the Company in favor of the
Company. Without limiting the foregoing, all rights in, to and under all Intellectual Property
Rights and Technology created by the Company’s founders for or on behalf of or in
contemplation of the Company (or the Company’s business) prior to their commencement of
employment with the Company that relate to the Company Business have been duly and validly
assigned to the Company. All other current and former consultants and contractors of the
Company that have been involved in the authorship, invention, creation, conception or other
development of any Company Technology have entered into an enforceable written agreement
with the Company pursuant to which such consultant or contractor assigns all of their rights, title
and interest in and to such Company Technology, and all Intellectual Property Rights therein, to
the Company.

(n)  Schedule 3.14(n) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and
correct list of all material third party Software (other than Open Source Software listed in
Schedule 3.14(0) of the Company Disclosure Letter) that is (i) incorporated or embedded in or
linked or bundled with any Company Software or (ii) except for Software licensed under Non-
Negotiated Vendor Contracts, otherwise used by the Company in and is material to the Company
Business (and, for each item required to be listed in subschedules (i) or (ii), the name of the
licensor or owner of the Software and the Contract under which Software is licensed). None of
the source code or related materials for any Company Software has been licensed or provided to,
or used or accessed by, any Person other than employees, directors and independent contractors
of the Company who have entered into written confidentiality obligations with the Company
with respect to such source code or related materials. The Company is not a party to any source
code escrow Contract or any other Contract (or a party to any Contract obligating the Company
to enter into a source code escrow Contract or other Contract) requiring the deposit of any source
code forany Company Software, or that will otherwise result in, or entitle any Person to demand,
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the disclosure, delivery or license of any source code for any Company Offering to any Person.
Neither this Agreement nor the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will result in, or
entitle any Person to demand, the disclosure, delivery or license of any source code for any
Company Software to any Person.

(0) Schedule 3.14(0) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all
Open Source Software subject to a Copyleft License that has been embedded in, linked to, or
incorporated or combined with any Company Software or any Company Offering.
Schedule 3.14(0) of the Company Disclosure Letter also lists the applicable license for each such
item of Open Source Software subject to a Copyleft License and indicates whether any such
Open Source Software subject to a Copyleft License has been modified or distributed by the
Company. The Company complies with all license terms applicable to any item of Open Source
Software that has been embedded in, linked to, or incorporated or combined with any Company
Software or any Company Offering, including such Open Source Software disclosed, or required
to be disclosed, in this Section 3.14(0) of the Company Disclosure Letter.

(p)  The Company has notincluded, incorporated or embedded in, linked to,
combined with or distributed or made available with or used in the delivery or provision of any
Company Software or any Company Offering any Open Source Software in a manner that
(i) violates any Intellectual Property License applicable to such Open Source Software,

(if) subjects any Company Software to any Copyleft License or that requires the licensing of any
Company Intellectual Property Rights, or any portion of any Company Offering other than such
unmodified Open Source Software, for the purpose of making derivative works, (iii) requires the
disclosure or distribution in source code form of any Company Intellectual Property Rights,
including any portion of any Company Offering other than such unmodified Open Source
Software, (iv) imposes any restriction on the consideration to be charged for the distribution of
any Company Intellectual Property Rights, (v) creates obligations for the Company with respect
to, or grants to any third Person, any rights or immunities under Company Intellectual Property
Rights other than with respect to such unmodified Open Source Software, or (vi) imposesany
other limitation, restriction or condition on the right of the Company to use or distribute any
Company Intellectual Property Rights other than with respect to such unmodified Open Source
Software.

(@)  The Company Software and Company Offerings are free from any
material defect or bug, or material programming, design or documentation error and none of the
Company Software or Company Offerings constitutes or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
contains any Contaminants, and the Company has taken reasonable measures to ensure that the
Company Software and Company Offerings are free from Contaminants. Exceptin accordance
with the applicable privacy policies of the Company and applicable Laws, none of the Company
Software or the Company Offerings (A) sends information of a user to another Person without
the user’s consent, (B) records a user’s actions without such user’s knowledge or (C) employs a
user’s Internet connection without such user’s knowledge to gather or transmit information
regarding such user or such user’s behavior. The Company has not received written notice of
any material claims asserted against the Company or any of its customers or distributors related
to Company Offerings or Company Intellectual Property Rights. The Company has neither
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received written notice of any requirement, nor has otherwise been required to, recall any
Company Offerings.

(n (i) No government funding and no facilities of any university, college,
other educational institution or research center were used in the development of any Owned
Company IP that is material to the Company Business, and (ii) no Governmental Authority or
any university, college, other educational institution or research center owns, has any other rights
in or to (including through any Intellectual Property License), or has any option to obtain any
rights in or to, any Owned Company IP, except for any non-exclusive license or any license
granted pursuant to any Standard Agreement. To the Knowledge of the Company, no employee
of the Company who has been involved in the creation or development of any Technology or
Intellectual Property Rights for the Company has performed services for the government,
university, college, or other educational institution or research center during a period of time
during which such employee was also performing services for the Company. The Company is
notand has never beena member or promoter of, or a contributor to, any industry standards body
or similar organization which, as a result thereof, has a legal right to compel the Company to
grant or offer to any other Person any license or right to any Owned Company IP.

(s) The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
will not resultin the loss or impairment of any right of the Company to own, use, practice or
otherwise exploit any Company Intellectual Property Rights or Company Technology. Neither
the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any agreement ancillary thereto, will, pursuant
to any Contract to which the Company is a party or otherwise bound, result in the transfer or
grant by the Company or Parent or any of their respective Affiliates to any Person (other than
Parent and its Affiliates) of any ownership interest or Intellectual Property License with respect
to any Company Intellectual Property Rights or Company Technology or any Intellectual
Property Rights or Technology of Parent or any of its Affiliates.

3.15 Privacy and Data Protection.

(@) The Company has provided materially accurate and complete disclosures
with respect to its privacy policies and privacy practices, including providing any type of
material notice and obtaining any type of material consent required by Privacy Laws applicable
to the Company. Such disclosuresdo not contain any material omissions related to the privacy
policies and privacy practices of the Company.

(b)  The Company has atall times (i) complied in all material respects with all
applicable Privacy Laws, and (ii) complied in all material respects with all of the Company’s
policies regarding privacy and data security, including (A) all privacy policies and similar
disclosures published onthe Company Web Sites, (B) any notice to or consent from the provider
or subject of Personal Information or User Data, and (C) any contractual commitment made by
the Company with respect to such Personal Information and User Data.

(c) Schedule 3.15(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter identifies all material
categories of Personal Information collected by the Company and sets forth all places, whether
physical or electronic, where material Personal Information is stored.

-49-

PATENT
REEL: 066769 FRAME: 0397



(d)  The Company has taken organizational, physical, administrative and
technical measures materially consistent with standards prudent in the industry in which the
Company operates, any existing contractual commitment made by the Company that is
applicable to Personal Information or User Data, any written policy adopted by the Company,
including the Company’s privacy policy published by the Company to the Persons to whomthe
Personal Information or User Data relates, and the Company’s information security program
reasonably designed to protect (i) the integrity, security and operations of the IT Systems, and
(i) any of the IT Systems, transactions executed thereby, data owned by the Company or
provided by the Company’s customers, and Personal Information and User Data against loss and
against damage, accidental loss or destruction, unauthorized or unlawful access, use,
modification, disclosure or other misuse. The Company has implemented reasonable procedures
to detect data security breachesand unauthorized access or unauthorized use of the IT Systems,
Personal Information, User Data, and data owned by the Company or provided by the
Company’s, including by its employees, independent contractors and third-party service
providers that have access to Personal Information or User Data.

(e) Except for disclosures of information required by Privacy Laws, described
in the Company’s privacy policies, or authorized by the provider of Personal Information or User
Data, the Company has not shared, sold, rented or otherwise made available, and are not sharing,
selling, renting or otherwise making available, to third parties any Personal Information or User
Data, in each case, as would be material to the Company.

) The Company has all material rights required to use, reproduce, modify,
create derivative works of, license, sublicense, distribute and otherwise exploit the data
contained in the Company Data, including in connection with the operation of the business of the
Company.

(9) The Company has not received written notice of any claims of, or Actions
or threatened Actions related to, data security breaches, unauthorized access or use of any of the
IT Systems, or unauthorized acquisition, destruction, damage, disclosure, loss, corruption,
alteration, or use of any Personal Information or User Data or data owned by the Company or
provided by the Company’s customers, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no
facts or circumstances which could reasonably serve as the basis for any such allegations or
claims. To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has not experienced any databreach
or security incident involving any Personal Information and/or User Data and has not notified, or
been required to notify, any Person of any information security breach or incident involving
Personal Information or User Data. The Company has not received any written notice of any
Actions or threatened Actions, claims, investigations or alleged violations of, Privacy Laws with
respect to Personal Information or User Data from any Person, to the Knowledge of the
Company, there is no such ongoing Action or investigation, and, to the Knowledge of the
Company, there are no facts or circumstances which could form the basis for any such Action,
claim, investigation or allegation.

(h)  The Company has not transferred any material Personal Information

and/or User Data across any international borders except in compliance with applicable Privacy
Laws.
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(i) The Company has not distributed and does not distribute marketing
communications to any Person, except materially in accordance with Privacy Laws, and opt-in
consent has been obtained from all Persons in the European Union to marketing by electronic
means in accordance with Privacy Laws.

3.16 Compliance with Laws.

(@) In the past two (2) years, the Company has complied in all material
respects, and is in material compliance, with all applicable Laws.

(b)  The Company holds all permits, licenses and approvals from, and has
made all filings with, Governmental Authorities that are required to conduct the Company
Business in compliance in all material respects with applicable Law and applicable Contracts,
except where the absence of any such permits, licensesor approvals or the failure to make any
such filings would not be material to the Company and its business taken as a whole
(“Governmental Permits™), and all such Governmental Permits are valid and in full force and
effect. The Company has not received any written notice or other written communication, or to
the Knowledge of the Company, any oral notice or other oral communication, from any
Governmental Authority regarding (i) any actual or possible material violation of Law or any
Governmental Permit or any material failure to comply with any term or requirement of any
Governmental Permit or (ii) any actual or possible revocation, withdrawal, suspension,
cancellation, termination or material modification of any material Governmental Permit.

(c)  All materials, products and services distributed or marketed by the
Company have at all times made all material disclosures to users or customers required by Law,
and none of such disclosures made or contained in any such materials, products or services have
been inaccurate, misleading or deceptive in any material respect.

3.17 Employees, ERISA and Other Compliance. Schedule 3.17(a)-1 of the Company
Disclosure Letter accurately lists all current employees of the Company as of the Agreement
Date, and for each such employee, his or her: (i) job position or title, (ii) annualized base salary or
hourly wage (as applicable), (iii) annual commission opportunity or bonus potential, (iv)
classification as full-time, part-time, temporary or seasonal employee, (v) classification as exempt
or non-exempt under applicable state, federal or foreign overtime regulations, (vi) accrued but
unused vacation, (vii) visa type (if any), (viii) commencement date of employment with the
Company, (ix) work location, (x) severance entitlements, if any, (xi) active or inactive status
(including anticipated return to work date), and (xii) the total amount of bonus, severance,
retention, change in control and/or other amounts to be paid to such employee at the Closing or
otherwise in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. Schedule 3.17(a)-2 of the
Company Disclosure Letter accurately lists all individual independent contractors, consultants,
and leased workers of the Company as of the Agreement Date (“Contingent Workers”), and for
each such Contingent Worker, his or her: (A) terms of compensation (hourly or other), (B)
commencement date with the Company or any Affiliate of the Company, (C) category of services
provided; (D) notice required to terminate the relationship; (E) whether engaged directly or
through a third party; and (F) average hours worked per week to the extent compensated by the
hour.
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(b)  The Company has within the past two (2) years, and except as would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, correctly classified and paid
employees as exempt employees and nonexempt employees under the Fair Labor Standards Act
and other Laws. To the Knowledge of the Company, all employees of the Company are, and
have been since their respective start of employment by the Company, legally permitted to be
employed by the Company in the jurisdiction in which such employee is employed in their
current job capacities for the maximum period permitted by Law. All independent contractors
providing services to the Company have been properly classified and paid as independent
contractors for purposes of federal and applicable state Tax Laws, Laws applicable to employee
benefits and other Laws, except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect. The Company has no employment or consulting Contracts currently in effect that are not
terminable at will (other than agreements with the sole purpose of providing for the
confidentiality of Proprietary Information or assignment of inventions).

() Exceptas would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect, the Company: (i) is, and for the past two (2) years, has been, in compliance in all material
respects with all Laws respecting labor, employment, and employment practices, including,
without limitation, terms and conditions of employment, discrimination, harassment, retaliation,
employee safety and wages and hours, overtime pay, payroll documents, equal opportunity,
immigration compliance, occupational health and safety, termination or discharge, plant closing
and mass layoff requirements, affirmative action, workers’ compensation, disability,
unemployment compensation, whistleblower laws, collective bargaining, the proper
classification and treatment of employees as exempt or non-exempt and the proper classification
and treatment of independent contractors, health care continuation requirements of COBRA, the
requirements of the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended, the requirements of the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended, and any similar
provisions of state Law, (ii) has withheld, paid and reported all amounts required by Law or by
Contract to be withheld, paid and reported with respect to compensation, wages, salaries and
other payments to employees or independent contractors of the Company, (iii) is not liable for
any arrears of wages or any material Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any Law,
and (iv) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or
on behalf of any Governmental Authority with respect to unemployment compensation benefits,
social security or any other applicable social insurance, or other benefits or obligations for
employees of the Company (other than routine payments to be made in the Ordinary Course of
Business). There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened Actions
against the Company or any of its Affiliates under any workers’ compensation policy or long-
term disability policy.

(d)  The Company is nota party to or currently negotiating any collective
bargaining or similar agreement with any labor union or organization, nor are any organized
groups of its employees represented by any laborunion. To the Company’s Knowledge, there is
no, and in the past two (2) years there has been no, pending or threatened, labor dispute, work
slowdown, work stoppage, strike, investigation by a Governmental Authority, involving the
Company. To the Knowledge of the Company, no employee of the Company currently intends
to terminate his or her employment with the Company and no employee of the Company has
received an offer to join a business that may be competitive with the Company Business.
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(e) The Company is in compliance with the requirements of the Immigration
Reform Control Act of 1986 and has a complete and accurate copy of U.S. Citizenship and
Immigration Services Form 1-9 for each of its employees.

() The Company is not, or has been within the past two (2) years, a party to
any Action, or received written notice of any threatened Action, in which the Company is alleged
to have violated any Contract or Law relating to employment, including equal opportunity,
discrimination, retaliation, harassment, immigration, wages, hours, unpaid compensation,
classification of employees as exempt from overtime or minimum wage Laws, classification or
workers as independent contractors, benefits, collective bargaining, the payment of social
security and similar Taxes, occupational safety and health, and/or privacy rights of employees.

(9) To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no pending or threatened
material investigation or audit by a Governmental Authority responsible for the enforcement of
labor, immigration or employment regulations and, during the past two (2) years the Company
has not received notice of any such investigation or audit. For the past two (2) years, the
Company has not been found by any Governmental Authority to have engaged in any unfair
labor practice, as defined in the National Labor Relations Act (29 U.S.C. 8§ 151 et seq.) or other
applicable Laws.

(h) In the past two (2) years, there has been no “mass layoff,” “employment
loss,” or “plant closing” as defined by the WARN Act or any other Law in respect of the
Company and the Company has not been affected by any transaction or engaged in any lay-offs
or employment terminations sufficient in number to trigger application of any such Law.

(i) No material employee layoff, material facility closure or shutdown
(whether voluntary or by order), reduction-in-force, furlough, temporary layoff, material work
schedule change or reduction in hours, or reduction in salary or wages, or other material
workforce changes affecting employees or independent contractors of the Company has occurred
within the twelve months prior to the date hereof, including as a result of COVID-19 or any Law,
Order, directive, guidelines or recommendations by any Governmental Authority in connection
with or in response to COVID-19. The Company has not otherwise experienced any material
employment-related liability with respectto COVID-19 Measures and no material group of
employees or independent contractors of the Company is unable to perform his or her job duties
due to COVID-19. The Company is in compliance with (including records, training, notices, and
other requirements) all Law, Orders, or directives, by any Governmental Authority in connection
with or in response to COVID-19.

)] To the Knowledge of the Company, no employee or independent
contractor of the Company is in violation of (i) any term of any employment or independent
contractor Contract or (ii) any term of any other Contract or any restrictive covenant relating to
the right of any such employee or independent contractor to be employed by or to render services
to the Company or to use Proprietary Information of others. To the Knowledge of the Company,
the employment of any employee or engagement of any independent contractor by the Company
does not subject them to any Liability to any third party.
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(k)  All employees of the Company are employed at will. For the avoidance of
doubt, an employee is considered to be employed at will if he or she is notemployed for a
definite period of time and his or her employment may be terminated at any time with or without
notice and with or without cause.

() In the past two (2) years, the Company has not been a party to a settlement
agreement with a current or former employee or independent contractor that relates primarily to
allegations of sexual harassment or sexual misconduct. In the past two (2) years, to the
Knowledge of the Company, no allegations of sexual harassment or sexual misconduct have
been made against any officer, director or employee of the Company in his or her capacity as an
officer, director or employee.

(m)  The Company is not subject to any affirmative action obligations under
any Law, including, but not limited to, Executive Order 11246, nor is a government contractor or
subcontractor for purposes of any Law with respect to the terms and conditions of employment,
including, but not limited to, the Service Contracts Act or prevailing wage Laws.

(n)  Schedule 3.17(n) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true,
complete and correct list of every material Company Employee Plan and Company Employee
Agreement (each, whether or not listed on Schedule 3.17(n), a “Company Benefit
Arrangement” and collectively, the “Company Benefit Arrangements”).

(0)  True, complete and correct copies of the following documents, with
respect to each Company Benefit Arrangement, where applicable, have been made available to
Parent; (i) all documents embodying or governing such Company Benefit Arrangement and any
funding medium for the Company Benefit Arrangement; (i) the most recent IRS determination
or opinion letter; (iii) the most recently filed IRS Form 5500; (iv) the most recent actuarial
valuation report; (v) the most recent summary plan description (or other descriptions provided to
employees) and all summaries of material modifications related thereto; (vi) the last three years
of non-discrimination testing results, and (vii) all non-routine correspondence to and from any
state or federal agency.

(p) Each Company Benefit Arrangement that is intended to qualify under
Section 401(a) of the Code is so qualified and is the subject of a favorable determination or
approval letter from the IRS, or may rely on an opinion or advisory letter issued by the IRS with
respect to a prototype or volume submitter plan adopted in accordance with the requirements for
such reliance, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no event or omission has occurred that
would cause any such Company Benefit Arrangement to lose such qualification or require action
under the IRS Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System program in order to maintain
such gualification.

@) Each Company Benefit Arrangement is, and has been operated and
administered in all material respects in accordance with applicable Laws and with its terms. No
Company Benefit Arrangement is, or within the past two (2) years has been, the subject of an
application or filing under a government sponsored amnesty, voluntary compliance, or similar
program, or been the subject of any self-correction under any such program. No litigation or
governmental administrative proceeding or audit (other than those relating to routine claims for
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benefits, appeals of such claims and domestic relations order proceedings) is pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, threatened with respect to any Company Benefit Arrangement, and,
to the Knowledge of the Company, there is no reasonable basis for any such litigation or
proceeding. All payments and/or contributions required to have been made by the Company
with respect to all Company Benefit Arrangements either have been made or have been accrued
in accordance with the terms of the applicable Company Benefit Arrangement and applicable
Law. The Company Benefit Arrangements satisfy in all material respects the minimum
coverage, affordability and non-discrimination requirements under the Code, except as would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(n Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has ever maintained,
contributed to, or been required to contribute to (i) any employee benefit plan that is or was
subjectto Title IV of ERISA, Section 412 of the Code, Section 302 of ERISA, (ii) a
Multiemployer Plan, (iii) any funded welfare benefit plan within the meaning of Section 419 of
the Code, (iv) any “multiple employer plan” (within the meaning of Section 210(a) of ERISA or
Section 413(c) of the Code), or (v) any “multiple employer welfare arrangement” (as such term
is defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA), and neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has
ever incurred any Liability under Title IV of ERISA that has not been paid in full.

(s) Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate providesor has any
obligation to provide health care or any other non-pension benefits to any employees after their
employment is terminated (other than as required by Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title | of ERISA or
similar state law) and the Company has never promised to provide such post-termination
benefits.

® Each Company Employee Plan may be amended, terminated, or otherwise
modified by the Company to the greatest extent permitted by applicable Law. Neither the
Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has announced its intention to modify or terminate any
Company Benefit Arrangement or adopt any arrangement or program which, once established,
would come within the definition of a Company Benefit Arrangement. Each asset held under
each Company Benefit Arrangement may be liquidated or terminated without the imposition of
any redemption fee, surrender charge or comparable liability other than ordinary administrative
expenses.

(w No Employee Plan is subject to the laws of any jurisdiction outside the
United States.

3.18 Books and Records.

(@) The Company maintains business records, financial books and records,
personnel records, ledgers, sales accounting records, tax records and related work papers and
other books and records of the Company (collectively, the “Books and Records”) that, to the
extent consistent with customary practice for similarly situated companies, accurately and fairly
reflect, in all material respects, the business activities of the Company.

(b) The minute books of the Company made available to Parent accurately
reflectall corporate action previously taken by the stockholders, the board of directors and
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committees of the board of directors of the Company. Schedule 3.18(b) of the Company
Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all of the current officersand directors of the Company.

(c) Schedule 3.18(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth the names
and locations of all banks, trust companies, savings and loan associations and other financial
institutions at which the Company maintains accounts of any nature and the names of all Persons
authorized to draw thereon or make withdrawals therefrom.

3.19 Insurance. The Company maintains the policies of insurance and bonds set forth
on Schedule 3.19 of the Company Disclosure Letter, which include all legally required workers’
compensation and other insurance, correct and complete copies of which have been made
available to Parent. Schedule 3.19 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth the name of the
insurer under each such policy and bond, the type of policy or bond, policy number and the term
and amount of coverage thereunder. There is no material claim of the Company pending under
any of such policies or bonds as to which coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed in
writing by the underwriters of such policy or bond or for which its total value (inclusive of
defense expenses) would reasonably be expected to exceed the applicable policy limits. All
premiums due and payable under all such policiesand bonds have been timely paid, and the
Company is otherwise in compliance in all material respects with the terms of such policies and
bonds. All such policies and bonds remain in full force and effect and the Company hasno
Knowledge of any threatened termination of, or premium increase with respect to, any of such
policies or bonds.

3.20 Environmental Matters. The Company and its predecessors have at all times been
in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws. Over the past two
(2) years, the Company has not received any written notice or other written communication,
whether from a Governmental Authority, citizens groups, employee or otherwise, that alleges that
the Company is not in material compliance with any Environmental Law. To the Knowledge of
the Company, no current or prior owner of any property leased or possessed by the Company has
received any written notice or other written communication, whether from a Governmental
Authority, citizens group, employee or otherwise, that alleges that such current or prior owner or
the Company is not in material compliance with any Environmental Law. All material
Governmental Permits held by the Company pursuant to any Environmental Law (if any) are
identified in Schedule 3.20 of the Company Disclosure Letter.

3.21 Customers and Suppliers.

(@) Schedule 3.21(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth the top
fifteen (15) customers (or group of affiliated customers) of the Company based on revenue
during each of (i) the twelve (12) months ending on December 31, 2020 and (ii) the year-to-date
period ending on the last day of the calendar month immediately preceding the Agreement Date
(each a “Significant Customer”). Since January 1, 2021, the Company has not received any
written or, to the Knowledge of the Company, oral notice from any Significant Customer that
such customer intends to terminate, breach or request a material modification to existing
Contracts with the Company.

-56 -

PATENT
REEL: 066769 FRAME: 0404



(b) Schedule 3.21(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth the top
fifteen (15) vendors and suppliers of products and services to the Company based on amounts
paid or payable by the Company to such vendors and suppliers during each of (i) the twelve (12)
months ending on December 31,2020 and (ii) the year-to-date period ending on the last day of
the calendar month immediately preceding the Agreement Date (each, a “Significant
Supplier”). The Company has not received any written or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
oral notice from any Significant Supplier that such supplier intends to terminate, breach or not
renew existing Contracts with the Company.

3.22 Accounts Receivable. Schedule 3.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets
forth an accurate and complete aging of the Company’s accounts receivable as of the Agreement
Date in the aggregate and by customer. All such accounts receivable derive from bona fide sales
transactions entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and are payable on the terms and
conditions set forth in the applicable Contract. Schedule 3.22(b) of the Company Disclosure
Letter sets forth such amounts of accounts receivable as of the Agreement Date that are subject to
claims asserted in writing by, and any other disputes asserted in writing with, customers and
reasonably detailed information regarding asserted claims made since January 1, 2021, including
the type and amounts of such claims.

3.23 Anti-Money Laundering Laws. The Company is, and for the past two (2) years
has been, in compliance with the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate
Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, the United Kingdom Proceeds of
Crime Act 2002 and all other applicable anti-money laundering and counter terrorist financing
Laws.

3.24  Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery Laws.

(@) None of the Company or any of its directors, officers, or employees, or, to
the Knowledge of the Company, any of their respective agents, independent contractors or
representatives, or any other Person, in each case acting for or on behalf of the Company (in their
capacities as such), has, directly or indirectly, in connection with the conduct of any activity of
the Company:

(i) made, offered or promised to make any unlawful payment, loan or
transfer of anything of value, including any reward, advantage or benefit of any kind, to
or for the benefit of any Foreign Government Official, candidate for public office,
political party or political campaign, or any official of such party or campaign, for the
purpose of (A) influencing any official act or decision of such Foreign Government
Official, candidate, party or campaign or any official of such party or campaign, (B)
inducing such Foreign Government Official, candidate, party or campaign or any official
of such party or campaign to do or omit to do any act in violation of a lawful duty, (C)
obtaining or retaining business for or with any person, (D) expediting or securing the
performance of official acts of a routine nature, or (E) otherwise securing any improper
advantage;
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(i) paid, offered or agreed or promised to make or offer any unlawful
bribe, payoff, influence payment, kickback, unlawful rebate or other similar unlawful
payment of any nature;

(iii)  made, offered, or agreed or promised to make or offer any
unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenditures;

(iv)  established or maintained any unlawful fund of corporate monies
or other properties;

(v)  created or caused the creation of any false or inaccurate books and
records related to any of the foregoing; or

(vi)  otherwise violated any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices
Actof 1977, asamended, 15 U.S.C. 8878dd-1, et seq. (“FCPA”"), the United Kingdom
Bribery Act of 2010 (the “Bribery Act”) or any other applicable anti-corruption or anti-
bribery Law.

(b)  Tothe Knowledge of the Company, the Company has not undergone and
is not undergoing, any audit, review, inspection, investigation, survey or examination by a
Governmental Authority relating to the FCPA, the Bribery Act, anti-corruption, or anti-kickback
activity. To the Knowledge of the Company, there are no threatened claims, nor presently
existing facts or circumstances that would constitute a reasonable basis for any future claims,
with respect to the FCPA, the Bribery Act, anti-corruption, or anti-kickback activity by the
Company or its predecessors.

3.25 Trade Compliance.

(@) The Company has over the past two (2) years conducted its export, import
and related transactions in accordance in all material respects with (i) all applicable U.S. export,
re-export, import, anti-boycott, and economic sanctions Laws and regulations, including the
Export Administration Regulations, the Arms Export Control Act, the International Traffic in
Arms Regulations, the trade and economic sanctions regulations administered by the U.S.
Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, and (ii) all other applicable import
and export control Laws and regulations in the other countries in which the Company conducts
business (“Export Control Laws”).

(b)  The Company has, where required, obtained, and are in compliance in all
material respects with, all export licenses and other required consents, authorizations, waivers,
approvals, and orders, if any, and have made or filed any and all necessary notices, registrations,
declarations and filings with any Governmental Authority, and have met the requirements of any
applicable license exceptions or exemptions, as required in connection with the Company’s (i)
export and re-export of products, services, Software or other Technology, and (ii) releases of
technical data, Software or other Technology to foreign nationals located in the United States
and abroad (“Export Approvals”).
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(c) To the Knowledge of the Company, there are no pending or threatened
inquiries, investigations, enforcement actions, voluntary disclosures or other claims against the
Company with respect to Export Control Laws or Export Approvals.

(d)  Tothe Knowledge of the Company, there are no actions, conditions or
circumstances pertaining to the Company’s export and import transactions that would reasonably
be expected to give rise to any future Governmental Authority inquiries, investigations,
enforcement actions, voluntary disclosures or other claims with respect to the Export Control
Laws or Export Approvals.

(e) Section 3.25(e) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth, to the
Knowledge of the Company, the true, complete and accurate Export Control Classification
Numbers (or U.S. Munitions List Categories) applicable to the Company Offerings and the
Company Technology.

() The Company has not, without first obtaining any necessary Export
Approvals, exported or re-exported items subject to the Export Control Laws to any countries
subjectto U.S. embargo or trade sanctions or to entities identified on any U.S. governmental
export exclusion lists, including the Denied Persons List, Entity List, Unverified List, Specially
Designated Nationals List, and any other applicable lists maintained by the Departments of
Treasury, State, or Commerce.

(@ Neither the Company nor any of its officers, directors, employees,
independent contractors or any other Person acting for or on behalf of the Company (i) isa
Person with whom transactions are prohibited or limited under any economic sanctions Laws,
including those administered by any U.S. Governmental Authority (including the Office of
Foreign Assets Control), the United Nations Security Council, the European Union or Her
Majesty’s Treasury, or (ii) within the last five years, has violated in any material respect any
economic sanctions Laws. The Company has not, within the last five years, made any voluntary
disclosures to U.S. Governmental Authorities under U.S. economic sanctions Laws, been
assessed any fine or penalty under such Laws, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, been the
subject of any governmental investigation or inquiry regarding compliance with such Laws.

3.26  Transaction Expenses. Exceptfor Stonehammer Capital, LL.C, no investment
banker, broker, finder or similar party is or shall be entitled to any payment of any fees of
expenses in connection with the origin, negotiation or execution of this Agreement or in
connection with the Mergers or any other transaction contemplated by this Agreement based upon
arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company at or prior to the Effective Time. The legal
and accounting advisors and any other persons to whom the Company currently expects to owe
fees and expenses that will constitute Transaction Expenses are set forth on Schedule 3.26 of the
Company Disclosure Letter.

ARTICLE 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER
SUBS

Parent and each Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company that the statements
contained in this Article 4 are true and correct.
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4.1 Organization and Good Standing.

(@) Parentis a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware and has the corporate power and authority to
own, operate and lease its properties and to carry on its business as now conducted and as
presently proposed to be conducted. Merger Sub | is a corporation duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Merger Sub Ilisa
limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws
of the State of Delaware.

(b) Each of Parent, Merger Sub | and Merger Sub Il is duly qualified or
licensed to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of the
properties owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its activities makes such qualification
or licensing necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or licensed would not result in
a Material Adverse Effecton Parent.

4.2 Power, Authorization and Validity.

(a) Power and Authority. Parent has all requisite corporate power and
authority to enter into, execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement and
each of the Parent Ancillary Agreements and to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Parent of this Agreement and
each of the Parent Ancillary Agreements and the consummation by Parent of the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby have been duly and validly approved and authorized by all
necessary corporate action on the part of Parent. Merger Sub | has all requisite corporate power
and authority to enter into, execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement and
each of the Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements to which it is to be party and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, subject to any required approval of Merger Sub
I’s sole stockholder. The execution, delivery and performance by Merger Sub | of this
Agreement and each of the Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements to which it is to be party, and the
consummation by Merger Sub | of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, have been
duly and validly approved and authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Merger
Sub |, subject to any required approval of Merger Sub I’s sole stockholder (which approval will
be obtained immediately following the execution of this Agreement). Merger Sub 11 has all
requisite limited liability company power and authority to enter into, execute, deliver and
perform its obligations under this Agreement and each of the Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements
to which it is to be party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby,
subject to any required approval of Merger Sub 11’s sole member (which approval will be
obtained immediately following the execution of this Agreement). The execution, delivery and
performance by Merger Sub I1 of this Agreement and each of the Merger Sub Ancillary
Agreements to which it is to be party, and the consummation by Merger Sub |1 of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, have been duly and validly approved and
authorized by all necessary limited liability company action on the part of Merger Sub 11, subject
to any required approval of Merger Sub 11’s sole member.

(b) No Consents. No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or
registration, declaration or filing with, any Governmental Authority or any other Person is
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necessary or required to be made or obtained by Parent or either Merger Sub to enable Parent
and the Merger Subs to lawfully execute and deliver, enter into, and perform their respective
obligations under this Agreement, each of the Parent Ancillary Agreements (as to Parent) and
each of the Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements to be entered into by the applicable Merger Sub
(as to the Merger Subs) or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby,
except for (i) such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and
filings, if any, that if not made or obtained by Parent or the Merger Subs would not reasonably be
expected to result in a material adverse effect on Parent’s or either Merger Sub’s ability to
consummate the Mergers or to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement, the
Parent Ancillary Agreements (as to Parent) and the applicable Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements
(as to the Merger Subs), (ii) the filing of the First Certificate of Merger and the Second
Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and (iii) any filings
required under applicable securities Laws.

(c) Enforceability. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by
Parent and each Merger Sub. This Agreement and each of the Parent Ancillary Agreements are,
or when executed by Parent shall be, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by
the Company and the other Persons party hereto or thereto, valid and binding obligations of
Parent, enforceable against Parent in accordance with their respective terms, subject to the effect
of (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws now
or hereafter in effect relating to rights of creditors generally and (ii) rules of law and equity
governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. This Agreement
and each of the Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements to be entered into by a particular Merger Sub
are, or when executed by the applicable Merger Sub shall be, assuming the due authorization,
execution and delivery by the Company or the other Persons hereto or thereto, valid and binding
obligations of such Merger Sub, enforceable against such Merger Sub in accordance with their
respective terms, subject to the effect of (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium or other similar Laws now or hereafter in effect relating to rights of creditors
generally and (ii) rules of law and equity governing specific performance, injunctive relief and
other equitable remedies.

4.3  No Conflict. Neitherthe execution and delivery of this Agreement, any of the
Parent Ancillary Agreements (in the case of Parent) or any of the Merger Sub Ancillary
Agreements to be entered into by the applicable Merger Sub (as to the Merger Subs) by Parent or
the applicable Merger Sub, nor the performance by Parent or the applicable Merger Sub of their
respective obligations hereunder or thereunder, the consummation of the Mergers or any other
transaction contemplated hereby or thereby, shall conflict with, or (with or without notice or lapse
of time, or both) result in a breach, violation of or an acceleration of an obligation or loss of
material benefit, or constitute a default under (a) any provision of the certificate of incorporation
or bylaws of Parent or Merger Sub I or the limited liability company agreement of Merger Sub II,
each as currently in effect, (b) any material Contract to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a
party, (c) any Law applicable to Parent, either Merger Sub or any of their respective material
assets or properties, or (d) any judgment, decree or order to which Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries is subject, except in the case of clauses (b), (¢) and (d), where such conflict, breach,
impairment, violation or default would not reasonably be expected to adversely effect in any
material respect Parent’s or either Merger Sub’s ability to consummate the Mergers or to perform
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their respective obligations under this Agreement, the Parent Ancillary Agreements and the
applicable Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements.

4.4 Capitalization.

(@) The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of (a) 188,500,000 shares
of the Parent Common Stock, of which 57,700,000 shares are designated Class A Common
Stock and 130,800,000 are designated Class B Common Stock and (b) 89,013,203 shares of
Preferred Stock, of which 48,000,000 shares are designated Founders Preferred Stock,
17,287,440 shares are designated as Series A Preferred Stock, 4,989,221 shares are designated as
Series B-1 Preferred Stock, 12,665,655 shares are designated as Series B Preferred Stock, and
6,070,887 shares are designated as Series C Preferred Stock. As of October 5, 2021, (i)
48,000,000 shares of Founders Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding, all of which were
duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, (ii) 17,287,440 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding, all of whichwere duly authorized, validly issued,
fully paid and non-assessable, (iii) 4,989,221 shares of Series B-1 Preferred Stock were issued
and outstanding, all of which were duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable,
(iv) 12,665,655 shares of Series B Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding, all of which
were duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, (v) 6,070,887 shares of
Series C Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding, all of which were duly authorized, validly
issued, fully paid and non-assessable, (vi) 9,500,000 shares of Parent Class A Common Stock
were issued and outstanding, all of which were duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and
non-assessable, (vii) 10,716,924 shares of Parent Class B Common Stock were issued and
outstanding, all of which were duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and
(viii) 148,451 sharesof Parent Class B Common Stock were reserved for future issuance under
outstanding stock options issued pursuant to the Parent Stock Plan or available under the Parent’s
employee equity pool pursuant to the Parent Stock Plan.

4.5  Parent Shares. Allshares of Parent Class B Common Stock to be issued pursuant
to this Agreement will be, when issued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement for the
consideration expressed herein, duly authorized and validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable,
and will be free of restrictions on transfer other than restrictions set forth herein, under Parent’s
bylaws or under the Securities Actand any other applicable Law.

4.6  Interim Operations of Merger Subs. Each Merger Sub was formed solely for the
purpose of engaging in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, has engaged in no other
business activities and has conducted its operations only as contemplated by this Agreement.

4.7 Parent Financial Statements.

(@) Schedule 4.7 sets forth the Parent Financial Statements. The Parent
Financial Statements: (a) are derived from the books and records of Parent and its Subsidiaries,
(b) fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial condition of Parent and its
Subsidiaries at the dates therein indicated and the consolidated results of operations and cash
flows of Parent and its Subsidiaries for the periods therein specified, and (c) have been prepared
in accordance with GAAP, applied on a basis consistent with prior periods (except that the
unaudited Parent Financial Statements do not have notes and are subject to normal recurring
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year-end adjustments, the effect of which are not, individually or in the aggregate, expected to be
material to Parentand its Subsidiaries). Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries have any “off-
balance sheet arrangement” within the meaning of Item 303 of Regulation S-K promulgated
under the Securities Act. Parent maintains a system of internal accounting controls appropriate
for a private company of Parent’s size and stage that is intended to provide reasonable assurance
that: (i) material transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorizations and (ii) material transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP. To the Knowledge of Parent, there have beenno
instances of fraud that occurred during any period covered by the Parent Financial Statements.

(b) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries have any liabilities, except for
(i) those shown on the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Parent and its Subsidiaries as of
July 31, 2021, (ii) those that were incurred after July 31 2021 in the Ordinary Course of
Business, (iii) liabilities not required to be reflected in the liabilities column of a balance sheet
prepared in accordance with GAAP, (iv) those incurred pursuant to or in connection with the
execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or as a result of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, including the Transaction Expenses, (iv) those that would not,
individually or in the aggregate, be material to the business or operations of Parent, and
(v) executory (including payment) obligations under any Contract (other than obligations in
respect of breach of contract, breach of law or tort). This Section 4.7(b) shall not apply with
respect to any liability arising out of the subject matter specifically addressed by the scope of
another other representation or warranty of Parent in this Agreement (including, forthe
avoidance of doubt, any liability that is not required to be disclosed after giving effect to any
knowledge or materiality (including Material Adverse Effect) qualifier, monetary threshold or
date, time or other temporal limitation contained in such representation or warranty).

4.8  Litigation. To the Knowledge of each of Parent and the Merger Subs, as
applicable, there is no material Action pending or threatened against the Parent or either of the
Merger Subs (or to the Knowledge of each of Parent and the Merger Subs, as applicable, against
any officer, director, employee or agent of Parent or either of the Merger Subs, as applicable, in
his or her capacity as such or relating to his or her employment, services or relationship with
Parent or the applicable Merger Sub). There is no material judgment, decree, injunction, rule or
order of any Governmental Authority, arbitrator or mediator binding specifically on Parent or
either of the Merger Subs or any of their respective assets or properties. Neither Parent nor either
of the Merger Subs has any Action pending against any Governmental Authority or any other
Person.

4.9 Compliance with Laws.

(@) Since January 1, 2020, each of Parent and the Merger Subs have complied
in all material respects, and are in material compliance, with all applicable Laws.

(b) Each of Parent and the Merger Subs, as applicable, holds all permits,
licenses and approvals from, and have made all filings with, Governmental Authorities that are
required to conduct their respective businesses in compliance in all material respects with
applicable Law and applicable Contracts (“Governmental Permits™), and all such
Governmental Permits are valid and in full force and effect. Neither Parent nor either Merger
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Sub has received any written notice or other written communication, or to the Knowledge of
Parent or the applicable Merger Sub, any oral notice or other oral communication, fromany
Governmental Authority regarding (i) any actual or possible material violation of Law or any
Governmental Permit or any material failure to comply with any term or requirement of any
Governmental Permit or (ii) any actual or possible revocation, withdrawal, suspension,
cancellation, termination or modification of any material Governmental Permit.

4.10 Availability of Funds. The Parent has sufficient cash or existing available
borrowing capacity under committed borrowing facilities in immediately available funds to
enable Parent to: (a) pay in full all amounts payable by Parent pursuant to Article 2; and (b) pay in
full all fees, costs and expenses payable by Parent or either Merger Sub in connection with this
Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

4.11 Absence of Material Adverse Effect. From July 31, 2021 through the Agreement
Date, there has not been with respect to Parentany Material Adverse Effect.

4,12 Transaction Expenses. No investment banker, broker, finder or similar party is or
shall be entitled to any payment of any fees of expenses in connection with the origin, negotiation
or execution of this Agreement or in connection with the Mergers or any other transaction
contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent, the
Merger Subs or any of their Affiliates at or prior to the Effective Time.

4.13 Tax Matters. Neither Parent nor any of its Affiliates has knowingly taken or
agreed to take any action, nor does Parent or any of its Subsidiaries have knowledge of any fact or
circumstance that could reasonably be expected, to prevent the Merger from qualifyingas a
reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. Merger Sub Il is disregarded as
an entity separate from its owner, Parent, for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

4.14 No Other Representations or Warranties; Non-Reliance. Parent hereby
acknowledges and agrees that, except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in
Article 3 (in each case as qualified and limited by the Disclosure Materials), (a) none the
Company, any Affiliate of the Company or, any equityholder of the Company, or any other
Person, has made or is making any express or implied representation or warranty with respect to
the Company, any Affiliate of the Company, or any of the respective businesses or operations of
the Company, or any Affiliate of the Company, including with respect to any information
provided or made available to Parent, any equityholder, Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent, or any
other Person, or, except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, had or has any duty or
obligation to provide any information to Parent, any Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent, any
equityholder of Parent, any Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent, or any other Person, in connection
with this Agreement, the the transactions contemplated hereby or otherwise, and (b) to the fullest
extent permitted by law, none of the Company, any Affiliate of the Company, any equityholder of
the Company, or any other Person, will have or be subject to any liability or indemnification or
other obligation of any kind or nature to Parent, any Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent, any
equityholder of Parent, or any other Person, resulting from the delivery, dissemination or any
other distribution to Parent, any Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent, any equityholder of Parent, or
any other Person, or the use by Parent, any Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent, any equityholder of
Parent, or any other Person, of any such information provided or made available to any of them
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by the Company, any Affiliate of the Company, any equityholder of the Company, or any other
Person, including any information, documents, estimates, projections, forecasts or other forward-
looking information, business plans or other material provided or made available to Parent, any
Subsidiary or Affiliate of Parent, any equityholder of Parent, or any other Person, in “data
rooms,” confidential information memoranda, management presentations or otherwise in
anticipation or contemplation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (subject to
the express representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Article 3 (in each case as
qualified and limited by the Company Disclosure Letter)) none of Parent, any Subsidiary or
Affiliate of Parent, any equityholder of Parent, or any other Person, has relied on any such
information (including the accuracy or completeness thereof).

ARTICLES

PARENT COVENANTS

5.1 Directors’ and Officers’ Liability.

(@) For a period of six years after the Closing Date, Parent will, and will cause
the Surviving Entity to, fulfill and honor in all respects the obligations of the Company to each
current (as of immediately prior to the Effective Time) and each former director, officer,
employee or agent of the Company (each, a “Covered Person”) relating to the indemnification
thereof, pursuant to any indemnification provisions under the Charter Documents or any
indemnification agreementas in effect on the Agreement Date (including provisions relating to
contributions, advancement of expenses and the like), in each case, that have been made
available to Parent (such obligations, the “Company Indemnification Obligations™), subject to
any limitations imposed by applicable Law. The provisions of this Section 5.1 (i) are intended to
be for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each Covered Person, and each such Covered
Person’s heirs, legatees, successors, and assigns (and the Parties expressly agree that such
Persons will be third-party beneficiaries of this Section 5.1), and (ii) will survive the
consummation of the Mergers.

(b)  Parentshall be under no obligation to maintain the existence of the
Surviving Entity for any specified period following the Second Effective Time; provided,
however, that if the Surviving Entity shall be dissolved or its existence otherwise terminated,
Parent or an Affiliate of Parent reasonably acceptable to the Representative shall assume the
obligations set forth in this Section 5.1.

(c) The Company has purchased tail insurance coverage for the Company’s
directors and officersin a form reasonably acceptable to the Company and Parent, which
provides such directors and officers with coverage for six years following the Effective Time
with respect to claims arising out of acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time
(the “Tail Policy”).

(d)  Anyamounts paid (for the avoidance of doubt, to the extent not recovered

or recoverable under the Tail Policy) by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the Surviving
Entity, or any of their respective successors or assigns, to any Covered Persons in respect of the
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Company Indemnification Obligations (such amounts, “Company Indemnification Obligation
Payments”) shall be Damages to which Parent is entitled to recover pursuant to Article 7.

() If Parent or the Surviving Entity (i) shall consolidate with or merge into
any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such
consolidation or merger or (ii) shall transfer all or substantially all of its propertiesand assets to
any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provisions shall be made so that the successor
and assigns of Parent or the Surviving Entity, as the case may be, shall assume all of the
obligations of this Section 5.1.

(f) Parent and the Surviving Entity, jointly and severally, shall pay all
reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, that may be incurred by the Covered
Persons in successfully enforcing their rights or Parent’s and the Surviving Entity’s obligations
as provided in this Section 5.1.

(9) The provisions of this Section 5.1 are intended to be in addition to the
rights otherwise available to the Covered Persons by law, charter, statute, by-law or agreement,
and shall operate for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each of the Covered Persons,
their heirs and their representatives.

ARTICLE 6
AGREEMENTS RELATING TO PARENT CLASS B COMMON STOCK

6.1  Restrictions on Transfer. The Parent Shares shall be subject to any restrictions on
Transfer set forth in Parent’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws and this Article 6. The
Parent Shares constitute “restricted securities” under the Securities Act, and may not be
Transferred absent registration under the Securities Act or an exemption therefrom, and any such
Transfer shall also be conditioned on compliance with applicable state and foreign securities laws.
Each Company Securityholder who receives Parent Shares and every transferee or assignee of any
Parent Shares from any Company Securityholder shall be bound by and subject to the terms and
conditions of this Article 6, and Parent may require, as a condition precedent to the issuance or
Transfer of any Parent Shares, that any recipient, transferee or assignee agrees in writing to be
bound by, and subject to, all the terms and conditions of this Article 6. To ensure compliance
with the restrictions imposed by this Agreement, Parent may issue appropriate “stop-transfer”
instructions to its transfer agent, if any, and if Parent acts as its own transfer agent, it may make
appropriate notations to the same effect in its own records. Parentshall not be required (a) to
transfer on its books any Parent Shares that have been Transferred in violation of any of the
provisions of this Agreement or (b) to treat as owner of such Parent Shares, or to accord the right
to vote or pay dividends, to any transferee or assignee to whom such shares have been purportedly
so Transferred.

6.2  Market Stand-Off. Each Company Securityholder who receives Parent Shares
pursuant to this Agreement (following the Closing) or any transferee of such Parent Shares (either
sometimes referredto herein as the “Holder”) hereby agrees that it will not, without the prior
written consent of the managing underwriter, during the period commencing on the date of the
final prospectus relating to the registration by Parent of Parent Class B Common Stock or any

-66 -

PATENT
REEL: 066769 FRAME: 0414



other equity securities under the Securities Act on a registration statement on Form S-1, and
ending on the date specified by Parent and the managing underwriter (such period not to exceed
one hundred eighty (180) days): (i) lend; offer; pledge; sell; contract to sell; sell any option or
contract to purchase; purchase any option or contract to sell; grant any option, right, or warrant to
purchase; or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of Parent Class B
Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable (directly or
indirectly) for Parent Class B Common Stock (whether such shares or any such securities are then
owned by the Holder or are thereafter acquired) or (ii) enter into any swap or other arrangement
that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of
such securities, whether any such transaction described in clause (i) or (ii) above is to be settled
by delivery of Parent Class B Common Stock or other securities, in cash, or otherwise. The
foregoing provisions of this Section 6.2 shall apply only to Parent’s initial public offering, shall
not apply to the sale of any shares to an underwriter pursuant to an underwriting agreement, or the
transfer of any shares to any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the Holder or the immediate
family of the Holder, provided that the trustee of the trust agrees to be bound in writing by the
restrictions set forth herein, and provided further that any such transfer shall notinvolve a
disposition for value, and shall be applicable to the Holders only if all officers and directors are
subject to the same restrictions and Parent uses commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a
similar agreement from all stockholders individually owning more than five percent (5%) of
outstanding Parent Common Stock (after giving effect to conversion into Parent Common Stock
of all outstanding Parent preferred stock). The underwriters in connection with such registration
are intended third-party beneficiaries of this Section 6.2 and shall have the right, power and
authority to enforce the provisions hereof as though they were a party hereto. Each Holder further
agrees to execute such agreements as may be reasonably requested by the underwriters in
connection with such registration that are consistent with this Section 6.2 or that are necessary to
give further effect thereto. Any discretionary waiver or termination of the restrictions of any or all
of such agreements by Parent or the underwriters shall apply pro rata to all Holders subject to
such agreements, based on the number of shares subject to such agreements. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the event the market stand-off provisions contained in Section 2.11 of that certain
and Amended and Restated Investors” Rights Agreement, dated January 6, 2021, by and among
the Parent and the holders of Parent Preferred Stock party thereto (as such may be amended
and/or restated following the date hereof), are amended in a manner favorable to the Holders
thereunder (as such term is defined therein), such terms shall also be provided to the Holders
hereunder.

6.3 Right of First Refusal.

(@) Right of First Refusal. If (i) any Holder proposesto Transfer to a third
party any Parent Shares acquired under this Agreement, or any interest in such Parent Shares and
(i) pursuant to Section 7.1 of the bylaws of Parent, the board of directors of Parent has approved
such Transfer, then Parent shall have a right of first refusal to purchase the Parent Shares to be so
Transferred on the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 6.3(a) (the “Right of First
Refusal”) with respect to all (and not less than all) of such Parent Shares. If the Holder desires
to Transfer Parent Shares acquired under this Agreement, the Holder shall give a written notice
to Parent describing fully the proposed Transfer, including the number of Parent Shares proposed
to be Transferred, the proposed Transfer price, the name and address of the Person (a
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“Transferee”) to whom the Holder proposes to Transfer such Parent Shares (a “Transfer
Notice”) and evidence reasonably satisfactory to Parent that the proposed Transfer will not
violate any applicable federal, State or foreign securities Laws. The Transfer Notice shall be
signed both by the holder and by the proposed Transferee and must constitute a binding
commitment of both parties to the Transfer of the Parent Shares. If the board of directors of
Parent approves the Transfer pursuant to Section 7.1 of the bylaws of Parent, then Parent shall
have the right to purchase all, and not less than all, of the Parent Shares on the terms of the
proposal described in the Transfer Notice (subject, however, to any change in such terms
permitted under Section 6.3(b) below) by delivery of a notice of exercise of the Right of First
Refusal within thirty (30) days after the date when the Transfer Notice was received by Parent.
If the board of directors of Parent does not approve the Transfer pursuant to Section 7.1 of the
bylaws of Parent, then the Holder may not Transfer the Parent Shares.

(b)  Transfer of Shares. If the board of directors of Parent approves of the
Transfer pursuant to Section 7.1 of the bylaws of Parent and Parent fails to exercise its Right of
First Refusal within thirty (30) days after the date when it received the Transfer Notice, the
Holder may, not later than ninety (90) days following receipt of the Transfer Notice by Parent,
conclude a transfer of the Parent Shares subject to the Transfer Notice on the terms and
conditions described in the Transfer Notice, provided that any such sale is made in compliance
with applicable federal, State and foreign securities Laws and not in violation of any other
contractual restrictions to which the Holder is bound. Any proposed Transfer onterms and
conditions different from those described in the Transfer Notice, as well as any subsequent
proposed Transfer by the Holder, shall again be subject to the Right of First Refusal and shall
require compliance with the procedure described in Section 6.3(a) above. If Parent exercises its
Right of First Refusal, the parties shall consummate the sale of the Parent Shares on the terms set
forth in the Transfer Notice within sixty (60) days after the date when Parent received the
Transfer Notice (or within such longer period as may have been specified in the Transfer
Notice); provided, however, that in the event the Transfer Notice provided that payment for the
Parent Shares was to be made in a form other than cash or cash equivalents paid at the time of
Transfer, Parent shall have the option of paying for the Parent Shares with cash or cash
equivalents equal to the fair market value of the consideration described in the Transfer Notice.

(c)  Additional or Exchanged Securities and Property. In the event of a merger
or consolidation of Parent with or into another entity, any other corporate reorganization, a stock
split, the declaration of a stock dividend, the declaration of an extraordinary dividend payable in
a form other than stock, a spin-off, an adjustment in conversion ratio, a recapitalization or a
similar transaction affecting Parent’s outstanding securities, any securities or other property
(including cash or cash equivalents) that are by reason of such transaction exchanged for, or
distributed with respect to, any Parent Shares subject to this Article 6 shall immediately be
subject to the Right of First Refusal. Appropriate adjustments to reflect the exchange or
distribution of such securities or property shall be made to the number and/or class of the Shares
subject to this Article 6.

(d)  Termination of Right of First Refusal. Any other provision of this
Avrticle 6 notwithstanding, in the event that the Parent Shares are readily tradable on an
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established securities market when the Holder desires to Transfer Parent Shares, Parent shall
have no Right of First Refusal under this Section 6.3 with respect to such Transfer.

(e) Permitted Transfers. This Section 6.3 shall not apply to transfers
permitted under Section 7.2 of the bylaws of Parent. If the Holder Transfers any Parent Shares
acquired under this Agreement, either under this Section 6.3(e) or after Parent has failed to
exercise the Right of First Refusal, then this Agreement shall apply to the Transferee to the same
extent as to the Holder.

) Termination of Rights as Stockholder. If Parent makes available, at the
time and place and in the amount and form provided in this Article 6, the consideration for the
Parent Shares to be purchased in accordance with this Section 6.3, then after such time the
Person from whom such Parent Shares are to be purchased shall no longer have any rights as a
holder of such Parent Shares (other than the right to receive payment of such consideration in
accordance with this Agreement). Such Parent Shares shall be deemed to have been purchased
in accordance with the applicable provisions hereof, whether or not the certificate(s) therefor
have been delivered as required by this Agreement.

(9  Assignment of Right of First Refusal. In connection with any Transfer
subject to the terms of this Section 6.3, the board of directors of Parent may freely assign
Parent’s Right of First Refusal, in whole or in part, with respect to such Transfer. Any Person
who accepts an assignment of the Right of First Refusal from Parent with respect to any such
Transfer shall assume all of Parent’s rights and obligations under this Section 6.3 with respect
thereto.

6.4  Legends. Each certificate or book-entry notation representing any Parent Shares
issued hereunder shall bear the following legends (in addition to any other legends required by
law, Parent’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws or any other agreement to which any such
Company Securityholder is a party):

THE SHARES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, ASAMENDED, AND MAY NOT BE SOLD,
PLEDGED, OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED WITHOUT AN EFFECTIVE
REGISTRATION THEREOF UNDER SUCH ACT OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL,
SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY AND ITS COUNSEL, THAT SUCH
REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED. INVESTORS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT
THEY MAY BE REQUIRED TO BEAR THE FINANCIAL RISKS OF THIS
INVESTMENT FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME. THE ISSUER OF THESE
SECURITIES MAY REQUIRE AN OPINION OF COUNSEL IN FORM AND
SUBSTANCE SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER TO THE EFFECT THAT ANY
PROPOSED TRANSFER OR RESALE IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE
SECURITIES ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.

THE SHARES REPRESENTED HEREBY ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN
RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER, INCLUDING A RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL
AND A MARKET STAND OFF RESTRICTION IN CONNECTION THE ISSUER’S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING, IN EACH CASE AS SET FORTH IN A MERGER
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AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO WHICH THESE SECURITIES WERE ORIGINALLY
ISSUED, A COPY OF WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED AT THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE
OF THE ISSUER. SUCH RESTRICTIONS ARE BINDING ON PERMITTED
TRANSFEREES OF THESE SHARES.

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO
CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER CONTAINED IN THE BYLAWS OF
THE PARENT.

6.5 Termination. The agreements contained in this Article 6 shall terminate and be of
no further force or effect (i) immediately before the consummation of Parent’s initial public
offering, (i) when Parent first becomes subject to the periodic reporting requirements of Section
12(g) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or (iii) upon the closing of a Deemed Liquidation Event, as
such term is defined in Parent’s certificate of incorporation, whichever event occurs first.

ARTICLE 7

SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS, INDEMNIFICATION AND REMEDIES,
CONTINUING COVENANTS

7.1  Survival. If the First Merger is consummated, the representationsand warranties
of the Company contained in this Agreement (as qualified by the Company Disclosure Letter),
and the right of any Indemnified Party to bring a Claim with respect thereto, shall survive until
the Expiration Date, at which time they shall expire; provided, however, that: (a) the Specified
Representations and the right of any Indemnified Party to bring a Claim with respect thereto, shall
survive until the thirty-six (36) month anniversary of the Closing Date, (b) the Fundamental
Representations, and the right of any Indemnified Party to bring a Claim with respect thereto,
shall survive until the 30th day following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (as
such statute of limitations pertains to the subject matter of such Fundamental Representation), at
which time they shall expire, (c) no right to indemnification, compensation or reimbursement
pursuant to this Article 7 in respect of any Claim based upon any failure of a representation or
warranty to be true and correct that is set forth in a Notice of Claim timely delivered in
accordance with Section 7.4 prior to the applicable expiration date of such representation or
warranty shall be affected by the expiration of such representation or warranty and (d) such
expiration shall not affect the rights of any Indemnified Party, under this Article 7 or otherwise, to
seek recovery of Damages arising out of any Fraud, which rights will survive until the 30th day
following the expiration of the statute of limitations applicable to such Fraud, at which time they
shall expire. The representations and warranties of Parent and the Merger Subs contained in this
Agreement shall survive until the Expiration Date, at which time they shall expire; provided,
however, that (i) the Parent Fundamental Representations shall survive until the 30th day
following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (as such statute of limitations
pertains to the subject matter of such Parent Fundamental Representation), at which time they
shall expire, (ii) no right to assert a claim for breach, compensation or reimbursement in respect
of any claim based upon any failure of a representation or warranty of Parent to be true and
correct that is set forth in a claim asserted prior to the applicable expiration date of such
representation or warranty shall be affected by the expiration of such representation or warranty
and (iii) such expiration shall not affect the rights of any Company Securityholder to seek
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recovery of Damages arising out of any Fraud, which rights will survive until the 30th day
following the expiration of the statute of limitations applicable to such Fraud, at which time they
shall expire. Itis the express intent of the parties that, if an applicable survival period as
contemplated by this Section 7.1 is shorter or longer than the statute of limitations that would
otherwise apply, then, by contract, the applicable statute of limitations shall be reduced or
extended, as the case may be, to the survival period contemplated hereby. No indemnification
claims may be made unless, prior to the expiration of the applicable survival period, a loss has
been incurred, or a third party claim has been asserted, and the Indemnified Party makes an
indemnification claim in good faith by providing written notice of such loss and the amount
thereof (or a reasonably detailed estimate of the losses to be incurred) prior to the expiration of
the applicable survival period. The parties further acknowledge that the time periods set forth in
this Section 7.1 for the assertion of claims under this Agreement are the result of arm’s length
negotiation among the parties and that they intend for the time periods to be enforced as agreed by
the parties.

7.2 Agreementto Indemnify. Each Indemnifying Party shall severally (based on each
such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share or Excess Pro Rata Share, as applicable), and not
jointly, indemnify and hold harmless Parent and its Affiliates (each hereinafter referred to
individually as an “Indemnified Party” and collectively as the “Indemnified Parties”) from and
against, and shall compensate and reimburse each of them for, any and all costs, monetary
damages, interest and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, other reasonable
professionals’ and experts’ fees and court costs incurred in connection with investigating,
defending against or settling any claims subject hereto); provided that Damages shall not include
incidental, special, punitive or exemplary damages unless such incidental, special, punitive or
exemplary damages are a reasonably foreseeable result of the event or facts that give rise thereto
and actually awarded in connection with a third-party claim (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“Damages”) incurred by an Indemnified Party, and whether arising out of a third-party claim or a
direct claim, in each case only to the extent arising out of or resulting from:

€)) any failure of any representation or warranty made by the Company in this
Agreement (as qualified by the Company Disclosure Letter) to be true and correct as of the
Agreement Date, except in the case of any individual representation and warranty which by its
terms speaks only as of a specific date or dates, in which case as though made as of such specific
date or dates;

(b) any inaccuracies or errorsin or omissions from the Spreadsheet, including
errors in the calculations of the Closing Indebtedness Amount, the Closing Cash Amount, the
Unpaid Transaction Expenses (including the Closing Employee Payments), the Unpaid Wage
Obligations, or any of their respective constituent parts;

(c) any payment made with respect to any Dissenting Share to the extent that
such payment exceeds the value of the amount that otherwise would have been payable pursuant
to Article 2 upon the exchange of such Dissenting Share and any costs and expenses incurred in
connection with defending against and resolving any claim with respect to Dissenting Shares;
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(d) any Pre-Closing Tax (other than any such Tax to the extent expressly
taken into account in Indebtedness or any Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes each as finally determined
hereunder);

(e) any Fraud; or
(f) any Company Indemnification Obligation Payments.
7.3  Limitations.

(@) In the case of any General Representation Claim, each Indemnifying Party
shall be severally and not jointly liable for such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of any
Damages resulting therefrom, provided that the aggregate liability for the Indemnifying Parties
for all General Representation Claims shall be capped at the General Representation Cap and
shall only be recoverable from the Escrow Fund.

(b) In the case of any Specified Representation Claim, each Indemnifying
Party shall be severally and not jointly liable for such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share (or,
in the case of an Excess Indemnifying Party’s liability beyond the Escrow Amount, as and solely
to the extent provided in this paragraph, Excess Pro Rata Share) of any Damages resulting
therefrom, provided that the aggregate liability for the Indemnifying Parties for all Specified
Representation Claims shall be capped (i) in the case of any Indemnifying Party who is a Non-
Officer Plan Participant, at such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of the Escrow Amount,
and shall only be recoverable from the Escrow Fund, and (ii) in the case of any Excess
Indemnifying Party, to the extent exceeding such Excess Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share of
the Escrow Amount, at such Excess Indemnifying Party’s Excess Pro Rata Share of the Specified
Representation Cap.

(c) In the case of any Claim under (A) Section 7.2(a) with respect to any
Fundamental Representation, or (B) any of clauses (b) through (g) of Section 7.2 ((A) and (B),
collectively, “Special Matters”), each Indemnifying Party shall be severally and not jointly
liable for such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Share (or, in the case of an Excess Indemnifying
Party’s liability beyond the Escrow Amount, as and solely to the extent provided in this
paragraph, Excess Pro Rata Share) of any Damages resulting therefrom, provided that (i) the
Indemnified Parties shall not be permitted to recover any Damages from an Indemnifying Party
under this Section 7.3(c) until such time as the Escrow Fund has been exhausted, (ii) the
aggregate liability for any Excess Indemnifying Party for all Claims for Special Matters, together
with liabilities for General Representation Claims and Specified Representation Claims, shall be
capped at the sum of (x) the Merger Consideration actually received, net of taxes paid (and, for
the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of this Section 7.3(c) amounts in the Escrow Fund shall be
treated as “actually received,” and any Parent Shares received by such Excess Indemnifying
Party shall be valued at the Reference Price) by such Excess Indemnifying Party, plus (y)
payments for any such Excess Indemnifying Party who is also an Officer Plan Participant
pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan, and (iii) the aggregate liability for any Indemnifying
Party who is a Non-Officer Plan Participant shall be capped at their Pro Rata Share of the
Escrow Amount and shall only be recoverable from the Escrow Fund.
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(d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, there shall be no
maximum liability for Fraud against any Indemnifying Party who committed such Fraud.

(e) No Indemnified Party may recover any Damages in respect of General
Representation Claims and Specified Representations Claims unless and until Damages in the
aggregate under all such Claims that have been paid exceed $35,960 (the “Basket”), in which
case the Indemnified Parties may recover only those Damages in excess of the amount of the
Basket. Inaddition, no Indemnified Party may recover any Damages in respect of a specific
General Representation Claim or a Specified Representation Claim, as applicable, unless and
until Damages with respect to such General Representation Claim Specified Representation
Claim, as applicable, that have been paid exceed $25,000 (the “De Minimis Basket™), in which
case the Indemnified Parties may recover, subject to the limitation set forth in the prior sentence,
all Damages, including the amount of the De Minimis Basket fromthe first dollar. In
determining the amount of any Damages in respect of the failure of any representation or
warranty to be true and correct as of any particular date, any materiality, Material Adverse Effect
or similar qualification limiting the scope of such representation or warranty shall be
disregarded.

()] Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for purposes of
calculating or determining the amount of Damages incurred under Section 7.2, there shall be
deducted from any Damages an amount equal to (i) the amount of any proceeds actually
received by any Indemnified Party fromany third party or any insurer for such Damages (after
giving effect to any deductible or retention or increase in premium associated therewith to the
extent paid or payable and net of any costs, Taxes and expenses of recovery or collection
thereof) and (ii) the amount of any Loss Tax Benefit; provided, however, that none of the
Indemnified Parties shall have any obligation to obtain insurance coverage or other third-party
protection with respect to any particular matter (other than the maintenance of the Tail Policy as

provided in Section 5.1).

@ No Indemnified Party shall be entitled to double recovery for any
indemnifiable Damages even though such Damages may be recoverable under more thanone
provision of Section 7.2.

(h No Company Securityholder who is not an Indemnifying Party shall have
any indemnification obligation pursuant to this Article 7 or otherwise.

(i In no event shall any Indemnifying Party be responsible or liable for any
Damages or other amounts under this Article 7 that (i) are consequential (except to the extent
reasonably foreseeable or awarded to a third party), in the nature of lost profits or diminution in
value, reflect multiples of lost earnings, revenue, cash flows or other similar financial measures,
are special or punitive or otherwise not actual damages or (ii) are claimed in a Claim Notice
received by the Indemnifying Party after the expiration of the applicable representation,
warranty, covenant or other agreement in accordance with Section 7.1.

7.4  Notice of Claim. If Parent, acting on its own behalf or on behalf of any of the
other Indemnified Parties, wishes to asserta Claim, Parent shall, promptly after becoming aware
thereof, deliver written notice thereof, executed by an officer or other authorized representative of
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Parent (a “Notice of Claim”), to the Representative. The Notice of Claim shall set forth: (a) that
an Indemnified Party has incurred or paid or reasonably believes in good faith that it will incur or
pay Damages; (b) the actual or estimated amount of such Damages to the extent known or
reasonably estimable (which, in the case of Damages not yet incurred or paid, may be the amount
of Damages claimed by a third party in a Third-Party Claim); and (c) a description, in reasonable
detail (to the extent known or reasonably available to any Indemnified Party), of the facts,
circumstances or events giving rise to the alleged Damages and the basis for indemnification
hereunder. A Notice of Claim may be updated and amended from time to time by Parent by
delivering an updated or amended Notice of Claim to the Representative, so longas such update
or amendment only asserts bases for Damages arising out of the same underlying facts and
circumstances specifically set forth in such original Notice of Claim. All Claims properly set
forth in a timely asserted original Notice of Claim or any update or amendment thereto shall
remain outstanding until such Claims for Damages have been finally resolved or satisfied.

7.5 Resolution of Notice of Claim.

(@) Each Notice of Claim shall be resolved as follows:

(i) Accepted Claims. If, within sixty (60) days after a Notice of Claim
is received by the Representative, the Representative accepts such Notice of Claim in
writing to Parent as provided in this Section 7.5(a)(i), the Representative shall be
conclusively deemed to have consented, on behalf of all Indemnifying Parties, to the
recovery by the applicable Indemnified Party of the full amount of Damages (subject to
the limitations contained in Section 7.3) expressly specified in the Notice of Claim,
including the forfeiture of the applicable portion of the Escrow Amount (in which case,
the Representative and Parent shall execute a joint written instruction to the Escrow
Agentinstructing the Escrow Agent to release to Parent from the Escrow Fund an amount
equal to the amount set forth in such accepted Notice of Claim).

(i) Contested Claims. If the Representative gives Parent written notice
contesting all or any portion of a Notice of Claim or fails to accept a Notice of Claim in
accordance with Section 7.5(a)(i) (a “Contested Claim”) within the 60-day period
specified in Section 7.5(a)(i), then such Contested Claim shall be resolved by either (A) a
written settlement agreement executed by Parent and the Representative or (B) in the
absence of such a written settlement agreement within thirty (30) days following receipt
by Parent of the written notice from the Representative (or such longer period as agreed
by Parent and the Representative), in accordance with the terms and provisions of Section

7.5(b).

(b) Resolution of Contested Claims. Either Parent or the Representative may
bring suit in accordance with Section 9.1 to resolve a Contested Claim. Final judgment upon any
award rendered by the trial court may be entered in any court having jurisdiction.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Parent and the Representative mutually agree in their sole
discretion, Parent and the Representative may submit a Contested Claim to alternative dispute
resolution prior to, or in lieu of, pursuing the claim in court.
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(c) Payment of Claims. If any amount is determined, agreed or deemed
agreed to be owed to any Indemnified Party in accordance with this Section 7.5, then (i) first,
Parent shall receive a portion of the Escrow Amount with a value equal to such amount in which
case, the Representative and Parent shall execute a joint written instruction to the Escrow Agent
instructing the Escrow Agent to release to Parent from the Escrow Fund such amounts (or, if
such amount exceeds the amounts then remaining in the Escrow Fund, the entire remaining
Escrow Fund), and (ii) second, if the amounts remaining in the Escrow Fund are insufficient to
cover the full amount that is determined, agreed or deemed agreed to be owed to such
Indemnified Party, or if all of the Escrow Fund has been previously forfeited to Parent or
released to the Indemnifying Parties pursuant to Section 7.7, then, subject to the limitations
contained in Section 7.3, each Excess Indemnifying Party shall, within thirty (30) Business Days
following the date such amount is determined, agreed or deemed agreed to be owed, pay such
Excess Indemnifying Party’s Excess Pro Rata Share of the amount owed to such Indemnified
Party (the “Owed Amount”). If an Excess Indemnifying Party is a Participating Holder, the
Owed Amount may be satisfied, at such Participating Holder’s option, by the delivery of cash
and/or Parent Shares (valuing such Parent Shares based on the Reference Price for such purpose,
and with the amount attributable to any fractional shares to be paid in cash). If an Excess
Indemnifying Party is not a Participating Holder, the Owed Amount shall be satisfied by the
payment of cash by such Indemnifying Party. The Representative hereby agrees to give notice to
each Excess Indemnifying Party of such payment obligation within five (5) Business Days of
such determination, agreement or deemed agreement so long as it is understood by the Parties
that the Representative will only provide notice to the Excess Indemnifying Parties whose email
addresses have been provided by the Company and such noticeswill only be provided via
electronic mail.

7.6 Defense of Third-Party Claims. All claims for indemnification made under this
Agreement resulting from, related to or arising out of a claim by a third party (a “Third-Party
Claim”) againstan Indemnified Party shall be made in accordance with the following procedures.
Parent shall notify the Representative within thirty (30) days after receipt by the Indemnified
Party of notice of any Third-Party Claim or, if earlier, upon the assertion of any such claim by a
third party, and shall describe in reasonable detail (to the extent then known by the Indemnified
Party) the facts constituting the basis for such Third-Party Claim and the amount of the claimed
Damages. At any time after delivery of such notice of a Third-Party Claim, the Representative, on
behalf of the Indemnifying Parties, may, upon written notice thereof to the Indemnified Party,
assume control of the defense of such Third-Party Claim with counsel reasonably satisfactory to
the Indemnified Party; provided that (i) the Representative may only assume control of such
defense if (A) the ad damnum in such Third-Party Claim, taken together with the estimated costs
of defense thereof and the amount of the claimed Damages with respect to any unresolved claims
for indemnification then pending, is less than or equal to the applicable liability cap as set forth in
Section 7.3 and (B) the Representative has agreed that the Indemnified Party is entitled to recover
any Damages with respect to such Claim pursuant to this Article 7, subject to the limitations set
forth herein, and (ii) the Representative may not assume control of the defense of any Third-Party
Claim involving criminal liability or a claim by a Governmental Authority. If the Representative
does not assume control of such defense, the Indemnified Party shall control such defense. The
party not controlling such defense may participate therein at its own expense; provided, that if the
Representative assumes control of such defense and the Indemnified Party reasonably concludes,
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based on advice from counsel, that the Indemnifying Parties and the Indemnified Party have
conflicting interests with respect to such Third-Party Claim, the reasonable fees and expenses of
counsel to the Indemnified Party solely in connection therewith shall be considered “Damages”
for purposes of this Agreement; provided, however, that in no event shall the Indemnifying
Parties be responsible for the fees and expenses of more than one (1) counsel for all Indemnified
Parties. The party controlling such defense shall keep the other parties advised of the status of
such Third-Party Claim and the defense thereof and shall consider recommendations made by the
other parties with respect thereto. The Indemnified Party shall not agree to any settlement or
compromise of such Third-Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Representative on
behalf of the Indemnifying Parties. Neither the Representative nor the Indemnifying Parties shall
agree to any settlement or compromise of such Third-Party Claim that does not include a
complete release of the Indemnified Party from all liability with respect thereto or that imposes
any liability or obligation on the Indemnified Party without the prior written consent of the
Indemnified Party.

7.7 Escrow Arrangement.

(@) The Escrow Fund shall be available to indemnify, compensate and
reimburse the Indemnified Parties for any Damages for which they are entitled to recover in
accordance with the terms of this Article 7 and Article 8, which will occur through the delivery
of the applicable portion of the Escrow Fund to Parent in accordance with the terms of this
Section 7.7(a). Any Damages that are to be satisfied through the delivery of any portion of the
Escrow Fund to Parent pursuant to this Article 7 or Article 8 shall be satisfied by delivery to
Parent, on behalf of the Indemnifying Parties, of the Escrow Amount with a value equal to the
applicable Damages.

(b)  The Escrow Agent shall deliver to the Indemnifying Parties the portion of
the Escrow Fund, if any, that has not previously been delivered to Parent less the portion of the
Escrow Fund having a value equal to the amount that may be necessary to satisfy all unresolved,
unsatisfied or disputed Claims for Damages specified in any Notice of Claim delivered to the
Representative before the Expiration Date (based on the total amount of Damages reasonably
being claimed by Indemnified Parties in good faith in such unresolved, unsatisfied or disputed
Claims). If any Claim is unresolved, unsatisfied or disputed as of the Expiration Date, then the
Escrow Agent shall retain possession and custody of the portion of the Escrow Fund with a value
that equals the total amount of Damages then being reasonably claimed by Indemnified Parties in
good faith in all such unresolved, unsatisfied or disputed Claims, and as soon as all such Claims
have been resolved and all amounts owed to the Indemnifying Parties paid therefrom, Parent and
the Representative shall, subject to Section 7.8, jointly direct the Escrow Agent to deliver such
remaining amounts to the Indemnifying Parties.

(c) Each delivery of any portion of the Escrow Amount to Indemnifying
Parties pursuant to Section 7.7(b) shall be made by Parent in proportion to the Indemnifying
Parties’ respective Pro Rata Shares of the Escrow Amount being delivered.

7.8  Payment of Escrow Amount. With respectto any portion of the Escrow Amount
to be released to Indemnifying Parties pursuant to Section 7.7:
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@) if any Indemnifying Party who held shares of Company Capital Stock has
not satisfied the Payment Condition prior to the date on which such Escrow Amountis to be
released or paid to such Indemnifying Party, then any portion of the Escrow Amount that would
otherwise be released or paid to such Indemnifying Party shall be held by Parent, without
interest, until such Indemnifying Party satisfies the Payment Condition; and

(b) unless the Indemnifying Parties provides updated payment delivery
instructions to the Representative, each delivery of any portion of the Escrow Amountto a
particular Indemnifying Party shall be effected in accordance with the payment delivery
instructions set forth in the Spreadsheet.

7.9  Tax Consequences of Indemnification Payments. All payments (if any) made to an
Indemnified Party pursuant to any indemnification, compensation or reimbursement obligations
under this Article 7 or pursuant to Article 8 will be treated as adjustments to the Merger
Consideration for Tax purposes and such agreed treatment will govern for purposes of this
Agreement, unless otherwise required by Law.

7.10  No Right of Contribution. After the Closing, no Indemnifying Party nor the
Representative acting on their behalf shall have any right of contribution against the Company or
the Surviving Entity with respect to any breach by the Company of any of its representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements in this Agreement.

7.11  Exclusive Remedy. Followingthe Closing, except for (i) claims for Fraud against
any Indemnifying Party who committed such Fraud or (ii) rights and remedies with respect to
post-Closing covenants of a party as to that party only, as are set forth in a separate written
agreement, the rights to indemnification, compensation or reimbursement under this Article 7 and
the provisions of Article 8 shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of any Indemnified Party or any
other person claiming by, through or on behalf of an Indemnified Party with respect to any and all
claims arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the Mergers or the other transactions
contemplated herein (irrespective of the cause of action, whether in contract, tort or otherwise).

7.12  Appointment of Representative.

€)) By voting in favor of the adoption of this Agreement or participating in
the Merger and receiving the benefits thereof, each Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to have
approved the designation of and hereby designates the Representative, as of the Closing, as the
representative of the Indemnifying Parties and as the attorney-in-fact and agent for and on behalf
of each Indemnifying Party for all purposes in connection with this Agreement and the
agreements ancillary hereto, including with respect to Claims under this Article 7 and the taking
by the Representative of any and all actions and the making of any decisions required or
permitted to be taken by the Representative under this Agreement, including the exercise of the
power to: (i) give and receive all notices and communications required to be given or received by
the Indemnifying Parties (on behalf of itself or any other Indemnified Party) relating to this
Agreement or any of the transactions and other matters contemplated hereby, (ii) authorize
Parent and any other applicable Indemnified Party to be indemnified, reimbursed or compensated
for Damages, including through the forfeiture by Indemnifying Parties of all or any portion of the
Escrow Fund or through direct recovery from Indemnifying Parties, in satisfaction of Claims by
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Parent or any other Indemnified Party pursuant to this Article 7, (iii) agree to, object to,
negotiate, resolve, enter into settlements and compromises of, demand litigation of, and comply
with orders of courts with respect to (A) Claims by Parent or any other Indemnified Party
pursuant to this Article 7 or (B) any dispute between any Indemnified Party and any such
Indemnifying Party, in each case, relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions or other
matters contemplated hereby, (iv) execute and deliver all amendments, waivers, ancillary
agreements, certificates and documents that the Representative deems necessary or appropriate in
connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, (v) give any written
direction to the Escrow Agent on behalf of any Indemnifying Party, (vi) receive service of
process in connection with any claims under this Agreement, and (vii) take all actions necessary
or appropriate in the judgment of the Representative for the accomplishment of the foregoing.
The Representative shall have authority and power to act on behalf of each Indemnifying Party
with respect to the disposition, settlement or other handling of all Claims under this Article 7 and
all rights or obligations arising under this Article 7. The Indemnifying Parties and their
respective successors, heirs, estates and assigns shall be bound by all actions taken and
documents executed by the Representative in connection with this Article 7, and Parentand the
other Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to rely on any action or decision of the Representative.
The Indemnifying Parties recognize and intend that the power of attorney granted in this Section
7.12(a) and the powers, immunities and rights to indemnification granted to the Representative
hereunder: (1) are coupled with an interest and are irrevocable; (2) may be delegated by the
Representative; and (3) shall survive the death, incapacity, dissolution, liquidation, bankruptcy or
winding up of each of the Indemnifying Parties and shall be binding on any successor thereto.
Each Indemnifying Party (x) agrees that all actions taken by the Representative under this
Agreement shall be binding upon such Indemnifying Party and such Indemnifying Party’s
successors as if expressly confirmed and ratified in writing by such Indemnifying Party and (y)
waives any and all defenses which may be available to contest, negate or disaffirm the action of
the Representative taken in good faith under this Agreement. The Representative shall only have
the duties expressly stated in this Agreement and shall have no other duty, express or implied.
The Representative may engage attorneys, accountants and other professionals and experts. The
Representative may rely conclusively upon information, reports, statements and opinions
prepared or presented by such professionals, and any action taken by the Representative based on
such reliance shall be deemed conclusively to have been taken in good faith. Parent may
conclusively rely, without independent verification or investigation, upon any action of the
Representative as being the binding decision or action of the Indemnifying Parties, and Parent
shall not be liable to any Indemnifying Party or any other Person for any actions taken or omitted
from being taken by them or by Parent in accordance with or reliance upon any decision or
action of the Representative. The Person serving as the Representative may be replaced from
time to time by the holders of a majority in interest of the Merger Consideration payable to the
Indemnifying Parties (the “Requisite Indemnifying Parties™). The Representative may resign
upon 20 days’ written notice delivered to the Requisite Indemnifying Parties and Parent. If the
Representative shall resign, the Requisite Indemnifying Parties shall, within 20 days after such
resignation, appoint a successor to the Representative. If no such successor is appointed within
20 days after such resignation, Fortis Advisors LLC shall be deemed the Representative until the
Requisite Indemnifying Parties appoint a successor to the Representative. No bond shall be
required of the Representative. Following Closing, notices or communications to or fromthe
Representative shall constitute notice to or from each of the Indemnifying Parties.
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(b)  The Representative and the members of any advisory committee
established to provide guidance to Representative (the “Advisory Committee™), in each
member’s capacity as such, established under the Representative’s engagement letter
(collectively, the “Representative Group”) will notincur any liability of any kind to the
Indemnifying Parties with respect to any action or omission by the Representative Group in
connection with the Representative’s services pursuant to this Agreement and any agreements
ancillary hereto, except in the event of liability directly resulting from the Representative’s or the
members’ of the Advisory Committee, as applicable, gross negligence or willful misconduct.
The Representative Group shall not be liable for any action or omission pursuant to the advice of
counsel. The Indemnifying Parties shall indemnify the Representative against any reasonable,
documented, and out-of-pocket losses, liabilities and expenses (“Representative Losses”)
arising out of or in connection with this Agreement and any related agreements, in each case as
such Representative Loss is suffered or incurred; provided, that in the event that any such
Representative Loss is finally adjudicated to have been caused by the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of the Representative, the Representative will reimburse the Indemnifying Parties the
amount of such indemnified Representative Loss to the extent attributable to such gross
negligence or willful misconduct. Representative Losses may be recovered by the Representative
from (i) the Representative Expense Amount and (ii) any other funds that become payable to the
Indemnifying Parties under this Agreement at such time as such amounts would otherwise be
distributable to the Indemnifying Parties; provided, that while the Representative may be paid
from the aforementioned sources of funds, this does not relieve the Indemnifying Parties from
their obligation to promptly pay such Representative Lossesas they are suffered or incurred. In
no event will the Representative be required to advance its own funds on behalf of the
Indemnifying Parties or otherwise. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary,
any restrictions or limitations on liability or indemnification obligations of, or provisions limiting
the recourse against non-parties otherwise applicable to, the Indemnifying Parties set forth
elsewhere in this Agreement are not intended to be applicable to the indemnities provided to the
Representative Group under this section. The foregoing indemnities will survive the Closing, the
resignation or removal of any member of the Representative Group or the termination of this
Agreement.

(c)  Atthe Closing, Parent shall pay the Representative Expense Amount to
the Representative, which will be used for any expenses incurred by the Representative. The
Indemnifying Parties will not receive any interest or earnings on the Representative Expense
Amountand irrevocably transfer and assign to the Representative any ownership right that they
may otherwise have had in any such interest or earnings. The Representative will hold these
funds separate from its corporate funds and will not voluntarily make these fundsavailable to its
creditors in the event of bankruptcy. As soon as practicable following the completion of the
Representative’s responsibilties, the Representative shall deliver any then remaining portion of
the Representative Expense Amount to the Escrow Agent, which will promptly pay a portion
thereof equal to each Indemnifying Holder in proportion to such Indemnifying Holder’s Pro Rata
Share of the portion being distributed. For tax purposes, the Representative Expense Amount
will be treated as having been received and voluntarily set aside by the Indemnifying Parties at
the time of Closing.
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7.13  Mitigation; Reduction of Damages. Each party shall (and shall cause its Affiliates
to) take all reasonable steps, including by pursuing all legal rights and remedies, available to
mitigate and minimize the Damages for which indemnification is provided to it under this Article
7, and the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any Damages to the extent the Indemnified
Party could have mitigated such Damages. Without limiting the foregoing, each party shall (and
shall cause its Affiliates to) cooperate and use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate any
Damages for which an Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification (including asserting claims
under available insurance policies and third parties to the extent available. All insurance proceeds
and amounts from third parties received by any Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliatesin
respect of any Damages shall reduce the Indemnifying Party’s obligations hereunder by the
amounts received (net of (i) reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Indemnified Party in
recovering such amounts and (ii) any increase in insurance premiums under the policies from
which the insurance proceeds are paid, payable by the Indemnified Party as a result of recovering
such amounts). In the event that any Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates receivesany
insurance proceeds with respect to any Damages subsequent to the receipt by such Indemnified
Party of any indemnification payment hereunder in respect of such Damages, appropriate refunds
shall be made promptly by the Indemnified Person to the Indemnifying Party of all or the relevant
portion of such indemnification payment (net of any related deductibles).

ARTICLE 8

TAXMATTERS

8.1  TaxReturns. Following the Closing Date, Parent shall prepare and file, or cause to
be prepared and filed, all Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company after the Closing Date
with respect to Pre-Closing Tax Periods. Such Tax Returns shall be prepared by treating items on
such Tax Returns in a manner consistent with the past practices of the Company with respect to
such items, exceptas required by Law. Parent shall permit the Representative, at the Company
Stockholders’ expense, to review and comment on each such Tax Return that may resultin
indemnification obligations under Section 7.2 at least fifteen (15) days prior to the due date
thereof, and Parent shall consider such comments in good faith.

8.2  Cooperation. Following Closing, Parent and the Representative agree to furnish or
cause to be furnished to the other, upon request, as promptly as practicable, such information in
its reasonable possession and assistance relating to Taxes, including access to books and records,
as is reasonably necessary for the filing of all Tax Returns by Parent, the making of any election
relating to Taxes, the preparation for any audit by any Tax authority and the prosecution or
defense of any claim, suit or proceeding relating to any Tax. Each of Parent, the Company and
the Representative shall retain all books and records in their possession with respect to Taxes for
a period of at least seven years following the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any
other provision herein to the contrary, in no event shall the Representative be entitled to review or
otherwise have accessto any income Tax Return, or information related thereto, of Parent or its
Affiliates (other than income Tax Returns of the Company for Pre-Closing Tax Periods).

8.3 Tax Audits.
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@) If notice of any Action or threatened Action with respect to Taxes of the
Company (a “Tax Claim”) shall be received by any party for which any other party may
reasonably be expected to be liable, the notified party shall notify such other party or parties in
writing of such Tax Claim; provided, however, that the failure of the notified party to give any
other party notice as provided hereinshall not relieve such other party of its indemnification
obligations under Article 7 except to the extent that such other party is actually and materially
prejudiced thereby. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, to the extent thata
provision of this Section 8.3 directly conflicts with any provision of Article 7, this Section 8.3
shall govern.

(b) Parent shall have the right to control the conduct of any Tax Claim of the
Company. To the extenta Tax Claim relates to Taxes attributable to a Pre-Closing Tax Period,
Parent shall (i) keep the Representative reasonably informed of all material developments ona
timely basis, (ii) provide to the Representative copies of any and all correspondence fromany
Governmental Authority related to such Tax Claim, (iii) provide the Representative with the
opportunity to attend conferences with the relevant Governmental Authority (if reasonably
practical) and (iv) not settle, adjust or otherwise resolve such Tax Claim without consent of the
Representative (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), if such settlement or
other compromise would give rise to Taxes for which the Company Securityholders are required
to indemnify Parent pursuant to Article 7.

8.4  Transfer Taxes. Anytransfer, stamp, documentary, sales, use, registration, VAT
and other similar Taxes (including all applicable real estate transfer Taxes) incurred in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (“Transfer Taxes”) will be borne by fifty
percent (50%) by the Parentand fifty percent (50%) by the Company Stockholders. The
Person(s) required to do so under applicable Law agree to file or cause to be filed in a timely
manner all necessary documents (including all Tax Returns) with respect to all such amounts for
which the Company Stockholders are so liable. The Person(s) required to file such Tax Returns
shall provide Parent with evidence satisfactory to Parent that such Transfer Taxes have been paid
by the Company Stockholders.

8.5  Post Closing Actions. Unless required by applicable Law, Parent shall not (and
shall not cause or permit the Company to) amend any previously filed Tax Return or Tax election,
initiate any voluntary disclosure agreement in each case, for the Company with respect to any Tax
period ending on or prior to the Closing Date, without the prior written consent of the
Representative (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), and
in each case, solely to the extent such action could reasonably be expected to create or increase
the indemnification obligations of the Indemnifying Parties for Taxes under Article 7.

8.6  FIRPTA. Parentshall have received a properly executed statement, issued by the
Company pursuant to Treasury Regulations Sections 1.897-2(h) and 1.1445-2(c)(3) dated no more
than thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date and signed by an officer of the Company, and in
form and substance set forth on Exhibit | hereto, certifying that interests in the Company,
including shares of Company Capital Stock, do not constitute “United States real property
interests” under Section 897(c) of the Code and the Company shall have provided notice to the
IRS in accordance with the provisions of Treasury Regulations Section 1.897-2(h)(2).
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ARTICLE 9
MISCELLANEOUS

9.1  Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue. This Agreement shall be governedand
construed in accordance with the Laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of
law principles. The parties hereto agree that they shall bring any and all actions, litigation, or
proceedings arising out of, in connection with, or in any way relating to this Agreement (or any
documents referred to in this Agreement or any transactions contemplated hereby), including, but
not limited to, any action or proceeding involving any Contested Claim under Section 7.5(b)),
exclusively in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or only to the extent that such
court lacks or declines to accept jurisdiction over a particular matter, exclusively in any state or
federal court within the State of Delaware. In accordance with the terms provided in this Section
9.1, the parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts and
hereby waive, and agree not to assert to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law that (i) they
are not personally subject to the jurisdiction of such courts, (ii) such party and such party’s
property is immune fromany legal processissued by such courts, (iii) that venue is improper in
such courts, and (iv) any action, litigation, or proceeding commenced in such court as provided
hereunder is an inconvenient forum. The parties hereby agree that mailing of process or other
papers in connection with any such action, litigation, or proceeding in the manner provided in
Section 9.8, or in such other manner as may be permitted by applicable Law, shall be valid and
sufficient service thereof and hereby waive any objectionsto service accomplished in the manner
herein provided. The parties hereby agree that a judgment rendered by a court exercising
jurisdiction in accordance with this Section 9.1 may be enforced in any court having competent
jurisdiction and that nothing herein shall affect the jurisdiction or ability of any appellate court
authorized to adjudicate any appeal of any judgment, decision, opinion, or ruling issued pursuant
to this Section 9.1.

9.2  Assignment; Binding Upon Successors and Assigns. Neither this Agreement nor
any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement may be assigned or delegated, in
whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise by any of the parties hereto without the prior
written consent of the other parties hereto, and any such assignment without such prior written
consent shall be null and void, except that Parent may, after the Closing, assign this Agreement to
any direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent or to any Person who acquires all or
substantially all of the assets of Parent or a majority of the outstanding voting securities of Parent
(whether by merger, consolidation, share purchase or otherwise) without the prior consent of any
other party hereto. Subjectto the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure
to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective successors and
assigns.

9.3  Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof, shall
for any reason and to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, then the remainder of this
Agreement and the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall be
interpreted so as reasonably to effect the intent of the parties hereto.

9.4  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts
(including via facsimile, .pdf or other electronic means), each of which shall be an original as
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regards any party whose signature appearsthereon and all of which together shall constitute one
and the same instrument. This Agreement shall become binding when one or more counterparts
hereof, individually or taken together, shall bear the signatures of all parties reflected hereon as
signatories.

9.5  Other Remedies. Exceptas otherwise expressly provided herein, any and all
remedies herein expressly conferred upon a party hereunder shall be deemed cumulative with and
not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby or by Law on such party, and the exercise of
any one remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any other. The parties hereto agree that
irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were
not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached, and that money
damages or other legal remedies would not be an adequate remedy for any such damage. Itis
accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions (without
posting a bond or other security) to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically
the terms and provisions hereof in any court of the United States or any State having jurisdiction,
this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.

9.6 Amendments and Waivers.

(@) This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto by an instrument in
writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto at any time before or after any approval
hereof by the stockholders of the Company and Merger Sub; provided, however, that after the
receipt of Written Consents constituting the Stockholder Approval, no amendment shall be made
that requires further approval by the Company Stockholders under the DGCL without obtaining
such requisite approval.

(b)  Atany time prior to the Effective Time, the Company (in the case of
Parent or the Merger Subs) or Parent (in the case of the Company), and at any time after the
Effective Time, the Representative (in the case of Parent or the Surviving Corporation or
Surviving Entity) or Parent (in the case of the Representative), may, to the extent legally
allowed, (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the
other party hereunder, (ii) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the
other party contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (iii) waive
compliance by the other party with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any
agreement on the part of a party hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set
forth in a written instrument signed on behalf of the party against which such waiver or extension
is to be enforced. Without limiting the generality or effect of the preceding sentence, no delay in
exercising any right under this Agreement shall constitute a waiver of such right, and no waiver
of any breach or default shall be deemed a waiver of any other breach or default of the same or
any other provision in this Agreement.

9.7  Expenses. Exceptas otherwise expressly provided herein, each party shall bear its
respective legal, accounting, and financial advisory fees and other expenses incurred with respect
to this Agreement, the Mergers and the transactions contemplated hereby, it being the intention of
the parties that the Unpaid Transaction Expenses be taken into account in calculating the Base
Cash Consideration as set forth herein and, to the extent not so taken into account, shall be
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Damages for which Parent is entitled to be indemnified, reimbursed and compensated for under
Article 7.

9.8  Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted under this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be either hand delivered in person, sent by facsimile, sent
by electronic mail, sent by certified or registered first-class mail, postage pre-paid, or sent by
nationally recognized express overnight service. Such notices and other communications shall be
effective and be deemed delivered and received (a) upon receipt if hand delivered, (b) on the date
of transmission if transmitted by facsimile or electronic mail by 5:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on a
Business Day, otherwise on the next Business Day after transmission, (c) three (3) Business Days
after mailing if sent by mail, and (d) one (1) Business Day after dispatch if sent by overnight
courier, to the following addresses, or such other addresses as any party may notify the other
parties in accordance with this Section 9.8:

If to Parent, either Merger Sub or, following the Closing, the Company:

Harness Inc.

116 New Montgomery Street #200
San Francisco, CA 94105
Attention: Jyoti Bansal, CEO
E-Mail: jyoti@harness.io

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Goodwin Procter LLP

601 Marshall Street

Redwood City, CA 94063

Attention: Caine Moss

Fax No.:

E-Mail: cmoss@goodwinlaw.com

If to the Company prior to the Closing:

ZeroNorth, Inc.

PO Box 120255

Boston, MA 02112

Attention: John Worrall

Fax No.:

E-Mail: jworrall@zeronorth.io

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
60 State Street

Boston, MA 02109

Attention: Hal J. Leibowitz, Esq.
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Fax No.: (617) 526-5000
E-Mail: hal.leibowitz@wilmerhale.com

Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
60 State Street

Boston, MA 02109

Attention: Jason L. Kropp, Esq.

Fax No.: (617) 526-5000

E-Mail: jason.kropp@wilmerhale.com

If to the Representative, or to the Indemnifying Parties after Closing:

Shareholder Representative Services LLC
950 17t Street, Suite 1400

Denver, CO 80202

Attention: Managing Director

Email: deals@srsacquiom.com
Telephone: (303) 648-4085

9.9 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES
AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND
THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY
WAIVES ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF
ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO
THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS
AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY HERETO CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A)
NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS
REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD
NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER,
(B) SUCH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF
THIS WAIVER, (C) SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (D)
SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, THE WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 9.9.

9.10 Interpretation; Rules of Construction. The terms “hereof,” “herein” and similar
terms refer to this Agreement as a whole (including the Company Disclosure Letter and the
Exhibits and Schedules hereto) and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, and whena
reference is made in this Agreement to Exhibits, Schedules, Sections or Articles, such reference
shall be to an Exhibit or Schedule to, Section or Article of this Agreement, respectively, unless
otherwise indicated. The words “either” and “or” are not exclusive and the words “include,”
“includes” and “including” when used herein shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the
words “without limitation.” The phrase “date of this Agreement” refersto the date set forth in the
initial caption of this Agreement. The word “extent” in the phrase “to the extent” means the
degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase does not mean simply “if”. The
words “asset” or “property” shall be construed as having the same meaning and effect. When a
reference is made to a specific Law, act or statute, such reference shall include any regulations
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promulgated thereunder. Any agreement, instrument or statute defined or referred to herein
means such agreement, instrument, or statute, in each case, as fromtime to time amended,
modified or supplemented (in the case of agreements or instruments, if permitted under this
Agreement), including (in the case of agreements or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the
case of statutes) by succession or comparable successor statutes. The headings contained in this
Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement. The terms defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in
this Agreement and include plural as well as the singular. Accounting terms not otherwise
defined have the meaning assigned to them in accordance with GAAP Pronouns of either gender
or neuter shall include, as appropriate, the other pronoun forms. Unless stated otherwise, the
terms “dollars” and “$” shall mean United States dollars. The parties hereto agree that they have
been represented by legal counsel during the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and,
therefore, waive the application of any Law, regulation, holding or rule of construction providing
that ambiguities in an agreement or other document shall be construed against the party drafting
such agreement or document. Any action required by the terms hereof to be taken on a specific
day that is not a Business Day shall instead be required to be taken on the next succeeding
Business Day, and if the last day of a time period specified herein is a non-Business Day, such
period shall be deemed to end on the next succeeding Business Day. Any amounts included in
the calculation of the Base Cash Consideration as part of Closing Indebtedness, Unpaid
Transaction Expenses, Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes or Unpaid Wage Obligations shall only be
counted once even if such amount could be deemed to be covered by more than one such term.
Time shall be of the essence in this Agreement.

9.11 Third-Party Beneficiary Rights. None of the provisions of this Agreement are
intended, nor shall be interpreted, to provide or create any third-party beneficiary rights or any
other rights of any kind in any client, customer, employee, Affiliate, stockholder, partner or any
party hereto or any other Person unless specifically provided otherwise herein and, except as so
provided, all provisions hereof shall be personal solely between the parties to this Agreement;
provided, however, that Article 7 is intended to benefit the Indemnified Parties, Section 7.3 is
intended to benefit the underwriters in connection with Parent’s initial public offering, and
Section 5.1 is intended to benefit the Covered Persons.

9.12  Public Announcement. Followingthe Closing, the Representative shall not, and
shall cause its respective Affiliates and representativesnot to, issue any press releases or make
any public announcements or disclosures relating to this Agreement, the Mergers or the other
transactions contemplated hereby without Parent’s prior written consent, except for disclosures
required by applicable Laws or regulatory or stock exchange rules.

9.13 Confidentiality.

(@) The parties acknowledge that the Company and Parent previously have
executed the Confidentiality Agreement, which will continue in full force and effect in
accordance with its terms until the Effective Time, at which time it shall terminate and be of no
further force and effect; provided that nothing in the Confidentiality Agreement shall be deemed
to restrict Parent’s rights under this Section 9.13.
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(b)  The Representative hereby agrees to hold this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby, and all information received by the Representative with
respect hereto or thereto or in connection herewith (including any information obtained with
respect to any Claims), in confidence and not disclose the existence or terms hereof or any such
information to any third-party (other than as required by Law or to the Indemnifying Parties or
employees, advisors, agents or consultants of the Representative, in each case who have a need
to know such information, provided that such Persons are subject to an obligation to keep such
information confidential).

9.14 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Exhibits and Schedules hereto, the
Company Disclosure Letter, the Parent Ancillary Agreements, the Confidentiality Agreementand
the Merger Sub Ancillary Agreements constitute the entire understanding and agreement of the
parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior and
contemporaneous agreements or understandings, inducements or conditions, express or implied,
written or oral, between the parties with respect hereto or thereto. The express terms hereof
control and supersede any course of performance or usage of the trade inconsistent with any of the
terms hereof.

9.15 Waiver of Conflicts Regarding Representation; Non-Assertion of Attorney-Client
Privilege.

(@) Effective as of the Closing, Parent hereby waives and agrees not to assert,
and Parent agrees to cause the Surviving Corporation and the Surviving Entity, as applicable, to
waive and notto assert, any conflict of interest arising out of or relating to any representation
after the Closing (any “Post-Closing Representation”) of the Representative, any Company
Securityholder, any of their respective Affiliates or any director, manager, officer or employee of
the Representative, any Company Securityholder, the Surviving Corporation or the Surviving
Entity, as applicable (any such Person, a “Designated Person™) in any matter involving this
Agreement or any agreement, certificate, instrument or other document executed or delivered
pursuant to this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby or thereby (including any
litigation, arbitration, mediation or other proceeding and including any matter regarding the
negotiation, execution, performance or enforceability hereof or thereof) by Wilmer Cutler
Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP and any other legal counsel currently representing any Designated
Person in connection with this Agreement or any agreement, certificate, instrument or other
document executed or delivered pursuant to this Agreement or any transaction contemplated
hereby or thereby (including the negotiation, execution or performance hereof or thereof) (the
“Current Representation”).

(b) Effective as of the Closing, Parent hereby agrees not to control or assert,
and Parent agrees to cause the Surviving Corporation and the Surviving Entity, as applicable, not
to control or assert, any attorney-client privilege, work product protection or other similar
privilege or protection applicable to any communication between any legal counsel and any
Designated Person during the Current Representation (“Covered Communication”) in
connection with any Post-Closing Representation, including in connection with a dispute with
Parent or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Surviving Entity), it being the
intention of the Parties that all rights of any Person under or with respect to such attorney-client
privilege, work product protection or other similar privilege or protection, including the right to
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waive, assert and otherwise control such attorney-client privilege, work product protection or
other similar privilege or protection, shall be (and are hereby) transferred to or retained by (as
applicable), and vested solely in, such Designated Person. No access following the Closing by
Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the Surviving Entity, as applicable, to any Covered
Communication shall waive or otherwise alter the rights of any Designated Person with respect
to any Covered Communication and neither Parent nor the Surviving Corporation or the
Surviving Entity, as applicable, shall, and each shall cause its Affiliates not to, use any Covered
Communication or the contents of any Covered Communication in any dispute with any
Designated Person in any matter involving this Agreement or any agreement, certificate,
instrument or other document executed or delivered pursuant to this Agreement or any
transaction contemplated hereby or thereby (including any litigation, arbitration, mediation or
other proceeding and including any matter regarding the negotiation, execution, performance or
enforceability hereof or thereof).

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 17091801-7238-4A0D-94EF-57A311F36AB0

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date
first above written.

PARENT

HARNESS, INC.

DocuSigned by:

Yot Pansal,
By' . j‘zs?lilBAECEztaztBE...

Name: Jyoti Bansal
Title: Chief Executive Officer

MERGER SUB |

PROJECT PROTECT MERGER SUB I, INC.

DocuSigned by:

By: I j‘?bﬁ 6(11/\4501,
f\‘ SOFOBAB2CEAB4BE... |

are. Jyul pdi Ibal

Title: President

MERGER SUB 11
PROJECT PROTECT MERGER SUB I, LLC

DocuSigned by:

i Bonsol

By. 39FOBABRCE4B4BE ...

Name: Jyoti Bansal
Title: President
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DocuSign Envelope ID: EOFABA27-07B6-45AA-BO8C-E52EB3216CEA

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date
first above written.

COMPANY

ZERONORTH, INC.

Jolun (Norvall

Name: John Worrall
Title: Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to Merger Agreement]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date
first above written.

REPRESENTATIVE

Shareholder Representative Services LLC, solely in
its capacity as the Representative

By: pd ’}_7)-/-;[
Name: Sam Riffe
Title: Managing Director

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF REORGANIZATION]
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Form of Stockholder Written Consent
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CONFIDENTIAL

ZERONORTH, INC.

ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE STOCKHOLDERS,
RELEASE AND WAIVER

THIS ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE STOCKHOLDERS, RELEASE
AND WAIVER (this “Written Consent™) is entered into by the undersigned holders (individually,
a “Signatory Stockholder” and collectively, the “Signatory Stockholders™), being (i) the holders of
a majority of the outstanding capital stock of ZeroNorth, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the
“Company™), and (ii) the holders of a majority of the outstanding preferred stock, $0.0001 par
value per share, of the Company (the “Company Preferred Stock™).

RECITALS:

A The Company intends to enter into the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (the
“Merger Agreement”), by and among Harness Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Buyer”), Project
Protect Merger Sub 1, Inc. a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Buyer
(“Merger Sub 1”), Project Protect Merger Sub I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Buyer (“Merger Sub I1”), the Company, and Shareholder
Representative Service LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, solely in its capacity as the
Representative (the “Representative™), in the form attached hereto as Annex A, pursuant to which,
subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub | shall merge with and
into the Company, and as part of the same overall transaction, the Company would then merge
with and into Merger Sub 11 (together, the “Merger”). All capitalized terms used and not otherwise
defined in this Written Consent shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the Merger Agreement.

B. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has (i) determined that the
Merger is advisable, fair and in the best interests of the Company and the holders of Company
Capital Stock (the “Company Stockholders”), (ii) adopted the Merger Agreement in accordance
with the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”),
(iii) directed that the Merger Agreement and the Merger be submitted to the Company
Stockholders for their adoption and approval and (iv) recommended that the Company
Stockholders adopt the Merger Agreement and approve the Merger.

C. The Board has appointed and has recommended that the Company Stockholders
approve the appointment of Shareholder Representative Service LLC, a Colorado limited liability
company, as the Representative, to perform such duties and have such rights as set forth in the
Merger Agreement.

D. In accordance with the DGCL, and the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, of the Company (the “Company Certificate of Incorporation™), the
affirmative vote or consent of the following is required to adopt the Merger Agreement and
approve the transactions contemplated thereby (and such votes are held by the Signatory
Stockholders): (i) a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock and Company
Preferred Stock, voting as a single class on an as-converted basis, and (ii) a majority of the
outstanding shares of Company Preferred Stock.
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E. Each Signatory Stockholder desires to approve the Merger, adopt the Merger
Agreement and be bound by the terms and conditions of those provisions of the Merger Agreement
purporting to bind the Company Stockholders.

F. In connection with and in furtherance of the Merger, each Signatory Stockholder
desires to approve and adopt an amendment to the Company Certificate of Incorporation to read
as set forth in Annex B attached hereto (the “Certificate of Amendment”).

G. Each Signatory Stockholder further desires to consent to the receipt of the
consideration (if any) set forth in the Merger Agreement in respect of all outstanding Company
Shares held by such Signatory Stockholder.

In accordance with Section 228 of the DGCL and any other applicable law and Article
FOURTH, Part A, Section 2 and Part B, Section 3.3 of the Company Certificate of Incorporation,
each Signatory Stockholder, with respect to the shares of the Company’s outstanding voting stock
held of record by such Signatory Stockholder, does hereby irrevocably consent to the adoption of,
and does hereby adopt, the following recitals and resolutions, without a formal meeting and
without prior notice:

1.  APPROVAL OF MERGER

WHEREAS, Section 144 of the DGCL provides that a transaction between a corporation
and one or more of its officers or directors or a corporation and another entity in which one or
more of its officers or directors has a financial interest or is an officer or director shall not be void
or voidable provided that either: (i) the material facts of that transaction are disclosed or known to
the board of directors of the corporation and the board authorizes the transaction by a majority of
the disinterested directors of the board; (ii) the material facts of that transaction are disclosed or
known to the stockholders and the stockholders authorize the transaction by a vote of the
stockholders; or (iii) the transaction is fair to the corporation as of the time it is authorized,
approved or ratified by the board of directors, a committee or the stockholders;

WHEREAS, it is hereby disclosed and made known to the Signatory Stockholders that:

(i) John Worrall is a director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and will
receive consideration in such capacity as a result of the Merger pursuant to and in accordance with
the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Retention Plan (as defined below);

(ii) Patrick Heim is a director and an affiliate of ClearSky Security Fund | LLC and its
affiliates, which will receive consideration as a result of the Merger pursuant to and in accordance
with the terms of the Merger Agreement, and will participate in the Bridge Financing (as defined
below)];

(iii) Matthew Bigge is a director and an affiliate of Crosslink Ventures VIII, L.P. and its
affiliates, which will receive consideration as a result of the Merger pursuant to and in accordance
with the terms of the Merger Agreement, and will participating in the Bridge Financing;
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(iv) Arthur Coviello is a director and is associated with Rally Ventures Fund Ill, L.P. and
its affiliates, which will receive consideration as a result of the Merger pursuant to and in
accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, and will participating in the Bridge
Financing;

(v) Karen Higgins is an officer of the Company and will receive cash proceeds and deferred
cash consideration in such capacity as a result of the Merger pursuant to and in accordance with
the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Retention Plan; and

(vi) the directors and officers of the Company will each be named as a beneficiary under a
policy which insures the directors and officers of the Company against liability incurred in
connection with the directors’ and officers’ service to the Company, and that, pursuant to the
Merger Agreement and as a result of such interests, each of Messrs. Coviello, Heim, Bigge, Routh
and Worrall and Ms. Higgins may be deemed to be interested parties and the Merger and the
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement may be deemed to be interested party
transactions.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that, based on the recommendation of the
Board and after review and analysis of relevant information and documentation, the Merger
Agreement (including all exhibits and schedules thereto) be, and hereby is, adopted in all respects,
including in accordance with Section 144 of the DGCL, and the Merger and the other transactions
contemplated thereby, be, and hereby are, approved in all respects, including in accordance with
Section 144 of the DGCL;

RESOLVED FURTHER, that, consistent with the DGCL and the Company Certificate
of Incorporation, each share of Company Capital Stock shall be cancelled effective at the Effective
Time in exchange for the right to receive the consideration, if any, set forth in the Merger
Agreement;

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement by
the officers of the Company for and on behalf of the Company be, and hereby are, approved and
ratified;

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers of the Company be, and hereby are, authorized
and directed to do or cause to be done any and all such acts and things as they may deem necessary
or desirable for the performance in full of all obligations of the Company under the Merger
Agreement;

RESOLVED FURTHER, that any and all prior actions taken by the directors and officers
of the Company in connection with the Merger and the Merger Agreement be, and hereby are,
approved, adopted and ratified;

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the filing of the First Certificate of Merger pursuant to the
terms of the Merger Agreement be, and hereby is, authorized and approved; and

RESOLVED FURTHER, that any and all prior notice requirements or any other
procedural requirements under the Company Certificate of Incorporation, the DGCL or otherwise,
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including those relating to the Merger are hereby waived, on behalf of the Signatory Stockholders
and all other Company Stockholders.

3. APPROVAL OF CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT

RESOLVED, that the Certificate of Amendment is approved and adopted to be effective
immediately prior to the filing of the First Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the
State of Delaware at the Closing.

RESOLVED FURTHER, that, notwithstanding approval of the Certificate of
Amendment by the Company Stockholders, the Board may, at any time prior to the effectiveness
of the filing of the Certificate of Amendment with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware,
abandon the proposed Certificate of Amendment without further action by the Company
Stockholders.

4. GENERAL AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION

RESOLVED, that the officers of the Company be, and they hereby are, authorized and
directed, for and on behalf of the Company, to take or cause to be taken such other actions, and to
execute and deliver such further agreements, applications, certificates, documents and other
instruments, and any amendments and supplements thereto, as such officers, and each of them
may, in their discretion, deem necessary or appropriate to effect these resolutions and all other
transactions contemplated hereby, and to carry out the intent and accomplish the purpose of the
foregoing resolutions, and all such actions heretofore taken by such officers in connection herewith
are hereby approved and ratified.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS

RESOLVED, that each Signatory Stockholder understands, agrees to and acknowledges
that by signing this Written Consent, such Signatory Stockholder is agreeing, and does hereby
agree, to be bound by each of the provisions of the Merger Agreement that purports to bind
Company Stockholders; without limitation of the foregoing, from and after the Effective Time, for
the periods set forth in the Merger Agreement and subject to the limitations set forth in the Merger
Agreement, such Signatory Stockholder, solely to the extent such Signatory Stockholder is an
Indemnifying Party, is obligated to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer and the other Indemnified
Parties in respect of the matters and in the manner described in Article 7 of the Merger Agreement
and to indemnify the Representative pursuant to the Merger Agreement.

6. ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

RESOLVED, that:

a. this Written Consent shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the
parties hereto and the third party beneficiaries referenced in the following paragraph of this Written
Consent and their respective successors and permitted assigns (if any); provided, however, that no
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Signatory Stockholder may assign or transfer this Written Consent or any rights or obligations
hereunder (by operation of law or otherwise) to any person without Buyer’s prior written consent
and any assignment or transfer in violation of this proviso shall be null and void,

b. the Company, the Surviving Entity, the Representative, the Buyer and each of the
other Indemnified Parties are intended third party beneficiaries of this Written Consent and shall
be entitled to enforce this Written Consent against the undersigned in accordance with its terms;

c. each Signatory Stockholder hereby waives any right of first refusal, co-sale right,
and other similar rights, and any and all rights it may have to notice in connection with such rights,
with respect to the Merger or related transactions;

d. each Signatory Stockholder acknowledges and agrees that the third party
beneficiaries specified in Section 6(b) of this Written Consent would be irreparably damaged in
the event that any of the terms or provisions of this Written Consent are not performed in
accordance with their specific terms or otherwise are breached. Therefore, notwithstanding
anything to the contrary set forth in the Merger Agreement or in this Written Consent, each of the
Signatory Stockholders hereby agrees that (i) each of the third party beneficiaries specified in
Section 6(b) of this Written Consent shall be entitled to obtain an injunction or injunctions to
prevent breaches of any of the terms or provisions of this Written Consent, and to enforce
specifically the performance by each other party hereto under this Written Consent and (ii) the
right of specific enforcement is an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Written
Consent and without that right, neither the Company nor Buyer would have entered into the Merger
Agreement. Each Signatory Stockholder hereby agrees to waive the defense in any such suit that
any of the third party beneficiaries specified in Section 6(b) of this Written Consent has an
adequate remedy at law and to interpose no opposition, legal or otherwise, as to the propriety of
injunction or specific performance as a remedy, and hereby agrees to waive any requirement to
post any bond in connection with obtaining such relief. The equitable remedies described in this
Section 6(d) shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies at law or in equity that
any of the third party beneficiaries specified in Section 6(b) of this Written Consent may elect to
pursue;

e. each Signatory Stockholder acknowledges that (i) this Written Consent is intended
to be a material inducement for Buyer, Merger Sub | and Merger Sub |1 to enter into the Merger
Agreement and effect the transactions contemplated thereby, and (ii) Buyer, Merger Sub | and
Merger Sub Il will be relying on such Signatory Stockholder’s execution and delivery to the
Company of this Written Consent and such Signatory Stockholder’s agreement to be bound by the
terms hereof, in determining whether to proceed to consummate the Merger;

f. each Signatory Stockholder acknowledges that he, she or it has received and
reviewed and understands the terms of the Merger Agreement and all schedules and exhibits
thereto, and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of those provisions of the Merger
Agreement purporting to bind the Company Stockholders, including the designation of the
Representative and any and all indemnification, reimbursement and other payment obligations of
the Company Stockholders;
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g. each Signatory Stockholder acknowledges and agrees that to the extent such
Signatory Stockholder is a party to any contract set forth on Annex C (each a “Terminated
Contract™) by and between the Company and the other parties thereto, such Signatory Stockholder
consents and agrees to the termination of such contract effective as of the Effective Time and
agrees that any rights and obligations such Signatory Stockholder may have under such contract
shall terminate upon the Effective Time without any remaining liability of any kind on the part of
third party beneficiaries, and such Signatory Stockholder agrees that it will take no action with
regard to pursuing any claim pursuant to such contract;

h. each Signatory Stockholder shall give prompt notice to the Company and Buyer
upon becoming aware of the following: (i) the occurrence of any event that is likely to cause any
representation or warranty of such Signatory Stockholder contained in this Written Consent to be
untrue or inaccurate at or prior to the Closing, and (ii) any failure of such Signatory Stockholder
to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied
by it under this Written Consent; provided that the delivery of any notice or the making of any
disclosure pursuant to this Section 6(h) shall not (A) limit or otherwise affect any rights or remedies
available to the party receiving such notice or (B) be deemed to amend or supplement the
Schedules to the Merger Agreement or prevent or cure any misrepresentation, breach of warranty
or breach of covenant; and

i.  the headings in this Written Consent are for convenience of reference only and shall
not be deemed to alter or affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision of this Written
Consent. References to Sections or Annexes in this Written Consent, unless otherwise indicated,
are references to Sections or Annexes of or to this Written Consent. The parties to this Written
Consent have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Written Consent. In the
event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises with respect to any term or
provision of this Written Consent, this Written Consent shall be construed as if drafted jointly by
the parties to this Written Consent, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or
disfavoring any party to this Written Consent by virtue of the authorship of any of the terms or
provisions of this Written Consent. A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any
legislation shall include any modification, amendment, re-enactment thereof, any legislative
provision substituted therefore and all rules, regulations and statutory instruments issued or related
to such legislation. Any reference to a Governmental Authority shall be deemed also to refer to
any successor thereto unless the context requires otherwise. For all purposes of and under this
Written Consent, (i) the word “including” shall be deemed to be immediately followed by the
words “without limitation,” (ii) words (including defined terms) in the singular shall be deemed to
include the plural and vice versa, (iii) words of one gender shall be deemed to include the other
gender as the context requires, (iv) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereto,” “herewith” and any
other words of similar import shall, unless otherwise stated, be construed to refer to this Written
Consent as a whole (including all of the Schedules and Exhibits to this Written Consent) and not
to any particular term or provision of this Written Consent, unless otherwise specified, and (v) the
use of the word “or” shall not be exclusive.
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7. GENERAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS

a. Effective upon the Closing, except with respect to a claim arising out of the Merger
Agreement or any ancillary agreement, document or instrument to be delivered in connection
therewith (other than in respect of claims of each Signatory Stockholder described in subclause
(ii) below), each Signatory Stockholder hereby unconditionally and irrevocably waives, fully
releases and forever discharges the Company, Buyer, the Surviving Entity and their past and
present directors, officers, employees, agents, predecessors, successors, assigns, equityholders,
partners, insurers and Affiliates (the “Released Parties”) from, and covenants not to (a) sue or (b)
participate in any civil action against any of the Released Parties for, any and all liabilities and
actions of any kind or nature whatsoever, in each case whether absolute or contingent, liquidated
or unliquidated and known or unknown (the “Claims”™) with respect to: (i) facts and circumstances
existing at or prior to the Effective Time that have been or could be asserted against a Released
Party in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and (ii) the
allocation of the Merger Consideration pursuant to the Merger Agreement (including with respect
to the timing and the amount of such payments), and, in each case ((i) and (ii)), such Signatory
Stockholder shall not seek to recover any amounts in connection therewith or thereunder from such
Released Parties.

b. Such released Liabilities shall include any right to recover against the Released
Parties for any indemnification claims made against or paid by a Signatory Stockholder pursuant
to Article 7 of the Merger Agreement. Each Signatory Stockholder understands that this is a full
and final release of all claims, demands, causes of action and Liabilities of any nature whatsoever,
whether or not known, suspected or claimed, that could have been asserted in any legal or equitable
proceeding against the Released Parties, except as expressly set forth herein. For the avoidance of
doubt, the foregoing release shall not apply and none of the following shall be released by each
Signatory Stockholder: (i) if the Signatory Stockholder is an employee of any of the Released
Parties, Claims for any benefit, wages or salary earned by the Signatory Stockholder arising out of
or related to the Signatory Stockholder’s employment by any of the Released Parties to the extent
earned and unpaid, (ii) Claims and rights of the Signatory Stockholder for indemnification and
reimbursement by any of the Released Parties under the Charter Documents, the By-Laws of the
Company or any indemnification agreement as in effect on the date of the Merger Agreement, or
under any Contract entered into by any of the Released Parties and the Signatory Stockholder (to
the extent such Contract is set forth on Section 3.12 or Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Letter), (iii)
Claims of the Signatory Stockholder as a service provider or licensor of any of the Released Parties
and (iv) Claims of the Signatory Stockholder to its right to receive Closing Consideration in
accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. To the extent permitted by applicable law,
each Signatory Stockholder expressly waives the benefit of any applicable law, which, if applied
to the release set forth above, would otherwise exclude from its binding effect any Claim not
known by such Signatory Stockholder at the Effective Time to exist. Each Signatory Stockholder
represents that it is not aware of any Claim by it other than the Claims that are waived, released
and forever discharged by the release set forth above. For the avoidance of doubt, the release set
forth above is an integral part of the Merger and the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement and without such release, none of the Company, Buyer nor Merger Sub | nor Merger
Sub Il would have entered into the Merger Agreement. Further, nothing contained in the release
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set forth above shall be construed to prohibit a Signatory Stockholder from filing a charge with or
participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the federal Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission or a comparable state or local agency, provided, however, that each
Signatory Stockholder hereby agrees to waive its, his or her right to recover monetary damages or
other individual relief in any such charge, investigation or proceeding or any related complaint or
lawsuit filed by the Signatory Stockholder or by anyone else on its, his or her behalf.

8. WAIVER OF APPRAISAL RIGHTS

Each Signatory Stockholder hereby waives and agrees not to assert any and all appraisal or
dissenters rights under the DGCL or any other applicable law.

9. BRIDGE FINANCING

WHEREAS, the Company proposes to enter into a Promissory Note Purchase Agreement
(the “Note Purchase Agreement”), in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex D, with
certain investors, and to issue to such investors convertible promissory notes in the aggregate
original principal amount of up to $1,917,230.04 (the “Bridge Financing™).

RESOLVED, that each Signatory Stockholder hereby consents to and approves the Bridge
Financing pursuant to Article FOURTH, Part B, Section 3.3.7 of the Company Certificate of
Incorporation.

10. AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF KEY EMPLOYEE RETENTION PLAN

RESOLVED, that the Amended and Restated Key Employee Retention Plan of the
Company in the form attached hereto as Annex E be, and it hereby is, approved.

11. EFFECTIVENESS

Each of the undersigned has executed this Written Consent on the date of execution set
forth by his, her or its name (the “Date of Execution”). This Written Consent shall be effective
with respect to all Company Shares held by each of the undersigned automatically upon the latest
of (a) delivery of this Written Consent by the Requisite Stockholders; (b) such time as is
immediately following the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement by or on behalf of
each of the constituent entities party thereto; and (c) such time as is immediately following the
effectiveness of the adoption by the Board of resolutions declaring the advisability of, and
approving, the Merger Agreement and the Merger (the latest of (a), (b) and (c), the “Consent
Effective Time”); provided, that in the event that the Consent Effective Time has not occurred
prior to the undersigned stockholder executing and delivering this Written Consent, then pursuant
to Section 228(c) of the DGCL, the undersigned stockholder hereby instructs that the
undersigned’s Written Consent will be effective automatically upon the Consent Effectiveness
Time, and in the event that the Consent Effectiveness Time has already occurred before the
execution and delivery of this Written Consent by the undersigned (including for purposes of
indicating approval of the transactions contemplated herein and waiving appraisal rights), in
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accordance with Section 228 of the DGCL, this Written Consent shall be effective with respect to
all Company Shares held by the undersigned immediately upon its execution by the undersigned.
For each of the undersigned, this Written Consent shall be deemed revoked if it has not become
effective within 60 days of the Date of Execution set forth by such undersigned’s name.

This Written Consent may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which, once
so executed and delivered (including by facsimile), shall be considered an original, but all such
counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

Upon the Consent Effective Time, the Secretary of the Company is directed to file a copy
of this Written Consent in the minute book of the Company.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Written Consent of

Stockholders on the dates set forth below.

Date:
Name of Stockholder (Please Print)
Signature
Print Name of Signatory (Entity Stockholders)
Print Title of Signatory (Entity Stockholders)
[Signature Page to Stockholder Consent]
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Execution

JOINDER AGREEMENT

This JOINDER AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of November 15, 2021, by and
among Harness Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), ZeroNorth, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), and the undersigned holder (“Holder™) of shares of capital stock of the Company, promissory
notes of the Company or rights to participate in the Management Incentive Plan. Capitalized terms used in this
Agreement and not otherwise defined have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Merger Agreement (as
defined below).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (as the same may be
amended from time to time, the “Merger Agreement”), dated as of the date hereof, by and among Parent, the
Company, Merger Sub I, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (*Merger Sub
1), Project Protect Merger Sub 11, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of
Parent (“Merger Sub I1” and, together with Merger Sub 11, the “Merger Subs”), Shareholder Representative
Services LLC, as representative of the Stockholders of the Company (the “Representative™), Merger Sub | will
merge with and into the Company, with the Company to be the surviving corporation of the First Merger (the
“First Merger”) and, as part of the same overall transaction, the Company will then merge with and into Merger
Sub 11 (the “Second Merger” and, together with the First Merger, the “Mergers”) and Merger Sub 11 shall be
the surviving entity of the Second Merger;

WHEREAS, each Holder will receive consideration as set forth in the Merger Agreement, subject to
and conditioned upon the terms and conditions therein;

WHEREAS, it is a condition to the obligation of Parent and the Merger Subs to effect the Mergers that
Parent shall have received an executed copy of this Agreement from each of the Participating Holders, as such
term is defined in the Merger Agreement; and

WHEREAS, in order to induce Parent and the Merger Subs to complete the transactions contemplated
by the Merger Agreement, Holder is willing to enter into this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, intending to be legally bound, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual
covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

1. Representations and Warranties of Holder. Holder hereby represents and warrants to Parent as
follows:

(@) Holder’s address and email address set forth on the signature page hereto is correct.

(b) Holder has completed the investor questionnaire attached hereto as Exhibit A, and the
information set forth therein is accurate and complete. Holder understands and acknowledges that Parent is
relying on such investor questionnaire to determine whether Holder is an accredited investor within the meaning
of Rule 501 of Regulation D promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and is using such information for purposes of confirming the
availability of an exemption from the registration and prospectus delivery requirements under the Securities
Act in connection with issuing the Parent Shares in the Mergers.

(©) If Holder is an entity, it has all requisite power and authority or, if Holder is an
individual, he/she has the legal capacity, to enter into this Agreement, and to perform its, his or her covenants
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and obligations hereunder. If Holder is an entity, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Holder and
the performance by Holder of its covenants and obligations under this Agreement have been duly authorized
by all necessary action on the part of Holder and no further action is required on the part of Holder to authorize
this Agreement or the performance by Holder of its covenants and obligations hereunder. This Agreement has
been duly executed and delivered by Holder, and assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the
other parties hereto, constitutes the valid and binding obligations of Holder, enforceable against Holder in
accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium or other similar Laws now or hereafter in effect relating to rights of creditors generally and (ii) rules
of law and equity governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies.

(d) As of the date hereof, there is no Action pending, or to the knowledge of Holder,
threatened against Holder or, if Holder is an entity, any of its officers or directors (in their capacities as such),
arising out of or relating to: (i) Holder’s beneficial ownership of securities of the Company or any right to
acquire the same, or (ii) Holder’s capacity as a Company Securityholder.

(e) The execution and delivery by Holder of this Agreement, and the performance by
Holder of its, his or her covenants and obligations hereunder, will not conflict with (i) any provision of the
organizational documents of Holder if Holder is an entity, or (ii) any judgment, order, decree, statute, law,
ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to Holder or its, his or her properties or assets. No consent, approval,
order or authorization of, or registration, qualification, designation, declaration or filing with, any Governmental
Authority is required on the part of Holder in order to enable Holder to execute and deliver this Agreement, and
perform its, his or her covenants and obligations hereunder.

()] Holder has (i) received a copy of the Merger Agreement and this Agreement, (ii) had
the opportunity to carefully read each such agreement, (iii) has discussed the foregoing with Holder’s
professional advisors to the extent Holder has deemed necessary and (iv) understands his, her or its obligations
hereunder or thereunder. Except for the Terminated Agreements, Holder is not a party to any Contract with
respect to the voting of equity securities of the Company or relating to the allocation of the Merger
Consideration in a manner that is inconsistent with the terms of the Merger Agreement or this Agreement.

(9) Holder is the sole record owner of, and has the sole right to vote, if applicable, and to
dispose of, the securities of the Company set forth on the signature page hereto (collectively, the “Holder
Securities™) (subject to, in the case of individuals, applicable community property laws, if any), and such
Holder Securities are, or as of the Closing, subject to termination of the Terminated Agreements and subject to
applicable securities laws, will be, free and clear of any pledge, lien, security interest, mortgage, charge, claim,
equity, option, proxy, voting restriction, voting trust or agreement, understanding, arrangement, right of first
refusal, limitation on disposition, adverse claim of ownership or use or encumbrance of any kind. Other than
the Holder Securities, Holder does not own of record any other securities of the Company or rights to acquire
securities of the Company.

(h) Holder has not (i) Transferred any interest in any of the Holder Securities, or (ii)
granted any options, warrants, calls or any other rights to purchase or otherwise acquire any such holder
Securities or any interest therein.

Q) Holder is not obligated for the payment of any fees or expenses of any investment
banker, broker, advisor, finder or similar party in connection with the origin, negotiation or execution of the
merger Agreement or this Agreement, or in connection with the Mergers.

2. Further Representations and Warranties Regarding Parent Shares. If Holder is to receive Parent
Shares pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Holder further represents and warrants as follows:
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€)) Holder is acquiring the Parent Shares for investment for Holder’s own account, not as
a nominee or agent, and not with the view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution thereof, and
Holder has no present intention of reselling or distributing any of such securities in violation of the Securities
Act or any applicable state securities law and has no Contract with any person regarding the resale or
distribution of such securities in violation of the Securities Act or any applicable state securities law.

(b) Holder understands and acknowledges that Holder’s investment in the Parent Shares
involves a high degree of risk and has sought such accounting, legal and tax advice as Holder has considered
necessary to make an informed investment decision with respect to Holder’s acquisition of the Parent Shares.
Holder is fully aware of: (i) the highly speculative nature of an investment in the Parent Shares, (ii) the financial
hazards involved, (iii) the lack of liquidity of the Parent Shares including the restrictions on Transfer and other
obligations with respect thereto set forth in this Agreement and the Merger Agreement, (iv) the qualifications
and backgrounds of the management of Parent, and (v) the tax consequences of acquiring the Parent Shares.
Holder has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters such that Holder is capable of
evaluating the merits and risks associated with consummating the Mergers and accepting the Parent Shares as
consideration in the Mergers in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Merger Agreement, has
the capacity to protect Holder’s own interests in connection with the Mergers and the other transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, the Merger Agreement and, if applicable, any other Holder Agreements, and
is financially capable of bearing a total loss of the Parent Shares. Holder either has a pre-existing personal or
business relationship with Parent or any of its partners, officers, directors or controlling persons, or by reason
of Holder’s business or financial experience or that of its professional advisers who are unaffiliated with and
who are not compensated by Parent or any Affiliate or selling agent of Parent, directly or indirectly, has the
capacity to protect Holder’s own interests in connection with the Mergers and the other transactions
contemplated by the Merger Agreement, this Agreement and, if applicable, any other Holder Agreements.

(©) Holder has had an opportunity to ask questions and receive answers regarding the
business, properties, prospects and financial condition of Parent.

(d) Holder understands and acknowledges that the Parent Shares issued in connection with
the Merger Agreement will not be registered under the Securities Act by reason of a specific exemption from
the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act, the availability of which depends
upon, among other things, the bona fide nature of the investment intent and the accuracy of Holder’s
representations set forth in this Agreement (including in the investor questionnaire attached as Exhibit A
hereto).

(e) Holder understands and acknowledges that the Parent Shares issued in connection with
the Merger Agreement constitute “restricted securities” under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act
and, therefore, such shares may not be sold unless they are registered under the Securities Act or an exemption
from the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act is available. Holder is aware
of the provisions of Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act. Holder further understands and
acknowledges that Parent is under no obligation, and does not intend, to register the resale of the Parent Shares
that are issuable to Holder in connection with the Merger Agreement, that Holder will be required to bear the
financial risks of holding Parent Shares for an indefinite period of time, and that there is no guarantee that
Holder will be able to achieve liquidity with respect to any Parent Shares that Holder receives in connection
with the Merger Agreement.

3. Agreements of Holder.

(@) Holder hereby acknowledges and agrees that he, she or it is a “Company
Securityholder” and, except to the extent Holder holds a New Bridge Note under the Merger Agreement, a
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“Participating Holder” and an “Indemnifying Party” under the Merger Agreement and agrees to be bound by
the provisions of the Merger Agreement applicable to the Participating Holders and the Indemnifying Parties,
including (A) the amount, form and allocation of Merger Consideration payable in accordance with Article 2
of the Merger Agreement (including the provisions therein relating to the Escrow Amount), (B) except to the
extent a holder of a New Bridge Note, the obligation to indemnify, reimburse and compensate the Indemnified
Parties in accordance with Article 7 and Article 8 of the Merger Agreement, and (C) if the Holder is receiving
Parent Shares, the restrictions on Transfer and other provisions relating to the Parent Shares set forth in Article
6 of the Merger Agreement.

(b) Except in Holder’s capacity as a holder of a New Bridge Note, if applicable, Holder
acknowledges and agrees that (i) at the Closing, the Escrow Amount shall be withheld from the Merger
Consideration payable to Holder and the other Indemnifying Parties pursuant to and subject to the terms and
conditions of the Merger Agreement, shall be deposited with the Escrow Agent to be held as security to
compensate Parent and the other Indemnified Parties for any Damages for which any of them are entitled to
recover under the Merger Agreement, including Article 7 and Article 8 thereof; and (ii) Holder shall be entitled
to a portion of the Escrow Amount only if, as and when such amount becomes payable to Holder in accordance
with the provisions of the Merger Agreement.

(©) Unless otherwise consented to in writing by Parent or pursuant to the terms of the
Merger Agreement, Holder shall not (i) Transfer any Holder Securities, (ii) grant any option, warrant, call or
any other right to purchase or otherwise acquire any Holder Securities or any interest therein, or (iii) enter into
any Contract with respect to any of the matters contemplated by clauses (i) or ii).

(d) Holder hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to assert any
appraisal or dissenter’s rights or similar rights under applicable law with respect to the Mergers.

(e) Holder agrees that he, she or it will not bring, commence, institute, maintain, prosecute,
participate in or voluntarily aid any legal proceeding, in law or in equity, in any court or before any
Governmental Authority, which (i) challenges the validity of or seeks to enjoin the operation of any provision
of the Written Consent, the Merger Agreement, this Agreement or the consummation of the Mergers and the
other transactions and matters contemplated by the Written Consent or any such other agreements or (ii) alleges
that any actions taken (or omitted) in connection with or in furtherance of the Mergers or any of the other
transactions contemplated by the Written Consent, the Merger Agreement, or this Agreement breaches any
fiduciary duty, whether of the board of directors of the Company or any member thereof, of any officer of the
Company or of any holder of Company Capital Stock or other securities of the Company.

® Holder acknowledges and understands that the representations, warranties and
covenants by Holder set forth herein and any covenants set forth in the Merger Agreement applicable to the
Participating Holders, the Company Securityholders and the Indemnifying Parties will be relied upon by Parent,
Merger Subs, the Company, the Surviving Corporation, the Surviving Entity, the other Participating Holders
and Indemnifying Parties, and their respective Affiliates and counsel, and that substantial Liabilities may be
incurred by such Persons if Holder’s representations, warranties, or covenants set forth herein and any
covenants set forth in the Merger Agreement applicable to Holder are inaccurate or are breached.

4. Representative. Holder hereby agrees to the appointment of Shareholder Representative Services
LLC as the Representative (as such term is defined in the Merger Agreement) and as the attorney-in-fact and
agent for and on behalf of Holder and the other Indemnifying Parties with respect to all matters for which
authority is granted to the Representative under the Merger Agreement and hereby authorizes and approves the
taking by the Representative of any and all actions and the making of any decisions required or permitted to be
taken by the Representative pursuant to the authority granted to it under the Merger Agreement.
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5. Confidentiality. Holder agrees to at all times keep confidential and not divulge, furnish or make
accessible any information regarding or relating to the Merger Agreement, this Agreement or the Mergers or
any of the other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, or any claim or dispute arising therefrom or
relating thereto, to anyone (other than: (a) to directors, officers, employees, managers, attorneys, accountants,
financial advisors or Affiliates of Holder, in each case who have a need to know such information, are made
aware of the confidential nature of the information, are directed by Holder to keep such information confidential
and are either bound by confidentiality restrictions with respect to the information shared that are at least as
restrictive as this Section 5 or are bound by codes of professional responsibility that require maintenance of
confidentiality of such information or (b) in the case of a Holder that is a venture capital or private equity fund,
to the limited partners, stockholders, or members of such Holder to the extent such disclosure is made in the
ordinary course of such Holder’s business and only to the extent necessary to satisfy such Holder’s reporting
requirements under applicable agreements with such parties in effect on the date of this Agreement, provided
that any such Persons to whom such information is disclosed are made aware of the confidential nature of the
information, are directed by Holder to keep such information confidential and are bound by confidentiality
restrictions with respect to the information shared that are at least as restrictive as this Section 5; provided
further that Holder shall be liable to Parent for any Damages resulting from any failure to maintain such
confidentiality by any Person to whom disclosures were made by Holder pursuant to the foregoing clauses (a)
or (b) except, in each case, to the extent that (A) such information is or has otherwise been made public (other
than as a result of disclosure by Holder in violation of the terms of this Joinder Agreement, any Person to whom
any Holder disclosed such information who violated the terms of any confidentiality obligation to such Holder
or by the Company or the Representative in violation of the confidentiality provisions in the Merger
Agreement); (B) such Holder is required by applicable Law or any applicable Action to divulge or disclose such
information, in which case Holder shall use its reasonable best efforts to cooperate with Parent, at Parent’s sole
cost and expense, to limit such disclosure to the greatest extent permitted under applicable Law; (C) Holder is
required by an applicable process, subpoena or order, provided that Holder gives Parent notice that is reasonable
in the circumstances and cooperates with Parent, at Parent’s sole cost and expense, to obtain a protective order
to take such other legal steps to protect its interest in such information in each case, to the extent legally
permitted; (D) such information has been independently developed by Holder without use of or reference to the
confidential information hereunder or (E) Holder received such information from a third party who, to Holder’s
knowledge at the time of disclosure, was not subject to any confidentiality obligations.

6. Termination of Certain Agreements. Each of the agreements listed on Exhibit B attached hereto
shall, contingent upon the occurrence of the Closing (each a “Terminated Agreement” and collectively the
“Terminated Agreements”) automatically terminate and be of no further force or effect, and Holder agrees
that Holder will take no action with regard to pursuing any claim pursuant to such Terminated Agreement.
Furthermore, the Holder and the Company each hereby acknowledges and agrees that to the extent any
Terminated Agreement may, by its terms, only be terminated (or, if necessary, amended to provide for its
termination as contemplated by this Section 6) pursuant to an agreement or other instrument, written or
otherwise, between the Company and one or more other parties thereto, this Agreement, together with the other
Joinder Agreements entered into by other holders of securities of the Company in connection with the Merger
Agreement, who are also parties to such Terminated Agreement, shall be deemed to be one and the same
instrument for purposes of satisfying the termination (or, if applicable, amendment providing for such
termination) requirements set forth in any such Terminated Agreement, and the Company hereby consents to
each such termination (and, if applicable, such amendment providing therefor).

7. General Release.

€)) Effective for all purposes as of the Effective Time, Holder, on behalf of himself, herself
or itself and each of his, her or its successors, heirs, assigns or controlled Affiliates (but not, for the avoidance
of doubt, any portfolio company of Holder) (each, a “Releasor”), hereby irrevocably and unconditionally
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releases and forever discharges the Company, Parent, Merger Sub | or Merger Sub 11, or any of their Affiliates,
or any of their respective employees, directors, officers, agents, securityholders, attorneys, representatives,
predecessors, successors, related entities or assigns or any Persons acting by, through, under or in concert with
any of them (collectively, the “Released Parties™), from any and all claims, suits, demands, causes of action,
obligations, debts, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees and liabilities, of whatever kind or nature, in law or in equity,
by statute or otherwise, whether now known or unknown, vested or contingent, suspected or unsuspected, which
have existed or may have existed, or which do exist, at any time up to and including the Effective Time
(including under any Terminated Agreements) relating to, arising out of or in connection with Holder’s
association with the Company, as a Company Securityholder and/or a participant in the Management Incentive
Plan (the “Released Matters”); provided, that such release and discharge shall not apply to any rights arising
under (i) the Merger Agreement (ii) the indemnification provisions of the Company’s certificate of
incorporation or bylaws or any existing indemnification agreements between the undersigned and the Company
that are disclosed on the Company Disclosure Letter, (iii) rights with respect to any applicable directors’ and
officer’s liability insurance, or (iv) if the undersigned is an employee of the Company, any claim for unpaid
wages, base salary, bonuses, commissions and reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses that have accrued and are
due and payable prior to the Closing.

(b) Holder, on behalf of such Holder and each other Releasor, represents, warrants and
covenants that such Releasor (i) has no claims relating to, arising out of or in connection with any Released
Matter, (ii) has not transferred or assigned, or purported to transfer or assign, any claims relating to, arising out
of or in connection with any Released Matter and (iii) shall not transfer or assign, or purport to transfer or
assign, any claims relating to, arising out of or in connection with any Released Matter, in each case against
any of the Released Parties.

(©) Holder acknowledges and agrees that neither Holder nor any of Holder’s Affiliates
shall have any right of contribution, indemnification or right of advancement from, or right of subrogation with
respect to, the Company, Parent or any of their respective Affiliates with respect to any Damages claimed by
any of the Indemnified Parties pursuant to Article 7 or Article 8 of the Merger Agreement.

(d) Holder acknowledges that he, she or it is familiar with Section 1542 of the Civil Code
of the State of California (“Section 1542”), which provides as follows:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR
RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT
THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE AND THAT, IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, WOULD
HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR OR
RELEASED PARTY.

(e) Holder, on behalf of himself, herself or itself and each other Releasor, hereby waives
and relinguishes any rights and benefits that any Releasor may have under Section 1542 or any similar statute
or common law principle of any jurisdiction. Holder, on behalf of himself, herself or itself and each other
Releasor, acknowledges that he, she or it may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different from those that
Holder or any other Releasor now knows or believes to be true with respect to the subject matter of this release,
but it is Holder’s intention, on behalf of himself, herself or itself and each other Releasor, subject to Section
7(a), to fully and finally and forever settle and release any and all Released Matters. In furtherance of this
intention, the releases contained herein shall be and remain in effect as full and complete general releases
notwithstanding the discovery or existence of any such additional or different facts. Holder hereby irrevocably
covenants to refrain from, directly or indirectly, asserting any claim, or commencing, instituting or causing to
be commenced, any action, proceeding, charge, complaint, or investigation of any kind against any of the
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Released Parties, in any forum whatsoever (including any administrative agency), that arises out of the Released
Matters.

U] Holder represents and acknowledges that he, she or it has read this release and
understands its terms and has been given an opportunity to ask questions of the Company’s representatives.
Holder further represents that in signing this release he, she or it does not rely, and has not relied, on any
representation or statement not set forth in this release made by any representative of the Company or anyone
else with regard to the subject matter, basis or effect of this release or otherwise.

(o If Holder is married or has a domestic partner, he or she has delivered with this
Agreement a Spousal Consent in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the “Spousal Consent”), executed by
Holder’s spouse or domestic partner, as applicable. Holder represents and warrants to Parent that Holder’s
spouse or domestic partner, as applicable, is competent to execute and deliver the Spousal Consent.

8. Tax Matters. Holder has had an opportunity to review with its, his or her own tax advisors the tax
consequences of the Mergers and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Holder
understands that it, he, or she must rely solely on its, his or her advisors and not on any statements or
representations made by Parent, the Company or any of their agents or representatives. Holder understands that
Holder (and not Parent, the Company or the Surviving Corporation) shall be responsible for any Tax Liability
for Holder that may arise as a result of the Mergers and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement.

9. Miscellaneous.

(@) Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted under this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be either hand delivered in person, sent by facsimile, sent by electronic
mail, sent by certified or registered first-class mail, postage pre-paid, or sent by nationally recognized express
overnight service. Such notices and other communications shall be effective and be deemed delivered and
received (i) upon receipt if hand delivered, (ii) on the date of transmission if transmitted by facsimile or
electronic mail by 5:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on a Business Day, otherwise on the next Business Day after
transmission, (iii) three Business Days after mailing if sent by mail, and (iv) one Business Day after dispatch if
sent by overnight courier, to the following addresses, or such other addresses as any party may notify the other
parties in accordance with this Section 9(a):

(i) if to Parent or, following the Closing, the Company, to:

Harness Inc.
116 New Montgomery Street #200
San Francisco, CA 94105
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Attention: Jyoti Bansal, CEO
E-Mail: jyoti@harness.io

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Goodwin Procter LLP

Three Embarcadero Center

San Francisco, CA 94111-4003
Attention: Paula Nagarajan

Facsimile No.: (415) 634-2818
Email: pnagarajan@goodwinlaw.com

(i)  If to the Company prior to the Closing to:

ZeroNorth, Inc.

PO Box 120255

Boston, MA 02112

Attention: John Worrall

Fax No.:

E-Mail: jworrall@zeronorth.io

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
60 State Street

Boston, MA 02109

Attention: Hal J. Leibowitz, Esq.

Fax No.: (617) 526-5000

E-Mail: hal.leibowitz@wilmerhale.com

Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
60 State Street

Boston, MA 02109

Attention: Jason L. Kropp, Esq.

Fax No.: (617) 526-5000

E-Mail: jason.kropp@wilmerhale.com

(i) if to Holder to: the address for notice set forth on the signature page hereto.

(b) Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to Sections or Exhibits,
such reference shall be to a Section of, or Exhibit to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The headings
contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or
interpretation of this Agreement. The words “include,” “includes” and “including” when used herein shall be
deemed in each case to be followed by the words “without limitation.” Unless the context of this Agreement
otherwise requires (i) words of any gender include each other gender, (ii) words using the singular or plural
number also include the plural or singular number respectively, (iii) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder,”
and derivative or similar words refer to this entire Agreement and not to any particular provision of this
Agreement, and (iv) references to any statute shall refer to the statute, as amended, and include the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder. The word “extent” in the phrase “to the extent” means the degree to which
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a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase does not mean simply “if”. The use of “either” and “or” are
not intended to be exclusive unless expressly indicated otherwise. All references in this Agreement to the
subsidiaries of a legal entity shall be deemed to include all direct and indirect subsidiaries of such entity.

(©) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts
(including via facsimile, .pdf or other electronic means), each of which shall be an original as regards any party
whose signature appears thereon and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This
Agreement shall become binding when one or more counterparts hereof, individually or taken together, shall
bear the signatures of all parties reflected hereon as signatories.

(d) Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Merger Agreement and the documents and
instruments and other agreements specifically referred to herein or delivered pursuant hereto, including all the
exhibits attached hereto, (a) constitute the entire understanding and agreement among the parties hereto with
respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements or understandings,
inducements or conditions, express or implied, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with respect to
the subject matter hereof, which shall continue in full force and effect, and shall survive any termination of this
Agreement, in accordance with its terms, and (b) are not intended to confer, and shall not be construed as
conferring, upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder (other than the
Indemnified Parties and Released Parties who are not party to this Agreement, which Persons are intended third
party beneficiaries of this Agreement and shall be entitled to enforce this Agreement against Holder in
accordance with its terms).

(e) Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof, shall for
any reason and to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, then the remainder of this Agreement and the
application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall be interpreted so as reasonably to effect
the intent of the parties hereto.

()] Remedies Cumulative. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any and all
remedies herein expressly conferred upon a party hereunder shall be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive
of any other remedy conferred hereby or by Law on such party, and the exercise of any one remedy shall not
preclude the exercise of any other. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event
that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were
otherwise breached, and that money damages or other legal remedies would not be an adequate remedy for any
such damage. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions to
prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court of
the United States or any State having jurisdiction, subject to Section 9(q) below, this being in addition to any
other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.

(0)] Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with
the internal Laws of the State of Delaware, irrespective of its conflicts of law principles. The parties hereto
hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (unless
the Federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over the matter, in which case the United States District Court for
the District of Delaware) in connection with any matter based upon or arising out of this Agreement or the
matters contemplated herein, and hereby waive, and agree not to assert, as a defense in any action, suit or
proceeding for the interpretation or enforcement hereof or thereof, that it is not subject thereto or that such
action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or is not maintainable in said courts or that the venue thereof may
not be appropriate or that this Agreement or any such document may not be enforced in or by such courts, and
the parties hereto irrevocably agree that all claims with respect to such action or proceeding shall be heard and
determined in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the United States District Court for the District
of Delaware; provided that a judgment rendered by such court may be enforced in any court having competent
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jurisdiction. The parties hereby consent to and grant any such court jurisdiction over the person of such parties
and over the subject matter of such dispute and agree that mailing of process or other papers in connection with
any such action or proceeding in the manner provided in Section 9(a) or in such other manner as may be
permitted by Law, shall be valid and sufficient service thereof. With respect to any particular action, suit or
proceeding, venue shall lie solely in the State of Delaware.

(h) Rules of Construction. The parties hereto have been represented by counsel during the
negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement or determined after reviewing this Agreement
carefully that it would not seek such guidance or counsel and, therefore, hereby waive, with respect to this
Agreement and each Exhibit attached hereto, the application of any law, regulation, holding or rule of
construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other document shall be construed against the party
drafting such agreement or document.

(1) WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES AND
AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY
TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY
HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY HERETO CERTIFIES AND
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER
PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD
NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, (B) EACH
SUCH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (C)
SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (D) SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED
TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE WAIVERS AND
CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

[Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Joinder Agreement to be duly executed
as of the date first written above.

HARNESS INC.

By:

Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Joinder Agreement]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Joinder Agreement to be duly executed
as of the date first written above.

ZERONORTH, INC.

By:

. Name: John Worrall
Title: Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to Joinder Agreement]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Joinder Agreement to be duly executed
as of the date first written above.

HOLDER:

L1

By:
Name:
Title:

Address:

Email:

Company Capital Stock beneficially owned:
shares of Company Common Stock
shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock

____shares of Series A Preferred Stock

shares of Series A+ Preferred Stock

Other securities of the Company beneficially owned:

Company Options
$ Aggregate Principal Amount of July 2021
Note(s)
$ Aggregate Principal Amount of New

Bridge Note(s)
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EXHIBIT A
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1)

2)

3)

4)

%)

EXHIBITB

TERMINATED AGREEMENTS

Amended and Restated Series A+ Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of March 2,
2020 by and between the Company and certain of the Company’s equity holders.

Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated as of March 2, 2020, by and between the
Company and certain of the Company’s equity holders.

Amended and Restated Right of First Refusal and Co-Sale Agreement dated as of March 2,
2020 by and between the Company and certain of the Company’s equity holders.

Amended and Restated Investor’s Rights Agreement dated as of March 2, 2020, by and
between the Company and certain of the Company’s equity holders.

Management Rights Letter dated as of November 27, 2018, by and between the Company and
ClearSky Security Fund LLC.
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EXHIBITC
SPOUSAL CONSENT

l, , spouse/domestic partner of (“Holder™), acknowledge
that | have read the Joinder Agreement executed by Holder, entered into on November 15, 2021, (the
“Agreement”), and that | know the contents of the Agreement. | am aware that the Agreement contains
provisions regarding Company Capital Stock and/or Company Options (as defined in the Merger Agreement)
that my spouse/domestic partner may own, including any interest that I might have therein.

| understand and agree that my interest, if any, in any Company Capital Stock and Company Options subject
to the Agreement shall be irrevocably subject to the Agreement. | further understand and agree that any
community property interest that | may have in such Company Capital Stock and Company Options shall be
similarly subject to the Agreement.

| am aware that the legal, financial and related matters contained in the Agreement are complex and that I am
free to seek independent professional guidance or counsel with respect to this consent. | have either sought
such guidance or counsel or determined after reviewing the Agreement carefully that I will not seek such
guidance or counsel.

Dated: Signature:

Print Name:
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Exhibit C

Form of Investor Questionnaire
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Exhibit C

INVESTOR QUESTIONNAIRE

This confidential Investor Questionnaire (this “Questionnaire”™) is being provided to you in connection
with a potential transaction (the “Transaction”) involving Harness Inc. (the “Company”). If the
Transaction is consummated, then securities (“Securities”) of the Company will be issued without
registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”) and the securities laws of certain
states, in reliance on the exemptions contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Act and/or on Regulation D
promulgated thereunder and in reliance on similar exemptions under applicable state laws. This
Questionnaire will be used to determine whether you meet the applicable suitability requirements for
these exemptions, and reliance upon the private offering exemptions from registration is based in part on
the information herein supplied.

This Questionnaire does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any security.
You must answer all applicable questions and complete, date and sign this Questionnaire. Please print or
type your responses and attach additional sheets of paper if necessary to complete your answers to any
item.

This Questionnaire and the information contained herein, including the fact that the Company may
engage in the potential Transaction, constitutes confidential information of the Company. You should not
disclose this information, or share this Investor Questionnaire, with any other person other than your
legal, tax, accounting and financial advisors on a confidential basis.

A Background Information.
Name:
Business Address:
(Number and Street)
(City) (State) (Zip Code)

Telephone Number:

Social Security or Taxpayer Identification No.

If an individual:

Age: Citizenship:

If a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust or other entity:
Type of entity:

State of formation: Date of formation:

B. Status as Accredited Investor (Please initial (i) or (ii)).

(i) The undersigned is not an “accredited investor” as such term is defined in Regulation D under
the Act.
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Exhibit C

(i) The undersigned is an “accredited investor” as such term is defined in Regulation D under the
Act, as at the time of the sale of the Securities the undersigned falls within one or more of the following
categories (Please initial one or more, as applicable):

(1) a bank as defined in Section 3(a)(2) of the Act, or a savings and loan association
or other institution as defined in Section 3(a)(5)(A) of the Act whether acting in its individual or fiduciary
capacity; a broker or dealer registered pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
any investment advisor registered pursuant to section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 or
registered pursuant to the laws of a state; any investment adviser relying on the exemption from
registering with the Commission under section 203(l) or (m) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940; an
insurance company as defined in Section 2(a)(13) of the Act; an investment company registered under
the Investment Company Act of 1940 or a business development company as defined in Section
2(a)(48) of that Act; a Small Business Investment Company licensed by the U.S. Small Business
Administration under Section 301(c) or (d) of the Small Business Investment Act of 1958; any Rural
Business Investment Company as defined in section 384A of the Consolidated Farm and Rural
Development Act; a plan established and maintained by a state, its political subdivisions, or any agency
or instrumentality of a state or its political subdivisions for the benefit of its employees, if such plan has
total assets in excess of $5,000,000; an employee benefit plan within the meaning of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, if the investment decision is made by a plan fiduciary, as
defined in Section 3(21) of such Act, which is either a bank, savings and loan association, insurance
company, or registered investment adviser, or if the employee benefit plan has total assets in excess of
$5,000,000 or, if a self-directed plan, with the investment decisions made solely by persons that are
accredited investors;

(2) a private business development company as defined in Section 202(a)(22) of
the Investment Advisers Act of 1940;

(3) an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, corporation, Massachusetts or similar business trust, partnership, or limited
liability company, not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring the securities offered, with total assets
in excess of $5,000,000;

4) a director, executive officer, or general partner of the issuer of the securities
being offered or sold, or any director, executive officer, or general partner of a general partner of that
issuer;

(5) a natural person whose individual net worth (see definition below), or
joint net worth with that person’s spouse, exceeds $1,000,000 (see note on determining “net worth”
below);

(6) a natural person who had an individual income in excess of $200,000 in each of
the two most recent years or joint income with that person’s spouse in excess of $300,000 in each of those
years and has a reasonable expectation of reaching the same income level in the current year (see note on
determining “income” below);

@) a trust, with total assets in excess of $5,000,000, not formed for the specific
purpose of acquiring the securities offered, whose acquisition of the Securities is directed by a
sophisticated person as described in Rule 506(b)(2)(ii) of Regulation D;

(8) an entity in which all of the equity owners are accredited investors (as defined
above).

For the purposes of calculating net worth for the purposes of subsection (5) above: (A) The person's
primary residence shall not be included as an asset; (B) indebtedness that is secured by the person's
primary residence, up to the estimated fair market value of the primary residence at the time of the sale of
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Exhibit C

securities, shall not be included as a liability (except that if the amount of such indebtedness outstanding
at the time of sale of securities exceeds the amount outstanding 60 days before such time, other than as a
result of the acquisition of the primary residence, the amount of such excess shall be included as a
liability); and (C) indebtedness that is secured by the person's primary residence in excess of the
estimated fair market value of the primary residence at the time of the sale of securities shall be included
as a liability. This paragraph will not apply to any calculation of a person’s net worth made in connection
with a purchase of securities in accordance with a right to purchase such securities, provided that: (X)
such right was held by the person on July 20, 2010; () the person qualified as an accredited investor on
the basis of net worth at the time the person acquired such right; and (Z) The person held securities of the
same issuer, other than such right, on July 20, 2010.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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Exhibit C

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Investor Questionnaire as of the date
last written below, and declares that it is truthful and correct.

ACTIVE/112755046.5

(print name)

By:
(signature)
Title:
(required for any corporation, partnership, trust or
other entity)
Date:
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EXECUTION VERSION

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT TO
THE THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
ZERONORTH, INC.

ZeroNorth, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation organized and existingunder and by
virtue of the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”),

DOES HEREBY CERTIFY:

FIRST: That the name of the Corporation is ZeroNorth, Inc. The Corporation was
originally incorporated on July 6, 2015 under the name “Xdata.center Inc.”

SECOND:  Thatthe Board of Directors duly adopted resolutions in accordance with
Section 141 of the DGCL setting forth a proposed amendment to the Third Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of this Corporation (the “Restated Certificate™), declaring
said amendment to be advisable and in the best interests of this corporation and its stockholders,
and authorizing the appropriate officers of this corporation to solicit the consent of the
stockholders to such amendment, which resolutions setting forth the proposed amendment are
substantially as follows:

RESOLVED, that the Restated Certificate be further amended as follows:

Acrticle Fourth, Part B, Section 2 is hereby amended by adding the following paragraph as
a new Subsection 2.5:

“2.5  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2, in the event the
Corporation consummates a Deemed Liquidation Event prior to November 17,
2021 (the “Outside Date”) pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of
Reorganization (the “Protect Merger Agreement”), dated November 15, 2021,
by and among the Corporation, Harness Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”),
Project Protect Merger Sub |, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned
subsidiary of Parent, Project Protect Merger Sub Il, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, and Shareholder
Representative Services LLC, as representative of the Corporation’s stockholders,
the consideration payable to the holders of shares of Preferred Stock and Common
Stock pursuant to such Deemed Liquidation Event shall be paid, and the
allocation of any consideration subject to a deferral, shall be allocated, in
accordance with such Protect Merger Agreement, and the terms of such Protect
Merger Agreement shall prevail over the terms set forth in Article Fourth, Part B,
Section 2 and the provisions of this Article Fourth, Part B, Subsection 2.5 shall
control and govern with respect to the distribution of consideration payable
pursuant to such Protect Merger Agreement, and the holders of shares of
Preferred Stock and Common Stock shall not have the rights to distributions in
connection with such Deemed Liquidation Event under Article Fourth, Part B,
Sections 2.1 through 2.4. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Deemed
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Liquidation pursuant to the Protect Merger Agreement is not consummated prior
to the Outside Date, then the holders of shares of Preferred Stock and Common
Stock shall thereafter have the rights to distributions and payments pursuant to a
Deemed Liquidation Event as set forth under Article Fourth, Part B, Sections 2.1
through 2.4] above in lieu of the rights set forth in the first sentence of this Article
Fourth, Part B, Subsection 2.5.”

THIRD: That the foregoing amendment was approved by the holders of the
requisite number of shares of the Corporation in accordance with Section 228 of the DGCL.

FOURTH:  Thatthis Certificate of Amendment, which further amendsthe provisions
of the Restated Certificate, has been duly adopted in accordance with Section 242 of the DGCL.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned officer of this Corporation does hereby
declare and certify, under penalties of perjury, that this is the act and deed of the corporation and
the facts stated herein are true, and accordingly has hereunto signed this Certificate of
Amendment this 15th day of November, 2021.

Name: John Worrall
Title: Presidentand Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to Certificate of Amendment]
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@ i} () i © ] . A
Names Taxpayer ID Wire Instructions Address £-mail Shares of Capitaf Stack z the it and Pro Rata Share Escrow Amount Excess Pro Rata Share Merger
Pessons accrued interest of each Company accrued interest of eack Company Consideration
.\ the date of this f the date of this {shares of
Agreement {infy 2021 Notes}) Agresment {New Bridge Notes} Parent Class B
Common stack)
Clearsky Security Fund 1 LLC 35-2574697 Bank Name: Silicon Valley Bank  Clearsky Security Fund | LLC  nick.buford@clear-sky.com 19354183 of Series & Prefesred and H 6307543 § 63907668 v 2% § 237,394.34 25%  153,262.00
Location: Santa Clara, California 11231 U.S. Highway 1, Suite 5297055 of Serles A+ Preferred
SWIFT Code: SVBKUSGS (for 395
international payments only) North Paim Beach, FL 33408
ABA Number: 121-140-399
Account Name: ClearSky Security
Fund I LLC
Account Number: 3302203348
822758409 ABA #121140399 2180 Sand Hill Road, Suite  mbigge@crosslinkcapital.com 311529 of Series A Preferred and $40829 % 187751 § 601485 ¥ 1% 3 881366 % 6,805.00
SWIFT SVBKUS6S 200 of Series A+ Preferred
silicon Valley Bank Menlo Park, CA 94025
Palo Alto, CA
Acct # 3302238565
Crosslink Ventures Vill, LLC 822728408 ABA #121140399 2180 Sand Hill Road, Suite  mbigge@crosslinkcapital.cont 3275858 of Serles A Preferred and H 19640528 § EEERT - 9% $ 92,680.94 0% 71,560.00
silicon Valley Bank 200 738581 of Series A+ Preferred
Palo Alto, CA Menlo Park, CA 94025
Acct #3302239791
82-2742852 ABA #121140399 2180 Sand Hill Road, Sulte  mbigge@crosslinkcapital.com 1940629 of Serles A Preferred and H 1163074 $ 243308 v 5% § 54,904.30 6%  42,392.00
SWIFT SVBKUS6S 200 399187 of Series At Prefesred
silicon Valley Bank Menlo Park, CA 94025
Palo Alto, CA
Acct # 3302238584
Rally Technology Partners Fund 825267856 an Valley Bank Routing  Rally Ventures stephanie@rallyventures.com 467100 of Series A Preferred and H w3843 3 12824038 ¥ % 3 17,995.14 2% 1885900
Number: 121140399 Account 100 Washington Avenue 477834 of Series A+ Preferred
Number: 3302415212 South,
Sulte 1310
Minneapolis, MN 55401
Rally Ventures Fund 825252920 on Valley Bank Routing  Rally Ventures stephanie@rallyventures.com 5844029 of Serles A Preferred and H 5100442 § 51088330 v % § 71,6863 % 7512200
Number: 121140399 Account 100 Washington Avenue 1901406 of Series A« Prefesrett
Number: 3302415208 South,
Suite 1310
Petrillo Capital Cyber Investments, LLC 844814599 First Republic Bank Routing 7540316 of Series A Preferved, 2152176 ¥ 2% 5 20,936.90 5% 20265.00
Number: 321081669 Account of Series A+ Preferred, 744670 of Series
Number: 80008345193 12 Stafford Road Seed, 51189 of Common under £nrico
petrillo
01940
Cochimetles LLC 224961426 Chase Routing: Coch LLC 1350 East bric.mail@ozit 1,424,899 of Series A Preferred v o% $ 1,104.20 % 1,069.00
021000021 Account: Flamingo Rd, #703 Las Vegas,
275068516 NV 89119
For FedEx/UPS use:
4E Round Rd #378, winhall,
VT 05340
Capstone Enterprises LLC 82-3317304 Eastern Bank Routing 176 Federal Street, 3rd Floor  jferrara@capstoneheadwaters.com 574510 of Series A Preferred and 488225 ¥ 1% § 11,018.90 3% 1066600
# 011301798 Account Boston, MA 02110 of Series Seed under £YB Capstone
Number: 601-630-422 entures, LLC
Bruce McPherson 030-52-1601  Tewksbury Federal Credit Union 99 Kennedy Rd, Tewksbury,  hgm2000@yahoo.com None i % $ 38,370.63 %
Routing #- 211386144 Account MA 01876
Number: 002444
lee Chung 547558112 The Bank of Canton 66 Cedarcrest Rd, Canton,  jeechung@alum.mit.edu Nore n % $ 38,370.63 %
Routing number: 211373102 MA 02021
Acct number: 24172607
Dan Beauregard 025-48-2259 13 Main Street, Acton, MA Nore n % $ 38370.63 %
Bank of America 01720
Routing #: 011000138
Account #: 000034232521
Sergey Bobrov 176316795 Chase Routing: 232 Geminiflora Bend, 5.bobrov.mail@gmail.com Nore a 1% § 12,790.21 %
021000021 Account: Leander, X 78641
550068512
William Wisseman 012-74-1046  Routing: 026009503 Account 220 south street WilliamWissemann@gmall.com None a 1% § 12,790.21 %
Number: 0046 47212480
Apt.5
Jamaica Plain, Ma 02130-
3941
Aftab Alam 212490422 Bank: JPMorgan Chase 82 North Main St. #3223, Aftab.alam @gmail.com Nore n % § 12,790.21 o%
Routing: 02100021 Natick MA 01760
Account number: 673003190165
Nicholas Orefice 049-92-8261  Bank of America 1212 Guadalupe st unit 904, None a 1% § 10,232.17 o%
Routing: 026009593 Austin, TX 78701
Account Number: 385015343354
040-78-5782  Bank of America Routing: 57 Westlake Road, Natick,  dhowellboston@gmail.com None a &% $ 63,951.06 %
026009593 AccountNumber: MA 01760
004610128860
Karen Higgins 023-66-8449  Bank of America 26 Crooked Spring Road,  Khiggins3@comeast.net None ¥ 12% § 115,111.90 19%
Routing: 026009593 North Chelmsford, MA 01863
Account Number: 466014279063
John Worral 073481702 Bank of America 39 Riverdale Road, Wellesley, john.worrall@icloud.com 1744491 of Common and 203087 of v 4% § 140,692.34 23%
Routing: 026009593 MA 02481 Series A Prefesred
Account Number:
Total 100% $ 1,000,000.00 100%
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Form of First Certificate of Merger
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Execution Version

CERTIFICATE OF MERGER
MERGING

PROJECT PROTECT MERGER SUB I, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

WITH AND INTO

ZERONORTH, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

Pursuant to Title 8, Section 251(c) of the Delaware General Corporation Law, ZeroNorth, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify as follows:

FIRST: The name and state of incorporation of the constituent corporations are: (a)
ZeroNorth, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the
State of Delaware, and (b) Project Protect Merger Sub |, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a corporation duly
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (collectively, the “Constituent
Corporations™).

SECOND:  An Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of November 12, 2021, by
and among the Constituent Corporations, Harness Inc., Project Protect Merger Sub II, LLC, and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, as the securityholder
representative (the “Merger Agreement”), has been approved, adopted, executed and acknowledged
by each of the Constituent Corporations in accordance with Section 251 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law and the requisite stockholders of the Constituent Corporations have given their
written consent thereto in accordance with Section 228 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

THIRD: In accordance with the Merger Agreement, upon the effectiveness of the filing
of this Certificate of Merger, Merger Sub | will merge with and into the Corporation and the separate
corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease. The surviving corporation shall be ZeroNorth, Inc. and
the name of the surviving corporation (the “Surviving Corporation”) is “ZeroNorth, Inc.”

FOURTH:  The Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation is amended and
restated to read in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit A hereto.

FIFTH: An executed copy of the Merger Agreement is on file at the principal place of
business of the Surviving Corporation at the following address: 116 New Montgomery Street #200,
San Francisco, CA. 94105.

SIXTH: An executed copy of the Merger Agreement will be furnished by the Surviving
Corporation, on request and without cost, to any stockholder of either Constituent Corporation.
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SEVENTH: The Certificate of Merger and the Merger shall become effective upon the filing
of this Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, ZeroNorth, Inc. has caused this Certificate of Merger to be
executed in its corporate name as of the 15th day of November, 2021.

ZERONORTH, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Certificate of Merger (First Step)]
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EXHIBIT A
AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF
ZERONORTH, INC.

ARTICLE |
The name of the corporation is ZeroNorth, Inc. (the “Corporation™).

ARTICLE Il
The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange
Street, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, 19801. The name of the registered agent at such
address is Corporation Service Company.

ARTICLE I
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations
may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as the same exists or
as may hereafter be amended from time to time.

ARTICLE IV
This Corporation is authorized to issue one class of shares to be designated Common Stock.
The total number of shares of Common Stock the Corporation has authority to issue is 100 with a par
value of $0.0001 per share.

ARTICLE V
In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of Directors
of the Corporation (the “Board”) is expressly authorized to make, alter, amend or repeal the bylaws
of the Corporation (the “Bylaws”).

ARTICLE VI
Elections of directors need not be by written ballot unless otherwise provided in the Bylaws.

ARTICLE VII
Meetings of stockholders may be held within or without the State of Delaware, as the Bylaws
of the Corporation may provide. The books of the Corporation may be kept (subject to any provision
contained in the statutes) outside the State of Delaware at such place or places as may be designated
from time to time by the Board or in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII

To the fullest extent permitted by law, a director of the Corporation shall not be personally
liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a
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director. If the General Corporation Law or any other law of the State of Delaware is amended to
authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the
liability of a director of the Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted
by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as so amended.

The following indemnification provisions shall apply to the persons enumerated below.

1. Right to Indemnification of Directors and Officers. The Corporation shall indemnify and
hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as it presently exists or may
hereafter be amended, any person (an “Indemnified Person”) who was or is made or is
threatened to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding,
whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “Proceeding”), by reason of the
fact that such person, or a person for whom such person is the legal representative, is or was
a director or officer of the Corporation or, while a director or officer of the Corporation, is
or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust,
enterprise or nonprofit entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans,
against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) reasonably
incurred by such Indemnified Person in such Proceeding. Notwithstanding the preceding
sentence, except as otherwise provided in Section 3 of this Article VI, the Corporation shall
be required to indemnify an Indemnified Person in connection with a Proceeding (or part
thereof) commenced by such Indemnified Person only if the commencement of such
Proceeding (or part thereof) by the Indemnified Person was authorized in advance by the
Board.

2. Prepayment of Expenses of Directors and Officers. The Corporation shall pay the expenses
(including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an Indemnified Person in defending any Proceeding
in advance of its final disposition, provided, however, that, to the extent required by law,
such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of the Proceeding shall be made
only upon receipt of an undertaking by the Indemnified Person to repay all amounts
advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the Indemnified Person is not entitled to
be indemnified under this Article VIII or otherwise.

3. Claims by Directors and Officers. If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses
under this Article VIII is not paid in full within thirty (30) days after a written claim therefor
by the Indemnified Person has been received by the Corporation, the Indemnified Person
may file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim and, if successful in whole or in
part, shall be entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such claim. In any such action
the Corporation shall have the burden of proving that the Indemnified Person is not entitled
to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under applicable law.

4. Indemnification of Employees and Agents. The Corporation may indemnify and
advance expenses to any person who was or is made or is threatened to be made or is
otherwise involved in any Proceeding by reason of the fact that such person, or a person
for whom such person is the legal representative, is or was an employee or agent of the
Corporation or, while an employee or agent of the Corporation, is or was serving at the
request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation
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or of a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust, enterprise or nonprofit
entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against all liability and
loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) reasonably incurred by such person
in connection with such Proceeding. The ultimate determination of entitlement to
indemnification of persons who are non-director or officer employees or agents shall be
made in such manner as is determined by the Board in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding
the foregoing sentence, the Corporation shall not be required to indemnify a person in
connection with a Proceeding initiated by such person if the Proceeding was not authorized
in advance by the Board.

. Advancement of Expenses of Employees and Agents. The Corporation may pay the
expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an employee or agent in defending any
Proceeding in advance of its final disposition on such terms and conditions as may be
determined by the Board.

Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights conferred on any person by this Article V111 shall
not be exclusive of any other rights which such person may have or hereafter acquire under
any statute, provision of the certificate of incorporation, these by-laws, agreement, vote of
stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

. Other Indemnification. The Corporation’s obligation, if any, to indemnify any person who
was or is serving at its request as a director, officer or employee of another Corporation,
partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, organization or other enterprise
shall be reduced by any amount such person may collect as indemnification from such
other Corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, organization
or other enterprise.

. Insurance. The Board may, to the full extent permitted by applicable law as it presently
exists, or may hereafter be amended from time to time, authorize an appropriate officer or
officers to purchase and maintain at the Corporation’s expense insurance: (a) to indemnify
the Corporation for any obligation which it incurs as a result of the indemnification of
directors, officers and employees under the provisions of this Article VIII; and (b) to
indemnify or insure directors, officers and employees against liability in instances in which
they may not otherwise be indemnified by the Corporation under the provisions of this
Article VIII.

. Amendment or Repeal. Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provisions of this
Article V111 shall not adversely affect any right or protection hereunder of any person in
respect of any act or omission occurring prior to the time of such repeal or modification.
The rights provided hereunder shall inure to the benefit of any Indemnified Person and
such person’s heirs, executors and administrators. Any amendment, repeal or modification
of the foregoing provisions of this Article V11 shall not adversely affect any right or
protection of any director, officer or other agent of the Corporation existing at the time of
such amendment, repeal or modification.
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Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provisions of this Article VIII by the stockholders of
the Corporation shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Corporation
existing at the time of, or increase the liability of any director of the Corporation with respect to any
acts or omissions of such director occurring prior to, such repeal or modification.

ARTICLE IX
Except as provided in Article VIII above, the Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter,
change or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or
hereafter prescribed by statute, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject
to this reservation.
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Exhibit G

Form of Second Certificate of Merger
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Execution Version

CERTIFICATEOF MERGER
MERGING

ZeroNorth, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation

WITHAND INTO

Project Protect Merger Sub 11, LLC,
a Delaware Limited Liability Company

Pursuant to Title 8, Section 264(c) of the Delaware General Corporation Law and Title 6,
Section 18-209 of the Limited Liability Company Act, the undersigned limited liability company
executed the following Certificate of Merger:

FIRST: The name of the surviving limited liability company is Project Protect
Merger Sub Il, LLC, which was formed pursuant to the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act,
and the name of the corporation being merged into this surviving limited liability company is
ZeroNorth, Inc., which was incorporated pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law.

SECOND:  An Agreementand Plan of Reorganization, dated as of November 12, 2021,
by and among Harness Inc., Project Protect Merger Sub I, Inc., ZeroNorth, Inc., Project Protect
Merger Sub I, LLC, and Shareholder Representative Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability
company, as the securityholder representative (the “Merger Agreement”), has been approved,
adopted, certified, executed and acknowledged by the surviving limited liability company and the
merged corporation in accordance with Section 264 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and
Section 18-209 of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, and the requisite stockholders of
the merged corporation have given their written consent thereto in accordance with Section 228 of
the Delaware General Corporation Law.

THIRD: In accordance with the Merger Agreement, upon the effectiveness of the
filingof this Certificate of Merger, ZeroNorth, Inc. will merge with and into Project Protect Merger
Sub 11, LLC and the separate corporate existence of ZeroNorth, Inc. shall cease. The name of the
surviving limited liability company is “Project Protect Merger Sub 11, LLC”.

FOURTH:  The merger shall become effective upon the filing of this Certificate of
Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

FIFTH: The Merger Agreement is on file at 116 New Montgomery Street #200, San
Francisco, CA 94105, the place of business of the surviving limited liability company.

SIXTH: A copy of the Merger Agreement will be furnished by the surviving limited
liability company on request, without cost, to any member of the constituent limited liability
company or stockholder of the constituent corporation.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Project Protect Merger Sub I, LLC has caused this Certificate
of Merger to be signed by an authorized person, the 15th day of November, 2021.

PROJECT PROTECT MERGERSUB I1, LLC

By:
Name: Jyoti Bansal
Title: Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to Certificate of Merger (Second Step)]
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Exhibit H

Form of Escrow Agreement
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Execution

ESCROW AGREEMENT

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into and effective this 15th day of
November, 2021, by and among Acquiom Clearinghouse LLC (the “Escrow Agent”), Harness Inc.
(“Parent™) and Shareholder Representative Services LLC (the “Representative” and together with
Parent, the “Parties™), solely in its capacity as the representative of the Indemnifying Parties, as defined
in the Merger Agreement (the “Indemnifying Parties™), in connection with that certain Agreement and
Plan of Reorganization, dated as of November 15, 2021 (the “Acquisition Agreement”), by and among
Parent, Project Protect Merger Sub 1, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of
Parent (“Merger Sub 1), Project Protect Merger Sub 11, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and
a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub 11" and, together with Merger Sub I, the “Merger
Subs”), ZeroNorth, Inc. (the “Company”) and the Representative.

Terms and Conditions

1.1. Parent and the Representative hereby appoint the Escrow Agent as their escrow agent, and the
Escrow Agent hereby accepts its duties as provided herein. Parent shall remit funds (the “Escrow
Funds™) to an account (the “Escrow Account™), using the wire instructions set forth on Schedule |.

1.2. Within two Business Days of receipt of written instructions (“Joint Instructions™), signed by an
authorized representative of each of Parent and the Representative, the Escrow Agent shall disburse
funds held in the Escrow Account as provided in such Joint Instructions and this Section 1.2. The
Joint Instructions shall include the amount to be disbursed and shall include that upon receipt of
funds, the Escrow Agent shall disburse, to the Parent or to Acquiom Financial LLC, in its capacity
as the Payments Administrator as designated by the Representative. With respect to any payments
made under this Escrow Agreement to anyone who is not a Party, neither Escrow Agent nor its
affiliates shall (i) be deemed a payor or withholding agent or (ii) have any responsibility for
performing any tax reporting or withholding. The Escrow Agent’s function of making such payments
is solely ministerial and upon express direction of the Parties. The Parties represent that such
payments are not subject to any tax withholding and that the Parties shall be solely responsible for
any applicable tax reporting. For purposes of this Agreement, “Business Day” shall mean any day
other than a Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which the Escrow Agent located at the notice
address set forth in Section 4.4 is authorized or required by law or executive order to remain closed.

1.3. On the date that is fifteen (15) months following the date hereof (the “Expiration Date”), the
Escrow Agent shall, automatically and without the requirement for further action or notice from
Parent or the Representative, deliver to the Indemnifying Parties the portion of the Escrow Funds, if
any, that has not previously been delivered to Parent less the portion of the Escrow Funds having a
value equal to the amount that may be necessary to satisfy all unresolved, unsatisfied or disputed
claims for damages specified in any Notice of Claim delivered to the Representative before the
Expiration Date (based on the total amount of damages reasonably being claimed by Indemnified
Parties in good faith in such unresolved, unsatisfied or disputed claims). If any claim is unresolved,
unsatisfied or disputed as of the Expiration Date, then the Escrow Agent shall retain possession and
custody of the portion of the Escrow Funds with a value that equals the total amount of damages then
being reasonably claimed by Indemnified Parties in good faith in all such unresolved, unsatisfied or
disputed claims, and as soon as all such claims have been resolved and all amounts owed to the
Indemnifying Parties paid therefrom, Parent and the Representative shall, subject to Section 7.8 of
the Acquisition Agreement, deliver Joint Instructions directing the Escrow Agent to deliver such
remaining amounts to the Indemnifying Parties.
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Provisions as to the Escrow Agent

2.1. This Agreement expressly and exclusively sets forth the duties of the Escrow Agent and no
implied dutiesor obligationsshall be read into this Agreement against the Escrow Agent. The Escrow
Agent shall have no liability in connection herewith except for the Escrow Agent’s fraud, bad faith,
willful misconduct or gross negligence. In no event shall the Escrow Agent be liable for incidental,
indirect, special, consequential or punitive damages of any kind whatsoever (including but not limited
to lost profits), even if the Escrow Agent has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage
and regardless of the form of action in which such damages are sought. The Escrow Agent shall have
no liability with respect to the transfer or distribution of any funds effected by the Escrow Agent
pursuant to wiring or transfer instructions provided to the Escrow Agent in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement. Any wire transfers of funds made by the Escrow Agent pursuant to this
Agreement will be made subject to and in accordance with the Escrow Agent’s usual and ordinary
wire transfer procedures in effect from time to time, including without limitation call-back
procedures. The Escrow Agent’s inability to receive or confirm funds transfer instructions pursuant
to such security procedure may result in a delay in accomplishing such funds transfer and agree that
the Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any loss caused by any such delay. No provision of this
Agreement shall require the Escrow Agent to risk or advance its own funds or otherwise incur any
financial liability in connection with this Agreement. The Escrow Agent shall not be obligated to take
any legal action or to commence any proceedings in connection with this Agreement or any property
held hereunder or to appear in, prosecute or defend in any such legal action or proceedings. The
parties hereto acknowledge that the Representative and the Escrow Agent are affiliated entities. In
the event of a dispute involving the Escrow Agent, the parties understand that the Representative and
the Escrow Agent may be directly adverse, but only in their agent capacities. This Agreement
constitutes the entire agreement between the Escrow Agent and Parent and the Representative in
connection with the subject matter of this Agreement, and no other agreement entered into between
Parent and the Representative, or either of them, including, without limitation, the Acquisition
Agreement, shall be considered as adopted or binding, in whole or in part, upon the Escrow Agent.
The Escrow Agent shall be protected in acting upon any written instruction, notice, request or
instrument, delivered in accordance with the terms hereof, which the Escrow Agent in good faith
reasonably believes to be genuine and what it purports, to be. The Escrow Agent may consult with
legal counsel in the event of any dispute or question as to the construction of any of the provisions
hereof or its duties hereunder, and it shall incur no liability and shall be fully protected in acting
reasonably in accordance with the advice of such counsel.

2.2. Inthe event of any disagreement between Parent and the Representative, or between either of
them and any other party, resulting in adverse claims or demands being made in connection with the
matters covered by this Agreement, or in the event that the Escrow Agent, in good faith, be in
reasonable doubt as to what action it should take hereunder, the Escrow Agent may, at its option,
refuse to comply with any claims or demands on it, or refuse to take any other action hereunder, s0
long as such disagreement continues or such doubt exists, and in any such event, the Escrow Agent
shall not be or become liable inany way or to any party for its failure or refusal to act, and the Escrow
Agent shall be entitled to continue to refrain from acting until the earliest of: (i) receipt of a Joint
Instruction, (ii) the rights of Parent and the Representative and all other interested parties shall have
been fully and finally adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction or (ii) all differencesshall have
been adjudged and all doubt resolved by agreement among Purchaser and the Representative and all
other interested parties, and the Escrow Agent shall have been notified thereof in writing signed by
Purchaser and the Representative. Notwithstanding the preceding, the Escrow Agent may in its
reasonable discretion obey the order, judgment, decree or levy of any court or of an agency of the
United States or any political subdivision thereof, or of any agency of any State of the United States
or of any political subdivision thereof, and the Escrow Agent is hereby authorized in its reasonable
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discretion, to comply with and obey any such orders, judgments, decrees or levies and it shall not be
liable to any of the Parties hereto or to any other person, firm or corporation, by reason of such
compliance notwithstanding such writ, order or decree being subsequently reversed, modified,
annulled, set aside or vacated. The rights of the Escrow Agent in this paragraph are cumulative of all
other rights which it may have by law or otherwise.

2.3. Purchaser and the Representative agree to indemnify the Escrow Agent from and against any
and all reasonable, documented and out-of-pocket losses, liabilities and expenses (“Losses™) which
arise out of or in connection with this Agreement; provided, however, that the Escrow Agent shall
not be entitled to indemnity with respect to Losses that have been finally adjudicated by a court of
competent jurisdiction to have been caused by the Escrow Agent’s fraud, bad faith, gross negligence
or willful misconduct. This section shall survive the termination of this Agreement and any
resignation or removal of the Escrow Agent.

2.4. Any entity into which the Escrow Agent may be merged or converted or with which it may be
consolidated, or any entity to which all or substantially all the escrow business of the Escrow Agent
may be transferred, shall be the Escrow Agent under this Agreement without further act.

2.5. The Escrow Agent may resign at any time from its obligations under this Agreement by
providing written notice to Purchaser and the Representative. The Escrow Agent may be removed
and replaced following written notice to the Escrow Agent by the Parties. In either event, such
resignation or removal shall be effective on the date set forth in such written notice, which shall be
no earlier than thirty (30) days after such written notice has been furnished. Parent and the
Representative shall promptly appoint a successor escrow agent. In the event no successor escrow
agent has been appointed on or prior to the date such resignation or removal is to become effective,
the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to tender into the custody of any court of competent jurisdiction
all Escrow Funds delivered hereunder and the Escrow Agent shall thereupon be relieved of all further
duties and obligations under this Agreement. The Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility for the
appointment of a successor escrow agent hereunder.

Compensation of the Escrow Agent

3.1. Parentshall pay the fees for the services provided by the Escrow Agent hereunder in accordance
with invoices, consistent with the fees set forth on Exhibit B delivered to Parent. The Escrow Agent
is hereby granted the right to set off and deduct any unpaid fees and unsatisfied indemnification rights
from the Escrow Fund that remain unpaid for a period of thirty (30) days after providing the Parent
with an invoice for such amounts, provided that Parent shall then be obligated to replenish the Escrow
Account with any such deducted amounts.

Miscellaneous

4.1. During the term of this Agreement, the Escrow Fund shall be deposited as indicated in Exhibit
B. Any interest will accrue on Escrow Fund deposits beginning the day immediately following the
day Escrow Fund deposits are received, based on the daily average balances of Escrow Funds so held
in the Escrow Account. Any interest will be credited monthly and become part of the Escrow Fund.
Deposits into the Escrow Account are insured, subject to the applicable rules and regulations of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “EDIC™), in the standard FDIC insurance amount of
$250,000, including principal and accrued interest, and are not secured. Escrow Agent or its affiliates
may receive compensation from third parties based on balances deposited in the Escrow Account.
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4.2 Parentand the Representative agree that, subject to the termsand conditions of this Agreement,
the owner of the Escrow Funds is the Parent, including for all U.S. federal, state and local income tax
purposes, and all interest and income from the investment of the funds shall be reported as having
been earned by Parent as of the end of the calendar year in which it was earned, whether or not such
income was disbursed during such calendar year, to the extent required by the United States Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS™). On or before the execution and delivery of this Agreement, each of Parent
and Representative shall provide to the Escrow Agent a correct, duly completed, dated and executed
current IRS Form W-9 or applicable Form W-8, whichever is appropriate, or any successor forms
thereto, in a form and substance satisfactory to the Escrow Agent (which such forms Escrow Agent
shall be permitted to transmit to the depository institution where the Escrow Funds are held) including
appropriate supporting documentation and/or any other form, document, and/or certificate required
or reasonably requested by the Escrow Agent to validate the form provided. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein provided, except for the delivery and filing of tax information
reporting forms required pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, to be delivered
and filed with the IRS by the Escrow Agent, as escrow agent hereunder, or by the institution where
the Escrow Account is held, the Escrow Agent shall have no duty to prepare or file any Federal or
state tax report or return with respect to any funds held pursuant to this Agreement or any income
earned thereon.

4.3 The Escrow Agent shall provide monthly reports of transactions and balances to Parent and the
Representative as of the end of each month, until the disbursement of all Escrow Funds. This
Agreement shall terminate upon the final disbursement of all Escrow Funds.

4.4, Any notice, request for consent, report, or any other communication required or permitted in
this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered (i)
personally, (ii) by facsimile transmission with written confirmation of receipt, (iii) by electronic mail
to the email address given below, and written confirmation of receipt is obtained promptly after
completion of the transmission, (iv) by overnight delivery with a reputable national overnight
delivery service, or (v) by United States mail, postage prepaid, or by certified mail, return receipt
requested and postage prepaid, in each case to the appropriate address set forth below or at such other
address as any party hereto may have furnished to the other parties hereto in writing:

If to the Escrow Agent:

Acquiom Clearinghouse LLC

950 17t Street, Suite 1400

Denver, CO 80202

Attention: Alexander Schreck

Telephone: (720) 613-1029; (303) 222-2080

Facsimile: (720) 554-7828

Email: aschreck@srsacquiom.com, cc: escrowagent@srsacquiom.com

If to Parent:

Harness Inc.

116 New Montgomery Street #200
San Francisco, CA 94105
Attention: Jyoti Bansal, CEO
E-Mail: jyoti@harness.io

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
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Goodwin Procter LLP

601 Marshall Street

Redwood City, CA 94063
Attention: Caine Moss

Fax No.: (650) 471-6066

E-Mail: cmoss@goodwinlaw.com

If to the Representative:;

Shareholder Representative Services LLC
950 17t Street, Suite 1400

Denver, CO 80202

Attention: Managing Director
Telephone: (303) 648-4085

Facsimile: (303) 623-0294

Email: deals@srsacquiom.com

Any party may unilaterally designate a different address by giving notice of each change in the
manner specified above to each other party.

4.5. This Agreement is intended to be construed according to the laws of the State of Delaware.
Except as permitted in Section 2.4, neither this Agreement nor any rights or obligations hereunder
may be assigned by any party hereto without the express written consent of each of the other parties
hereto. This Agreement shall inure to and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective
successors, heirs and permitted assigns.

4.6. The terms of this Agreement may be altered, amended, modified or revoked only by an
instrument in writing signed by all the parties hereto.

4.7. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held or deemed to be or shall in fact, be illegal,
inoperative or unenforceable, the same shall not affect any other provision or provisions herein
contained or render the same invalid, inoperative or unenforceable to any extent whatsoever.

4.8. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of Parent, the Representative and the Escrow Agent, and
their respective successors and permitted assigns, and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended
to or shall confer upon any other person or entity any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of
any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement (it being understood that the
Representative, as a signatory Party hereto, is entitled to enforce this Agreement for the benefit of the
Indemnifying Parties). The Escrow Agent shall have the right to perform any of its duties hereunder
through its affiliates, agents, attorneys, custodians or nominees.

4.9. No party to this Agreement shall be liable to any other party hereto for losses due to, or if it is
unable to perform itsobligations under the terms of this Agreement because of, acts of God, fire, war,
terrorism, floods, strikes, electrical outages, equipment or transmission failure, or other similar causes
reasonably beyond its control.

4.10. Alltitles and headings in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience of reference and
shall in no way limit or otherwise affect the interpretation of any of the provisions hereof.
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4.11. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed
an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an
executed signature page to this Agreement and agreements, certificates, instruments and documents
entered into in connection herewith by facsimile or other electronic transmission (including PDF
format) will be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart to this Agreement or such
agreements, certificates, instruments and documents.

4.12. Contemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and, if necessary, from
time to time thereafter, each of the parties to this Agreement (other than the Escrow Agent) shall
execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent a Certificate of Incumbency substantially in the form of
Exhibit A-1 and A-2 hereto (a “Certificate of Incumbency”) for the purpose of establishing the
identity and authority of persons entitled to issue notices, instructions or directions to the Escrow
Agent on behalf of each such party. Until such time as the Escrow Agent shall receive an amended
Certificate of Incumbency replacing any Certificate of Incumbency theretofore delivered to the
Escrow Agent, the Escrow Agent shall be fully protected in relying, without further inquiry, on the
most recent Certificate of Incumbency furnished to the Escrow Agent. Whenever this Agreement
provides for joint written notices, joint written instructions or other joint actions to be delivered to
the Escrow Agent, the Escrow Agent shall be fully protected in relying, without further inquiry, on
any joint written notice, instructions or action executed by persons named in such Certificate of
Incumbency.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT PROCEDURES FOR OPENING A NEW
ACCOUNT:

To help the government fight the funding of terrorismand money laundering activities, Federal
law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify and record information that identifies
each person who opens an account. When a party opens an account, the Escrow Agent will ask
for each party’s name, address, date of birth, or other appropriate information that will allow
the Escrow Agent to identify such party. The Escrow Agent may also ask to see each party’s
driver’s license or other identifying documents.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the
date first above written.

AcQuioM CLEARINGHOUSE LLC, as the Escrow Agent

By:
Name:
Title:

HARNESS INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

SHAREHOLDERREPRESENTATIVE SERVICES
LLC, solely in its capacity as the Representative

By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT A-1

Certificate of Incumbency
(List of Authorized Representatives)

Client Name: HARNESS INC.

As an authorized officer of the above referenced entity, | hereby certify that each person listed below is an
authorized signer for such entity, and that the title and signature appearing beside each name is true and

correct.
Name Title Signature Phone Email
Jyoti Bansal ~ Chief Executive Officer (415) 990-4560 Jyoti@harness.io

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this certificate has been executed by a duly authorized officer on:*

Date

By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT A-2

Certificate of Incumbency
(List of Authorized Representatives)

Client Name: SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE SERVICES LLC

As an authorized officer of the above referenced entity, | hereby certify that each person listed below is an
authorized signor for such entity, and that the title and signature appearing beside each name is true and
correct.

Name Title Signature Contact Number
Chris Letang Managing Director 303-957-2855
Casey McTigue Executive Director 415-363-6081
Lon LeClair President 303-222-2078
Paul Koenig Managing Director 303-957-2850

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this certificate has been executed by a duly authorized officer on:

Date

Its:
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SCHEDULE |

WIRE TRANSFER INSTRUCTIONS

Buyer:

Silicon Valley Bank

ABA #: 121140399
Account Name: Harness Inc.
Account #: 3302259355
Reference: Harness Escrow
Attention:

Escrow Account:

Citizens Bank

1 Citizens Bank Drive

Riverside, Rl 02915

ABA #: 011-500-120

SWIFT CODE: CTZIUS33

Credit: Citizens Bank NA fbo Acquiom Clearinghouse Escrow Clients
Account #: 1339477782

Reference: Harness Inc. Escrow
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EXHIBIT B

SCHEDULE OF ESCROW AGENT FEES

Acceptance Fee: Waived

Initial Fees as they relate to Acquiom Clearinghouse LLC acting inthe capacity of Escrow Agent— includes
review of this Agreement; acceptance of the Escrow appointment; setting up of Escrow Account(s) and
accounting records; and coordination of receipt of funds for deposit to the Escrow Account(s).

Annual Administration Fee: Waived

For ordinary administrative services by Escrow Agent — includes daily routine account management;
interest tracking; monitoring claim notices pursuant to the agreement; disbursement of funds in accordance
with the agreement; and delivery of trust account statements to all applicable parties. These fees cover a
full year, or any part thereof, and thus are not pro-rated in the year of termination. The annual fee is billed
in advance and payable prior to that year’s service.

Acquiom Clearinghouse’s bid is based on the following assumptions:

Number of Escrow Accounts to be established: 1

Estimated Term: 12-18 months

Amount of Escrow: $1,000,000

Estimated number of disbursements: 2

Funds held in an account at Citizens Bank which shall not earn interest

Qut-of-Pocket Expenses: Billed at Cost
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Exhibit |

Form of FIRPTA Certificate
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Exhibit |

ZeroNorth, Inc.
November 15, 2021

Internal Revenue Service
Ogden Service Center
P.O. Box 409101

Ogden, UT 84409

Dear Sir or Madam:

At the request of Harness Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Purchaser”) in connection
with the acquisition of ZeroNorth, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), the Company
provided the attached certificate to the Purchaser. This letter is provided pursuant to the
requirements of Treasury Regulations Section 1.897-2(h)(2) regarding whether an equity interest
in the Company is a “U.S. real property interest” within the meaning of Section 897(c)(1) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Cade”).

The Company’s address is ZeroNorth., Inc., P.O. Box 120255, Boston, MA 02112 and its
U.S. employer identification number is 61-1765468.

The certificate to this letter was not requested by a foreign interest holder. It was
voluntarily provided by the Company in response to a request from the Purchaser in accordance
with Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(c)(3)(i). The Purchaser that requested the certificate
has an address of: Harness Inc., 116 New Montgomery Street #200, San Francisco, CA. 94105 and
its employer identification number is 81-0806251.

The equity interests in the Company are not, as of the date hereof, “United States real
property interests,” as that term is defined in Section 897(c)(1) of the Code because the Company
is not, as of the date hereof, and has not been during the five-year period ending on the date hereof,
a “United States real property holding corporation” within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the
Code and the applicable Treasury Regulations thereunder.

Under penalty of perjury, the undersigned declares that he has examined this letter and the
attached certificate and to the best of his knowledge and belief both are true, correct, and complete
and further declares that he is a responsible corporate officer of the Company and has authority to
sign this document on behalf of the Company.

Sincerely,

ZeroNorth, Inc.

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

ACTIVE/113165502.5
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Exhibit |

CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO TREASURY
REGULATIONS SECTIONS 1.1445-2(c)(3) and 1.897-2(h)

This certificate is provided by ZeroNorth, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”)
to Harness Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to Treasury Regulations
Sections 1.1445-2(c)(3) and 1.897-2(h), in connection with that certain Agreement and Plan of
Reorganization (the “Agreement”) entered into as of November 15, 2021, by and among the
Company, the Purchaser, and certain other parties. The undersigned, on behalf of the Company,
hereby certifies, as of the date of this certificate, the following:

1. The equity interests of the Company do not constitute a “United States real
property interest” within the meaning of Section 897(c)(1) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), because the Company is not,
and has not been during the five-year period ending on the date hereof, a
“United States real property holding corporation” within the meaning of Section
897(c)(2) of the Code and the applicable Treasury Regulations thereunder.

2. The Company’s federal employer identification number is 61-1765468.

3. The Company’s office address is: ZeroNorth, Inc.
PO Box 120255
Boston, MA 02112

This certificate constitutes authorization for the Purchaser, as agent for the Company, to
deliver a copy of this certificate, along with the appropriate notification, to the Internal Revenue
Service on behalf of the Company. The undersigned understands that any false statement
contained herein could be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both.

Under penalty of perjury, the undersigned declares that he has examined this certification
and to the best of his knowledge and belief it is true, correct, and complete and further declares
that he is a responsible corporate officer of the Company and has authority to sign this document
on behalf of the Company.

Sincerely,

ZeroNorth, Inc.

By:
Name:
Title:
Dated:

ACTIVE/113165502.5
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Schedule 1.1(a)

Participating Holders
ClearSky Security Fund I LLC
Crosslink Bayview VIII, LLC
Crosslink Ventures VIII, LLC
Crosslink Ventures VI1I-B, LP
Rally Technology Partners Fund Ill, LP
Rally Ventures Fund 111, L.P.
Petrillo Capital Cyber Investments, LL.C
Cochimetles LLC

Capstone Enterprises LLC

PATENT
REEL: 066769 FRAME: 0505



Schedule 1.1(b)

Accrued Tax Refunds or Credits

Estimated Accrued State Tax Refunds: $41,522
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Schedule 1.1(c)

Prepaid Benefits

Estimated Prepaid Benefits through November 15: $15,000
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William Wisseman
Sergey Bobrov
Bruce McPherson
Nischit Shah

Jee Chung

Schedule 1.1(d)

Key Employees
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Aftab Alam

Dan Beauregard
Sergey Bobrov
Jee Chung

David Howell
Bruce McPherson
Nicholas Orefice

William Wisseman

Schedule 1.1(e)

Non-Officer Plan Participants
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Schedule 1.1(f)

Officer Plan Participants
Karen Higgins

John Worrall
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Schedule 2.8
Company Stockholders Demanding Appraisal Rights

None.
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Schedule 4.7
Parent Financial Statements

Attached.
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SCHEDULE 4.7
Parent Financial Statements
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jan 2021

Financial Row Amount
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355 $100,000.00
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726 $106,834,789.75
1030 - SVB - MarketPlace Account 0370 $989,665.45
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account $17,822.82
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account $2560,132.27
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs $52,469.20
1066 - Lloyds EUR Account - GmbH $23,859.18
1070 - Lloyds AUD Account $72,991.89
1075 - Lloyds USD Account - AUS $1.20
1080 - Airbase Clearing Account $335,049.11

Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable

1100 - Accounts Receivable

1110 - Accounts Receivables

Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable
Total Accounts Receivable
Other Current Asset

1200 - Other Receivables

1205 - Undeposited Funds $12,321.55
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables $163,074.97
1260 - Unbilled AR $276,486.41
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables $451,882.93
1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, 8T
1315 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commissions $2,292,818.66
1320 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees $382,069.84
1355 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Commissions ($931,301.33)
1360 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Partner Fees ($130,183.73)
Total - 1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST $1,613,403.44
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
1410 - Prepaid Expenses $337,824.50
1425 - Prepaid Marketing Expenses $115,302.06
1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses $254,167.32
1440 - Prepaid Software Subscriptions $708,918.41
1490 - Deposits - Current $466,792.20
Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other $1,883,004.49
Total Other Current Asset $3,948,290.86 )
Total Current Assets $121,047,551.84
Fixed Assets
1600 - Fixed Assets
1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment $562,025.52
1610 - Other Computer Equipment $18,071.12
1640 - Furniture and Fixtures $166,265.53
1660 - Leasehold Improvements $67,820.16
Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets $814,182.33
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment ($267,530.04)
1710 - A/D Other Computer Equipment ($9,152.48)
1740 - A/D Furniture and Fixtures ($90,277.27)

$108,676,780.87
$108,676,780.87

$8,422,480.11
$8,422,480.11
$8,422,480.11
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1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

Total Fixed Assets

Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1920 - Investments - Non-current
1940 - Debt Issuance Costs
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
1960 - Intangibles - Developed Technology
1965 - Intangibles - Cust. Relationships
1985 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commission LT
1987 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees LT
1990 - Goodwill
1995 - Capitalized Software
1996 - Accumulated Amortization - Capitalized Software
Total - 1900 - Other Assets

($43,330.09)
($410,289.88)
$403,892.45

$121,333.00
$418,447.53
$259,067.81
$514,795.82
$389,129.60
$4,518,491.77
$878,051.11
$1,000,796.50
$1,031,157.00
($165,818.00)
$8,965,452.14

Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity

Current Liabilities

$8,965,452.14
$130,416,896.43

Accounts Payable
2000 - Accounts Payable
2010 - Accounts Payables
2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable
Total Accounts Payable
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards

$1,381,707.49

$16,530.94
$1,398,238.43
$1,398,238.43

2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280 $192.00
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards $192.00
Total Credit Card $192.00
Other Current Liability
2100 - Accrued Liabilities
2130 - Refunds Payable $118,270.78
Total - 2100 - Accrued Liabilities $118,270.78
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits
2212 - Accrued Bonus Expense $559,357.23

2215 - Accrued Commission Expense
2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related

$1,835,276.49
$1,076,305.93

2223 - Accrued Payroll Health Benefits $27,960.09
2225 - 401K Payable $142,622.44
2230 - Accrued Vacation $1,895,554.37
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits $5,537,076.55
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other $356,613.38
2323 - Accrued Acquisition Costs $419,229.23
2325 - 8F Payroll Taxes Accrued $93,994.05
2335 - Deferred Rent - Current $21,592.92
2370 - Sales Taxes Payable $78,972.39
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current $342,874.75

Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current

2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS

2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise

2420 - Deferred Revenue - PCS

$1,313,276.72

$2,728,534.34
$5,264,162.77
$1,984,483.88

2425 - Deferred Revenue - Services $879,065.41
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current $10,856,246.40
Total Other Current Liability $17,824,870.45
Total Current Liabilities $19,223,300.88

Long Term Liabilities
2500 - Deferred Revenue, Non-Current
2510 - Deferred Rev non-current - SaaS
2512 - Deferred Rev non-current - On-Premise

$1,187,813.58
$552,627.88
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2520 - Deferred Rev non-current - PCS

Total - 2500 - Deferred Revenue, Non-Current

2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
2640 - Deferred Rent - Non Current

2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current

Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
Total Long Term Liabilities
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock
3020 - Common Stock - APIC
3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC
3030 - Common Stock - Warrants
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs
3210 - Series B Preferred Stock
3250 - Series B - Issuance Costs
3260 - Series C Preferred Stock
3270 - Series C - Issuance Costs
Total - 3000 - Stockholders’ Equity
Cumulative Translation Adjustment-Elimination
Retained Earnings
Net Income
Total Equity

Total Liabilities & Equity

$152,189.02
$1,892,630.48

$19,718.56
$222,835.44
$242,554.00
$2,135,184.48

$1,500.32
$1,601,198.26
$10,501,931.58
$528,457.40
$3,000,000.00
($22,393.21)
$21,999,996.17
($59,346.85)
$92,737,098.21
($184,228.77)
$82,999,952.99
($159,651.74)
$212,944,514.36
($0.01)
($55,227,069.01)
($48,659,034.27).
$109,058,411.07
$130,416,896.43
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jul 2021

Financial Row Amount
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355 $105,197.50
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726 $4,159,036.33
1030 - SVB - MarketPlace Account 0370 $535,631.89
1031 - SVB - SAM SV1865 Acct 199935 $75,033,795.85
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account $61,694.70
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account $279,289.88
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs $925,852.67
1066 - Lloyds EUR Account - GmbH $31,187.89
1070 - Lloyds AUD Account $85,881.26
1075 - Lloyds USD Account - AUS $5,769.52
1080 - Airbase Clearing Account $541,259.04

Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable

1100 - Accounts Receivable

$81,764,596.53
$81,764,596.53

1110 - Accounts Receivables $8,016,304.99
Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable $8,016,304.99
Total Accounts Receivable $8,016,304.99
Other Current Asset
1200 - Other Receivables
1205 - Undeposited Funds $183.96
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables $209,854.60
1260 - Unbilled AR $62,947.34
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables $272,985.90
1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1312 - Deferred Contract Costs - Bonus $3,377.13
1315 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commissions $2,892,158.03
1320 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees $616,862.66
1352 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Bonus ($521.48)
1355 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Commissions ($1,676,671.77)
1360 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Partner Fees ($263,850.01)

Total - 1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other

$1,571,354.56

1410 - Prepaid Expenses $927,107.60

1425 - Prepaid Marketing Expenses $328,755.29

1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses $298,540.50

1440 - Prepaid Software Subscriptions $1,271,469.42

1490 - Deposits - Current $762,129.12

Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other $3,588,001.93

Total Other Current Asset $5,432,342.39

Total Current Assets $95,213,243.91

Fixed Assets

1600 - Fixed Assets

1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment $798,800.20

1610 - Other Computer Equipment $18,071.12

1640 - Furniture and Fixtures $166,265.53

1660 - Leasehold Improvements $67,820.16

Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

$1,050,957.01

PATENT

REEL: 066769 FRAME: 0517



1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment

1710 - A/D Other Computer Equipment

1740 - A/D Furniture and Fixtures

1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

Total Fixed Assets

Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1920 - Investments - Non-current
1940 - Debt Issuance Costs
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
1960 - Intangibles - Developed Technology
1965 - Intangibles - Cust. Relationships
1982 - Deferred Contract Costs - Bonus LT
1985 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commission LT
1987 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees LT
1990 - Goodwill
1995 - Capitalized Software
1996 - Accumulated Amortization - Capitalized Software
Total - 1900 - Other Assets

($375,030.86)
($12,164.34)

($115,942.92)
($57,362.86)

($560,500.98)
$490,456.03

$121,333.00
$371,648.05
$257,689.19
$436,434.98
$353,754.20
$12,569.32
$6,472,489.14
$1,149,168.03
$1,000,796.50
$1,031,157.00
($165,818.00)
$11,041,221.41

Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity

Current Liabilities

$11,041,221.41
$106,744,921.35

Accounts Payable
2000 - Accounts Payable
2010 - Accounts Payables

$2,724,178.69

2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable $59,354.03
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable $2,783,532.72
Total Accounts Payable $2,783,532.72
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards
2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280 $75.00
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards $75.00
Total Credit Card $75.00
Other Current Liability
2100 - Accrued Liabilities
2130 - Refunds Payable $32,938.20
Total - 2100 - Accrued Liabilities $32,938.20
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits
2212 - Accrued Bonus Expense $769,541.05
2215 - Accrued Commission Expense $912,161.90
2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related $990,942.80
2223 - Accrued Payroll Health Benefits $29,596.52
2225 - 401K Payable $123,581.80
2230 - Accrued Vacation $2,391,468.15
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits $5,217,292.22
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other $748,758.55
2323 - Accrued Acquisition Costs $756,729.23
2325 - SF Payroll Taxes Accrued $56,294.52
2335 - Deferred Rent - Current $28,595.00
2370 - Sales Taxes Payable $44,778.91
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current $248,031.92

Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current

2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS

2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise

2420 - Deferred Revenue - PCS

$1,883,188.13

$8,423,445.35
$6,190,707.33
$3,102,911.80

2425 - Deferred Revenue - Services $616,416.33
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current $18,333,480.81
Total Other Current Liability $25,466,899.36
Total Current Liabilities $28,250,507.08
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Long Term Liabilities
2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
2640 - Deferred Rent - Non Current
2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current
Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
Total Long Term Liabilities
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock
3020 - Common Stock - APIC
3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC
3030 - Common Stock - Warrants
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs
3210 - Series B Preferred Stock
3250 - Series B - Issuance Costs
3260 - Series C Preferred Stock
3270 - Series C - Issuance Costs
Total - 3000 - Stockholders’ Equity
Cumulative Translation Adjustment-Elimination
Retained Earnings
Net Income
Total Equity
Total Liabilities & Equity

$2,753.90
$170,209.46
$172,963.36
$172,963.36

$1,500.32
$2,193,980.32
$12,399,946.58
$528,457.40
$3,000,000.00
($22,393.21)
$21,999,996.17
($59,346.85)
$92,737,098.21
($184,228.77)
$82,999,952.99
($165,337.94)
$215,429,625.22
$0.01
($103,886,103.28)
($33,222,071.04)
$78,321,450.91
$106,744,921.35
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jan 2021

Financial Row Amount
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355 $100,000.00
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726 $106,834,789.75
1030 - SVB - MarketPlace Account 0370 $989,665.45
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account $17,822.82
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account $2560,132.27
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs $52,469.20
1066 - Lloyds EUR Account - GmbH $23,859.18
1070 - Lloyds AUD Account $72,991.89
1075 - Lloyds USD Account - AUS $1.20
1080 - Airbase Clearing Account $335,049.11

Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable

1100 - Accounts Receivable

1110 - Accounts Receivables

Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable
Total Accounts Receivable
Other Current Asset

1200 - Other Receivables

1205 - Undeposited Funds $12,321.55
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables $163,074.97
1260 - Unbilled AR $276,486.41
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables $451,882.93
1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, 8T
1315 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commissions $2,292,818.66
1320 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees $382,069.84
1355 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Commissions ($931,301.33)
1360 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Partner Fees ($130,183.73)
Total - 1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST $1,613,403.44
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
1410 - Prepaid Expenses $337,824.50
1425 - Prepaid Marketing Expenses $115,302.06
1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses $254,167.32
1440 - Prepaid Software Subscriptions $708,918.41
1490 - Deposits - Current $466,792.20
Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other $1,883,004.49
Total Other Current Asset $3,948,290.86 )
Total Current Assets $121,047,551.84
Fixed Assets
1600 - Fixed Assets
1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment $562,025.52
1610 - Other Computer Equipment $18,071.12
1640 - Furniture and Fixtures $166,265.53
1660 - Leasehold Improvements $67,820.16
Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets $814,182.33
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment ($267,530.04)
1710 - A/D Other Computer Equipment ($9,152.48)
1740 - A/D Furniture and Fixtures ($90,277.27)

$108,676,780.87
$108,676,780.87

$8,422,480.11
$8,422,480.11
$8,422,480.11
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1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

Total Fixed Assets

Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1920 - Investments - Non-current
1940 - Debt Issuance Costs
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
1960 - Intangibles - Developed Technology
1965 - Intangibles - Cust. Relationships
1985 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commission LT
1987 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees LT
1990 - Goodwill
1995 - Capitalized Software
1996 - Accumulated Amortization - Capitalized Software
Total - 1900 - Other Assets

($43,330.09)
($410,289.88)
$403,892.45

$121,333.00
$418,447.53
$259,067.81
$514,795.82
$389,129.60
$4,518,491.77
$878,051.11
$1,000,796.50
$1,031,157.00
($165,818.00)
$8,965,452.14

Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity

Current Liabilities

$8,965,452.14
$130,416,896.43

Accounts Payable
2000 - Accounts Payable
2010 - Accounts Payables
2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable
Total Accounts Payable
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards

$1,381,707.49

$16,530.94
$1,398,238.43
$1,398,238.43

2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280 $192.00
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards $192.00
Total Credit Card $192.00
Other Current Liability
2100 - Accrued Liabilities
2130 - Refunds Payable $118,270.78
Total - 2100 - Accrued Liabilities $118,270.78
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits
2212 - Accrued Bonus Expense $559,357.23

2215 - Accrued Commission Expense
2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related

$1,835,276.49
$1,076,305.93

2223 - Accrued Payroll Health Benefits $27,960.09
2225 - 401K Payable $142,622.44
2230 - Accrued Vacation $1,895,554.37
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits $5,537,076.55
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other $356,613.38
2323 - Accrued Acquisition Costs $419,229.23
2325 - 8F Payroll Taxes Accrued $93,994.05
2335 - Deferred Rent - Current $21,592.92
2370 - Sales Taxes Payable $78,972.39
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current $342,874.75

Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current

2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS

2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise

2420 - Deferred Revenue - PCS

$1,313,276.72

$2,728,534.34
$5,264,162.77
$1,984,483.88

2425 - Deferred Revenue - Services $879,065.41
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current $10,856,246.40
Total Other Current Liability $17,824,870.45
Total Current Liabilities $19,223,300.88

Long Term Liabilities
2500 - Deferred Revenue, Non-Current
2510 - Deferred Rev non-current - SaaS
2512 - Deferred Rev non-current - On-Premise

$1,187,813.58
$552,627.88
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2520 - Deferred Rev non-current - PCS

Total - 2500 - Deferred Revenue, Non-Current

2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
2640 - Deferred Rent - Non Current

2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current

Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
Total Long Term Liabilities
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock
3020 - Common Stock - APIC
3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC
3030 - Common Stock - Warrants
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs
3210 - Series B Preferred Stock
3250 - Series B - Issuance Costs
3260 - Series C Preferred Stock
3270 - Series C - Issuance Costs
Total - 3000 - Stockholders’ Equity
Cumulative Translation Adjustment-Elimination
Retained Earnings
Net Income
Total Equity

Total Liabilities & Equity

$152,189.02
$1,892,630.48

$19,718.56
$222,835.44
$242,554.00
$2,135,184.48

$1,500.32
$1,601,198.26
$10,501,931.58
$528,457.40
$3,000,000.00
($22,393.21)
$21,999,996.17
($59,346.85)
$92,737,098.21
($184,228.77)
$82,999,952.99
($159,651.74)
$212,944,514.36
($0.01)
($55,227,069.01)
($48,659,034.27).
$109,058,411.07
$130,416,896.43
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jul 2021

Financial Row Amount
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355 $105,197.50
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726 $4,159,036.33
1030 - SVB - MarketPlace Account 0370 $535,631.89
1031 - SVB - SAM SV1865 Acct 199935 $75,033,795.85
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account $61,694.70
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account $279,289.88
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs $925,852.67
1066 - Lloyds EUR Account - GmbH $31,187.89
1070 - Lloyds AUD Account $85,881.26
1075 - Lloyds USD Account - AUS $5,769.52
1080 - Airbase Clearing Account $541,259.04

Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable

1100 - Accounts Receivable

$81,764,596.53
$81,764,596.53

1110 - Accounts Receivables $8,016,304.99
Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable $8,016,304.99
Total Accounts Receivable $8,016,304.99
Other Current Asset
1200 - Other Receivables
1205 - Undeposited Funds $183.96
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables $209,854.60
1260 - Unbilled AR $62,947.34
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables $272,985.90
1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1312 - Deferred Contract Costs - Bonus $3,377.13
1315 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commissions $2,892,158.03
1320 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees $616,862.66
1352 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Bonus ($521.48)
1355 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Commissions ($1,676,671.77)
1360 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Partner Fees ($263,850.01)

Total - 1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other

$1,571,354.56

1410 - Prepaid Expenses $927,107.60

1425 - Prepaid Marketing Expenses $328,755.29

1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses $298,540.50

1440 - Prepaid Software Subscriptions $1,271,469.42

1490 - Deposits - Current $762,129.12

Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other $3,588,001.93

Total Other Current Asset $5,432,342.39

Total Current Assets $95,213,243.91

Fixed Assets

1600 - Fixed Assets

1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment $798,800.20

1610 - Other Computer Equipment $18,071.12

1640 - Furniture and Fixtures $166,265.53

1660 - Leasehold Improvements $67,820.16

Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

$1,050,957.01
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1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment

1710 - A/D Other Computer Equipment

1740 - A/D Furniture and Fixtures

1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

Total Fixed Assets

Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1920 - Investments - Non-current
1940 - Debt Issuance Costs
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
1960 - Intangibles - Developed Technology
1965 - Intangibles - Cust. Relationships
1982 - Deferred Contract Costs - Bonus LT
1985 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commission LT
1987 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees LT
1990 - Goodwill
1995 - Capitalized Software
1996 - Accumulated Amortization - Capitalized Software
Total - 1900 - Other Assets

($375,030.86)
($12,164.34)

($115,942.92)
($57,362.86)

($560,500.98)
$490,456.03

$121,333.00
$371,648.05
$257,689.19
$436,434.98
$353,754.20
$12,569.32
$6,472,489.14
$1,149,168.03
$1,000,796.50
$1,031,157.00
($165,818.00)
$11,041,221.41

Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity

Current Liabilities

$11,041,221.41
$106,744,921.35

Accounts Payable
2000 - Accounts Payable
2010 - Accounts Payables

$2,724,178.69

2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable $59,354.03
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable $2,783,532.72
Total Accounts Payable $2,783,532.72
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards
2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280 $75.00
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards $75.00
Total Credit Card $75.00
Other Current Liability
2100 - Accrued Liabilities
2130 - Refunds Payable $32,938.20
Total - 2100 - Accrued Liabilities $32,938.20
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits
2212 - Accrued Bonus Expense $769,541.05
2215 - Accrued Commission Expense $912,161.90
2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related $990,942.80
2223 - Accrued Payroll Health Benefits $29,596.52
2225 - 401K Payable $123,581.80
2230 - Accrued Vacation $2,391,468.15
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits $5,217,292.22
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other $748,758.55
2323 - Accrued Acquisition Costs $756,729.23
2325 - SF Payroll Taxes Accrued $56,294.52
2335 - Deferred Rent - Current $28,595.00
2370 - Sales Taxes Payable $44,778.91
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current $248,031.92

Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current

2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS

2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise

2420 - Deferred Revenue - PCS

$1,883,188.13

$8,423,445.35
$6,190,707.33
$3,102,911.80

2425 - Deferred Revenue - Services $616,416.33
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current $18,333,480.81
Total Other Current Liability $25,466,899.36
Total Current Liabilities $28,250,507.08
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Long Term Liabilities
2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
2640 - Deferred Rent - Non Current
2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current
Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
Total Long Term Liabilities
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock
3020 - Common Stock - APIC
3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC
3030 - Common Stock - Warrants
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs
3210 - Series B Preferred Stock
3250 - Series B - Issuance Costs
3260 - Series C Preferred Stock
3270 - Series C - Issuance Costs
Total - 3000 - Stockholders’ Equity
Cumulative Translation Adjustment-Elimination
Retained Earnings
Net Income
Total Equity
Total Liabilities & Equity

$2,753.90
$170,209.46
$172,963.36
$172,963.36

$1,500.32
$2,193,980.32
$12,399,946.58
$528,457.40
$3,000,000.00
($22,393.21)
$21,999,996.17
($59,346.85)
$92,737,098.21
($184,228.77)
$82,999,952.99
($165,337.94)
$215,429,625.22
$0.01
($103,886,103.28)
($33,222,071.04)
$78,321,450.91
$106,744,921.35
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jan 2019

Financial Row
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1010 - Cash in bank - WF Checking 9926
1015 - Cash in bank - WF Savings 3722
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs
Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable
1100 - Accounts Receivable
1110 - Accounts Receivables
Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable
Total Accounts Receivable
Other Current Asset
1200 - Other Receivables
1240 - Employee Advances
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
1410 - Prepaid Expenses
1415 - FSA Prepaid Expenses
1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses
1490 - Deposits - Current
Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
Total Other Current Asset
Total Current Assets
Fixed Assets
1600 - Fixed Assets
1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment
1640 - Furniture and Fixtures
1660 - Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment
1740 - A/D Furniture and Fixtures
1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
Total Fixed Assets
Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
Total - 1900 - Other Assets
Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

Amount

$34,521.99
$1,819.02
$100,000.00
$11,609,902.81
$13,139.37
$79,561.85
$67,347.05
$11,906,292.09
$11,906,292.09

$359,084.55
$359,084.55
$359,084.55

$10,546.21
($747.58)
$9,798.63

$334,891.51
$9,760.27
$111,812.19
$13,332.08
$469,796.05
$479,594.68
$12,744,971.32

$113,343.84
$23,670.92
$5,695.10
$142,709.86

($34,480.14)
($6,789.10)
($439.04)
($41,708.28)
$101,001.58

$2,194.11
$25,177.91
$27,372.02
$27,372.02
$12,873,344.92
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2000 - Accounts Payable

2010 - Accounts Payables $448,360.03
2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable $2,771.93
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable $451,131.96
Total Accounts Payable $451,131.96
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards
2091 - WFB - Credit Card $17,906.88
2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280 $37,560.38
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards $55,467.26
Total Credit Card $55,467.26

Other Current Liability
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits

2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related $224,424 17
2230 - Accrued Vacation $324,278.02
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits $548,702.19
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2310 - Accrued Consulting Expenses $30,428.14
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other $3,447.95
2325 - SF Payroll Taxes Accrued $29,367.36
2330 - Vat Control Account ($1,472.13)
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current $90,856.26
Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current $152,627.58
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current ($3,281.96)
2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS $981,792.48
2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise $95,590.33
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current $1,074,100.85
Total Other Current Liability $1,775,430.62
Total Current Liabilities $2,282,029.84

Long Term Liabilities
2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current

2660 - Series B Convertible Note Payable $5,020,821.92
2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current $143,325.62
Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current $5,164,147.54
Total Long Term Liabilities $5,164,147.54
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock $1,500.32
3020 - Common Stock - APIC $92,314.44
3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC $2,062,628.33
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock $3,000,000.00
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs ($22,393.21)
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock $21,999,996.17
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs ($59,346.85)
Total - 3000 - Stockholders’ Equity $27,074,699.20
Retained Earnings ($5,991,177.10)
Net Income ($15,656,354.56)
Total Equity $5,427,167.54 )
Total Liabilities & Equity $12,873,344.92
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jan 2020

Financial Row
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726
1030 - SVB - MarketPlace Account 0370
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs
1066 - Lloyds EUR Account - GmbH
1070 - Lloyds AUD Account
1075 - Lloyds USD Account - AUS
1080 - Airbase Clearing Account
Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable
1100 - Accounts Receivable
1110 - Accounts Receivables
Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable
Total Accounts Receivable
Other Current Asset
1200 - Other Receivables
1210 - Interest Receivable
1240 - Employee Advances
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables
1260 - Unbilled AR
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables
1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1315 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commissions
1320 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees
1355 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Commissions
1360 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Partner Fees
Total - 1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
1410 - Prepaid Expenses
1425 - Prepaid Marketing Expenses
1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses
1440 - Prepaid Software Subscriptions
1490 - Deposits - Current
Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
Total Other Current Asset
Total Current Assets
Fixed Assets
1600 - Fixed Assets
1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment
1610 - Other Computer Equipment
1640 - Furniture and Fixtures
1660 - Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment
1710 - A/D Other Computer Equipment

Amount

$99,799.66
$36,135,086.59
$28,239.76
$18,575.64
$151,055.83
$175,240.70
$21,907.27
$72,403.08
$0.38
$438,667.00
$37,140,975.91
$37,140,975.91

$3,753,306.48
$3,753,306.48
$3,753,306.48

$24,793.74
$22,005.03
$133,407.78
$86,822.22
$267,028.77

$680,929.21

$41,354.47
($148,131.02)
($7,846.73)

$566,305.93

$268,465.76
$201,218.86
$259,944.29
$673,681.80
$314,524.49
$1,717,835.20
$2,551,169.90
$43,445,452.29

$328,581.77
$18,071.12
$166,265.53
$64,503.16
$577,421.58

($119,936.88)
($3,128.73)
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1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

Total Fixed Assets

Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1920 - Investments - Non-current
1940 - Debt Issuance Costs
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
1960 - Intangibles - Developed Technology
1965 - Intangibles - Cust. Relationships
1985 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commission LT
1987 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees LT
1990 - Goodwill
1995 - Capitalized Software
1996 - Accumulated Amortization - Capitalized Software
Total - 1900 - Other Assets

($43,330.09)
($410,289.88)
$403,892.45

$121,333.00
$418,447.53
$259,067.81
$514,795.82
$389,129.60
$4,518,491.77
$878,051.11
$1,000,796.50
$1,031,157.00
($165,818.00)
$8,965,452.14

Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity

Current Liabilities

$8,965,452.14
$130,416,896.43

Accounts Payable
2000 - Accounts Payable
2010 - Accounts Payables
2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable
Total Accounts Payable
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards

$1,381,707.49

$16,530.94
$1,398,238.43
$1,398,238.43

2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280 $192.00
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards $192.00
Total Credit Card $192.00
Other Current Liability
2100 - Accrued Liabilities
2130 - Refunds Payable $118,270.78
Total - 2100 - Accrued Liabilities $118,270.78
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits
2212 - Accrued Bonus Expense $559,357.23

2215 - Accrued Commission Expense
2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related

$1,835,276.49
$1,076,305.93

2223 - Accrued Payroll Health Benefits $27,960.09
2225 - 401K Payable $142,622.44
2230 - Accrued Vacation $1,895,554.37
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits $5,537,076.55
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other $356,613.38
2323 - Accrued Acquisition Costs $419,229.23
2325 - 8F Payroll Taxes Accrued $93,994.05
2335 - Deferred Rent - Current $21,592.92
2370 - Sales Taxes Payable $78,972.39
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current $342,874.75

Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current

2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS

2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise

2420 - Deferred Revenue - PCS

$1,313,276.72

$2,728,534.34
$5,264,162.77
$1,984,483.88

2425 - Deferred Revenue - Services $879,065.41
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current $10,856,246.40
Total Other Current Liability $17,824,870.45
Total Current Liabilities $19,223,300.88

Long Term Liabilities
2500 - Deferred Revenue, Non-Current
2510 - Deferred Rev non-current - SaaS
2512 - Deferred Rev non-current - On-Premise

$1,187,813.58
$552,627.88
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2520 - Deferred Rev non-current - PCS

Total - 2500 - Deferred Revenue, Non-Current

2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
2640 - Deferred Rent - Non Current

2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current

Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
Total Long Term Liabilities
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock
3020 - Common Stock - APIC
3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC
3030 - Common Stock - Warrants
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs
3210 - Series B Preferred Stock
3250 - Series B - Issuance Costs
3260 - Series C Preferred Stock
3270 - Series C - Issuance Costs
Total - 3000 - Stockholders’ Equity
Cumulative Translation Adjustment-Elimination
Retained Earnings
Net Income
Total Equity

Total Liabilities & Equity

$152,189.02
$1,892,630.48

$19,718.56
$222,835.44
$242,554.00
$2,135,184.48

$1,500.32
$1,601,198.26
$10,501,931.58
$528,457.40
$3,000,000.00
($22,393.21)
$21,999,996.17
($59,346.85)
$92,737,098.21
($184,228.77)
$82,999,952.99
($159,651.74)
$212,944,514.36
($0.01)
($55,227,069.01)
($48,659,034.27).
$109,058,411.07
$130,416,896.43
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jul 2021

Financial Row Amount
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355 $105,197.50
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726 $4,159,036.33
1030 - SVB - MarketPlace Account 0370 $535,631.89
1031 - SVB - SAM SV1865 Acct 199935 $75,033,795.85
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account $61,694.70
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account $279,289.88
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs $925,852.67
1066 - Lloyds EUR Account - GmbH $31,187.89
1070 - Lloyds AUD Account $85,881.26
1075 - Lloyds USD Account - AUS $5,769.52
1080 - Airbase Clearing Account $541,259.04

Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable

1100 - Accounts Receivable

$81,764,596.53
$81,764,596.53

1110 - Accounts Receivables $8,016,304.99
Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable $8,016,304.99
Total Accounts Receivable $8,016,304.99
Other Current Asset
1200 - Other Receivables
1205 - Undeposited Funds $183.96
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables $209,854.60
1260 - Unbilled AR $62,947.34
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables $272,985.90
1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1312 - Deferred Contract Costs - Bonus $3,377.13
1315 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commissions $2,892,158.03
1320 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees $616,862.66
1352 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Bonus ($521.48)
1355 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Commissions ($1,676,671.77)
1360 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Partner Fees ($263,850.01)

Total - 1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other

$1,571,354.56

1410 - Prepaid Expenses $927,107.60

1425 - Prepaid Marketing Expenses $328,755.29

1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses $298,540.50

1440 - Prepaid Software Subscriptions $1,271,469.42

1490 - Deposits - Current $762,129.12

Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other $3,588,001.93

Total Other Current Asset $5,432,342.39

Total Current Assets $95,213,243.91

Fixed Assets

1600 - Fixed Assets

1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment $798,800.20

1610 - Other Computer Equipment $18,071.12

1640 - Furniture and Fixtures $166,265.53

1660 - Leasehold Improvements $67,820.16

Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

$1,050,957.01
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1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment

1710 - A/D Other Computer Equipment

1740 - A/D Furniture and Fixtures

1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation

Total Fixed Assets

Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1920 - Investments - Non-current
1940 - Debt Issuance Costs
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
1960 - Intangibles - Developed Technology
1965 - Intangibles - Cust. Relationships
1982 - Deferred Contract Costs - Bonus LT
1985 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commission LT
1987 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees LT
1990 - Goodwill
1995 - Capitalized Software
1996 - Accumulated Amortization - Capitalized Software
Total - 1900 - Other Assets

($375,030.86)
($12,164.34)

($115,942.92)
($57,362.86)

($560,500.98)
$490,456.03

$121,333.00
$371,648.05
$257,689.19
$436,434.98
$353,754.20
$12,569.32
$6,472,489.14
$1,149,168.03
$1,000,796.50
$1,031,157.00
($165,818.00)
$11,041,221.41

Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity

Current Liabilities

$11,041,221.41
$106,744,921.35

Accounts Payable
2000 - Accounts Payable
2010 - Accounts Payables

$2,724,178.69

2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable $59,354.03
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable $2,783,532.72
Total Accounts Payable $2,783,532.72
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards
2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280 $75.00
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards $75.00
Total Credit Card $75.00
Other Current Liability
2100 - Accrued Liabilities
2130 - Refunds Payable $32,938.20
Total - 2100 - Accrued Liabilities $32,938.20
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits
2212 - Accrued Bonus Expense $769,541.05
2215 - Accrued Commission Expense $912,161.90
2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related $990,942.80
2223 - Accrued Payroll Health Benefits $29,596.52
2225 - 401K Payable $123,581.80
2230 - Accrued Vacation $2,391,468.15
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits $5,217,292.22
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other $748,758.55
2323 - Accrued Acquisition Costs $756,729.23
2325 - SF Payroll Taxes Accrued $56,294.52
2335 - Deferred Rent - Current $28,595.00
2370 - Sales Taxes Payable $44,778.91
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current $248,031.92

Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current

2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS

2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise

2420 - Deferred Revenue - PCS

$1,883,188.13

$8,423,445.35
$6,190,707.33
$3,102,911.80

2425 - Deferred Revenue - Services $616,416.33
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current $18,333,480.81
Total Other Current Liability $25,466,899.36
Total Current Liabilities $28,250,507.08
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Long Term Liabilities
2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
2640 - Deferred Rent - Non Current
2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current
Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
Total Long Term Liabilities
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock
3020 - Common Stock - APIC
3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC
3030 - Common Stock - Warrants
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs
3210 - Series B Preferred Stock
3250 - Series B - Issuance Costs
3260 - Series C Preferred Stock
3270 - Series C - Issuance Costs
Total - 3000 - Stockholders’ Equity
Cumulative Translation Adjustment-Elimination
Retained Earnings
Net Income
Total Equity
Total Liabilities & Equity

$2,753.90
$170,209.46
$172,963.36
$172,963.36

$1,500.32
$2,193,980.32
$12,399,946.58
$528,457.40
$3,000,000.00
($22,393.21)
$21,999,996.17
($59,346.85)
$92,737,098.21
($184,228.77)
$82,999,952.99
($165,337.94)
$215,429,625.22
$0.01
($103,886,103.28)
($33,222,071.04)
$78,321,450.91
$106,744,921.35
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jan 2019

Financial Row
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1010 - Cash in bank - WF Checking 9926
1015 - Cash in bank - WF Savings 3722
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs
Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable
1100 - Accounts Receivable
1110 - Accounts Receivables
Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable
Total Accounts Receivable
Other Current Asset
1200 - Other Receivables
1240 - Employee Advances
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
1410 - Prepaid Expenses
1415 - FSA Prepaid Expenses
1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses
1490 - Deposits - Current
Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
Total Other Current Asset
Total Current Assets
Fixed Assets
1600 - Fixed Assets
1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment
1640 - Furniture and Fixtures
1660 - Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment
1740 - A/D Furniture and Fixtures
1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
Total Fixed Assets
Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
Total - 1900 - Other Assets
Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

Amount

$34,521.99
$1,819.02
$100,000.00
$11,609,902.81
$13,139.37
$79,561.85
$67,347.05
$11,906,292.09
$11,906,292.09

$359,084.55
$359,084.55
$359,084.55

$10,546.21
($747.58)
$9,798.63

$334,891.51
$9,760.27
$111,812.19
$13,332.08
$469,796.05
$479,594.68
$12,744,971.32

$113,343.84
$23,670.92
$5,695.10
$142,709.86

($34,480.14)
($6,789.10)
($439.04)
($41,708.28)
$101,001.58

$2,194.11
$25,177.91
$27,372.02
$27,372.02
$12,873,344.92
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2000 - Accounts Payable

2010 - Accounts Payables $448,360.03
2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable $2,771.93
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable $451,131.96
Total Accounts Payable $451,131.96
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards
2091 - WFB - Credit Card $17,906.88
2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280 $37,560.38
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards $55,467.26
Total Credit Card $55,467.26

Other Current Liability
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits

2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related $224,424 17
2230 - Accrued Vacation $324,278.02
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits $548,702.19
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2310 - Accrued Consulting Expenses $30,428.14
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other $3,447.95
2325 - SF Payroll Taxes Accrued $29,367.36
2330 - Vat Control Account ($1,472.13)
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current $90,856.26
Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current $152,627.58
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current ($3,281.96)
2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS $981,792.48
2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise $95,590.33
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current $1,074,100.85
Total Other Current Liability $1,775,430.62
Total Current Liabilities $2,282,029.84

Long Term Liabilities
2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current

2660 - Series B Convertible Note Payable $5,020,821.92
2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current $143,325.62
Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current $5,164,147.54
Total Long Term Liabilities $5,164,147.54
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock $1,500.32
3020 - Common Stock - APIC $92,314.44
3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC $2,062,628.33
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock $3,000,000.00
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs ($22,393.21)
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock $21,999,996.17
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs ($59,346.85)
Total - 3000 - Stockholders’ Equity $27,074,699.20
Retained Earnings ($5,991,177.10)
Net Income ($15,656,354.56)
Total Equity $5,427,167.54 )
Total Liabilities & Equity $12,873,344.92
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Balance Sheet
End of Jan 2020

Financial Row
ASSETS
Current Assets
Bank
1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
1020 - SVB - Operating Account 9355
1025 - SVB - Sweep Account 3726
1030 - SVB - MarketPlace Account 0370
1040 - Lloyds GBP Direct Debit Account
1050 - Lloyds GBP Account
1060 - Citibank - Harnessio R&D Labs
1066 - Lloyds EUR Account - GmbH
1070 - Lloyds AUD Account
1075 - Lloyds USD Account - AUS
1080 - Airbase Clearing Account
Total - 1000 - Cash & Cash Equivalents
Total Bank
Accounts Receivable
1100 - Accounts Receivable
1110 - Accounts Receivables
Total - 1100 - Accounts Receivable
Total Accounts Receivable
Other Current Asset
1200 - Other Receivables
1210 - Interest Receivable
1240 - Employee Advances
1250 - Miscellaneous Receivables
1260 - Unbilled AR
Total - 1200 - Other Receivables
1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1315 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commissions
1320 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees
1355 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Commissions
1360 - Acc. Amortization - Deferred Partner Fees
Total - 1300 - Deferred Contract Costs, ST
1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
1410 - Prepaid Expenses
1425 - Prepaid Marketing Expenses
1430 - Prepaid Insurance Expenses
1440 - Prepaid Software Subscriptions
1490 - Deposits - Current
Total - 1400 - Prepaid Expenses and Other
Total Other Current Asset
Total Current Assets
Fixed Assets
1600 - Fixed Assets
1605 - Desktop Computer Equipment
1610 - Other Computer Equipment
1640 - Furniture and Fixtures
1660 - Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1600 - Fixed Assets
1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
1705 - A/D Desktop Computer Equipment
1710 - A/D Other Computer Equipment

Amount

$99,799.66
$36,135,086.59
$28,239.76
$18,575.64
$151,055.83
$175,240.70
$21,907.27
$72,403.08
$0.38
$438,667.00
$37,140,975.91
$37,140,975.91

$3,753,306.48
$3,753,306.48
$3,753,306.48

$24,793.74
$22,005.03
$133,407.78
$86,822.22
$267,028.77

$680,929.21

$41,354.47
($148,131.02)
($7,846.73)

$566,305.93

$268,465.76
$201,218.86
$259,944.29
$673,681.80
$314,524.49
$1,717,835.20
$2,551,169.90
$43,445,452.29

$328,581.77
$18,071.12
$166,265.53
$64,503.16
$577,421.58

($119,936.88)
($3,128.73)
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1715 - A/D Computer Software
1740 - A/D Furniture and Fixtures
1760 - A/D Leasehold Improvements
Total - 1700 - Accumulated Depreciation
Total Fixed Assets
Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1900 - Other Assets
1940 - Debt Issuance Costs
1950 - Deposits - Non-current
1985 - Deferred Contract Costs - Commission LT
1987 - Deferred Contract Costs - Partner Fees LT
Total - 1900 - Other Assets
Total Other Assets
Total ASSETS
Liabilities & Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
2000 - Accounts Payable
2010 - Accounts Payables
2020 - EE Expense Reports Payable
Total - 2000 - Accounts Payable
Total Accounts Payable
Credit Card
2090 - Credit Cards
2092 - SVB - Credit Card 4280
Total - 2090 - Credit Cards
Total Credit Card
Other Current Liability
2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits
2212 - Accrued Bonus Expense
2215 - Accrued Commission Expense
2220 - Accrued Payroll and Related
2223 - Accrued Payroll Health Benefits
2230 - Accrued Vacation
Total - 2200 - Accrued Compensation & Benefits
2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2310 - Accrued Consulting Expenses
2320 - Accrued Liabilities - Other
2325 - SF Payroll Taxes Accrued
2330 - Vat Control Account
2335 - Deferred Rent - Current
2370 - Sales Taxes Payable
2375 - Unvested Exercised Options-Current
Total - 2300 - Accrued Expenses & Other Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current
2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current
2410 - Deferred Revenue - SaaS
2412 - Deferred Revenue - On-Premise
2420 - Deferred Revenue - PCS
2425 - Deferred Revenue - Services
Total - 2400 - Deferred Revenue, Current
Total Other Current Liability
Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
2640 - Deferred Rent - Non Current
2690 - Unvested Exercised Options-Non Current
Total - 2600 - Other Liabilities, Non-Current
Total Long Term Liabilities
Equity
3000 - Stockholders' Equity
3010 - Common Stock

($1,704.35)
($35,654.11)
($13,577.06)

($174,001.13)
$403,420.45

$24,843.39
$253,928.53
$261,886.95
$1,977,238.75
$125,817.86
$2,643,715.48

$2,643,715.48

$46,492,588.22

$1,332,945.23

$97,866.66
$1,430,811.89
$1,430,811.89

$197,126.81
$197,126.81
$197,126.81

$262,853.00
$1,240,147.14
$61,003.42
$7,519.79
$1,016,198.55
$2,587,721.90

$18,233.30
$168,172.18
$40,455.91
($22,343.94)
$11,554.10
$28,868.63
$140,777.65
$385,717.83

$26,649.66
$3,821,225.43
$1,545,528.84
$430,057.19
$140,382.63
$5,963,843.75
$8,937,283.48
$10,565,222.18

$22,448.09
$239,544.62
$261,992.71
$261,992.71

$1,500.32
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3020 - Common Stock - APIC $444,066.91

3025 - Common Stock - APIC - SBC $3,369,185.51
3030 - Common Stock - Warrants $79,611.23
3060 - Founders Preferred Stock $3,000,000.00
3080 - Founders Preferred - Issuance Costs ($22,393.21)
3110 - Series A Preferred Stock $21,999,996.17
3150 - Series A - Issuance Costs ($59,346.85)
3210 - Series B Preferred Stock $62,187,099.54
3250 - Series B - Issuance Costs ($107,277.27)
Total - 3000 - Stockholders' Equity $90,892,442.35
Cumulative Translation Adjustment-Elimination ($0.01)
Retained Earnings ($21,647,531.66)
Net Income ($33,579,537.35)
Total Equity $35,665,373.33
Total Liabilities & Equity $46,492,588.22
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Harness, Inc
10 Harness US (Consolidated)

Harness Cash Flow Statement

From Feb 2021 to Jul 2021

Options: Show Zeros, Activity

Financial Row
Operating Activities
Net Income
Adjustments to Net Income
Depreciation
Restricted cash
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred contract costs
Other assets
Accounts Payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Accrued payroll and related expenses
Customer liability
Deferred rent
Deferred revenue
Stock-based compensation
Total Adjustments to Net Income
Total Operating Activities
Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Cash paid for acquisition of businesses
Total Investing Activities
Financing Activities
Debt Issuance cost
Debt issuance costs (non-cash warrants)
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred stock
Proceeds from early exercise of stock options
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from loan
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Total Financing Activities
Net Change in Cash for Period
Cash at Beginning of Period
Effect of exchange rate changes
Cash at End of Period

Only

Amount
($33,222,071.04)

$150,211.10
$0.00
$406,175.12
($1,526,100.41)
($2,195,634.73)
$48,178.10
$1,385,177.29
$664,754.24
($319,784.33)
($85,332.58)
($16,964.66)
$5,584,603.93
$1,898,015.00

$5,993,298.07
($27,228,772.97)

($236,774.68)

$113,736.24

($123,038.44)

$0.00

$0.00
($5,686.20)
($147,468.81)

$592,782.06

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$439,627.05
($26,912,184.36)

$108,676,780.87
$0.00
$81,764,596.51
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- Deloitte & Touche LLP
555 Mission Street
@ Suite 1400
San Francisco, CA 94105

USA

Tel:+1 415 783 4000
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of
Harness, Inc.
San Francisco, CA

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Harness, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of January 31, 2021, and the
related consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss, consolidated statement of convertible
preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and consolidated statement of cash flows for the years then
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Harness, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of January 31, 2021, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

eladid Tosibe 1P

October 19, 2021
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HARNESS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF JANUARY 31, 2021
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,677
Accounts receivable—net 8,422
Deferred contract acquisition costs 1,613
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,335
Total current assets 121,047
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT—Net 404
DEFERRED CONTRACT ACQUISITION COSTS, NONCURRENT 5,397
INTANGIBLE ASSETS—Net 9204
GOODWILL 1,001
CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE 865
OTHER ASSETS, NONCURRENT 798
TOTAL ASSETS $130,416

LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable s 1,397
Accrued compensation 5,537
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,432
Deferred revenue 10,856
Total current liabilities 19,222
DEFERRED REVENUE, NONCURRENT 1,893
OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 243
Total liabilities 21,358

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 7)

CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK—Convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value—89,013,203 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2021; aggregate liquidation preference of
$200,737 as of January 31, 2021 200,311

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT):
Common stock, $0.0001 par value—188,500,000 shares authorized as of January 31, 2021;

17,021,357 shares issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2021 2
Additional paid-in capital 12,632
Accumulated other comprehensive loss -
Accumulated deficit (103,887)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (91,253)
TOTAL LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) $130,416

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HARNESS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021
(In thousands)

REVENUE

COST OF REVENUE

GROSS PROFIT

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development

Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Total operating expenses
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
OTHER EXPENSE~—~Net

Total interest and other income (expense)—net

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

NET LOSS

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

$ 17,521
5,965
11,556
22,090

26,213
11,508

_59,811
(48,255)
46

46
(48,301)
__ 3%

$(48,660)
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HARNESS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock
Shares Amount Shares Amount
BALANCE—February 1, 2020 77,953,095 S 86,998 13,454,301 S 2
Issuance of Series B-1 Preferred Stock for cash—net of
issuance costs 4,989,221 30,473 - -
Issuance of Series C Preferred Stock for cash—net of
issuance costs 6,070,887 82,840 - -
Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock
options—net of repurchases - - 3,567,056 -
Vesting of early exercised stock options - - - -
Issuance of warrants for common stock in connection
with line of credit - - - -
Issuance of warrants in connection with
business combination - - - R
Stock-based compensation expense - - - -
Net loss - - - -
BALANCE—January 31, 2021 89,013,203 $200,311 17,021,357 S 2

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Total

Additional Stockholders’
Paid-in  Accumulated Equity
Capital Deficit {Deficit)
$ 3893 $ (55227) $(51,332)
973 - 973
184 - 184
249 - 249
200 - 200
7,133 - 7,133

- (48,660)  (48,660)
$12,632  $(103,887) $(91,253)
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HARNESS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021
(In thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation

Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Deferred contract acquisition costs
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related expenses
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Other noncurrent liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment
Cash paid for acquisitions—net of cash acquired

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of Series B-1 preferred stock—net of issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of Series C preferred stock—net of issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of period

SUPPLEMENTARY NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Vesting of early exercised stock options

Issuance of warrants in connection with business combination

Issuance of warrants for common stock in connection with line of credit

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ (48,660)

500
7,133
783

(4,588)
(5,124)
(350)
(1,039)
(230)
2,950
1,175
6,472
(19)

(40,997)

(238)
(1,515)

(1,753)

30,473
82,840
973

114,286

71,536
37,141
$ 108,677

S 184
200
S 249
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HARNESS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Business

Harness Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries {collectively the “Company” or “Harness”) was
incorporated in Delaware in 2015 under the name Wings Software, Inc. In 2017, the Company’s
name was changed to Harness Inc. The Company provides an innovative end-to-end platform for
intelligent software delivery designed to provide a simple, safe, and secure way for engineering,
software development, and IT operations teams to release applications into production. The
Company is headquartered in San Francisco, California, and it conducts its business worldwide. The
Company has wholly owned operating subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, Australia, and Germany.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries and have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“US GAAP”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

To date, the Company’s operations have been primarily financed through the sale of equity. The
Company has incurred losses through January 31, 2021. The Company used $41.4 million in
operating cash flows during the year ended January 31, 2021, and has an accumulated deficit of
$104.7 million at January 31, 2021. The Company believes its existing cash and cash equivalents
balances will be sufficient to meet its cash and working capital needs for at least the next

12 months after these financial statements are available for issuance.

The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to those of other companies of similar size in its
industry, including, but not limited to, the need for successful development of products, the need
for additional capital to fund operating losses, competition from larger companies, protection of
proprietary technology, dependence on key individuals, the cyclical nature of the industry, and risks
associated with changes in information technology.

COVID-19 Pandemic—In March 2020, the World Health Organization recognized the novel strain of
coronavirus (“COVID-19”) as a pandemic. In response to this COVID-19 outbreak, the governments
of many countries, states, cities, and other geographic regions have taken preventative or
protective actions, such as imposing restrictions on travel and business operations and advising or
requiring individuals to limit or forego their time outside of their homes. Accordingly, the COVID-19
outbreak has severely restricted the level of economic activity in many countries and continues to
adversely impact global economic activity and has contributed to significant volatility in financial
markets. The Company is actively monitoring the impact of the global situation on its financial
condition, liquidity, operations, suppliers, customers, industry, and workforce. Thus far, the
Company’s operations, financial condition, and liquidity have not been negatively impacted by
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(d)

(e)

(f)

COVID-19. However, given the rapid development and fluidity of this situation, the Company will
continue to monitor the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on its results of operations, financial
condition, and liquidity for fiscal year 2022.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the estimate of the average
period of benefit associated with costs capitalized to obtain revenue contracts, determination of
the fair value of common stock, the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed under
business combinations, indirect tax liabilities, and the valuation of deferred income tax assets and
uncertain tax positions. The Company evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis
using historical experience and other factors, including the current economic environment, which
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company adjusts such
estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate. Changes in those estimates
resulting from continuing changes in the economic environment will be reflected in the financial
statements in future periods.

Some estimates by the Company require increased judgment due to the significant volatility,
uncertainty, and economic disruption of COVID-19. The Company continues to monitor the effects
of the COVID-19 and its estimates and judgments may change materially as new events occur or
additional information becomes available.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to significant concentration of credit
risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are generally held with large financial institutions.
Deposits held with these financial institutions may exceed federally insured limits. Cash and cash
equivalents may be withdrawn or redeemed on demand. The Company believes that the financial
institutions that hold its cash and cash equivalents are financially sound and, accordingly, minimal
credit risk exists with respect to these balances.

The Company provides its services to a wide variety of customers. To reduce credit risk,
management performs ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of significant
customers. The Company does not require collateral from its credit customers and maintains
reserves for estimated credit losses on customer accounts when considered necessary. Actual
credit losses may differ from the Company’s estimates. As of January 31, 2021, one customer
represented more than 10% of accounts receivable, and during the year ended January 31, 2021,
no single customer represented more than 10% of the Company’s revenue.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company’s cash equivalents consist of all highly liquid investments deposited with banks and
money market funds with an original maturity of 90 days or less from the purchase settlement
date. At various times the balances of cash at financial institutions exceed the federally insured
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limit. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes cash and cash
equivalents are not subject to any significant credit risk.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are noninterest bearing. The
Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses inherent in its
accounts receivable portfolio, which is determined based on the Company’s best estimate of the
amount of probable credit losses in its existing accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful
accounts was zero as of January 31, 2021. In evaluating the Company’s ability to collect outstanding
receivable balances, the Company considers various factors, including the age of the balance, with
an emphasis on those that are past due over 90 days, historical losses, the creditworthiness of the
customers, current market conditions, and the customer’s financial condition. Account balances are
written off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the
potential for recovery is considered remote. Write-offs for the year ended January 31, 2021, were
not material.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar.
Accordingly, foreign currency assets and liabilities are remeasured into U.S. dollars at the end-of-
period exchange rates for nonmonetary assets and liabilities, which are measured at historical
exchange rates. Revenue and expenses are remeasured each day at the exchange rate in effect on
the day the transaction occurred. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses have been
immaterial in the periods presented.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company records its financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The carrying amounts of the
Company’s financial instruments, which include cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and
accounts payable approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The accounting
guidance for fair value provides a framework for measuring fair value, clarifies the definition of fair
value, and expands disclosures regarding fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the reporting date. When considering market
participant assumptions in fair value measurements, the following fair value hierarchy distinguishes
between observable and unobservable inputs, which are categorized in one of the following levels:

Level 1 Inputs—Unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
accessible to the reporting entity at the measurement date.

Level 2 Inputs—Other than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3 Inputs—Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure fair value to the
extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is
little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at measurement date.

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Useful Life
Computer equipment and software Two-three years
Furniture and fixtures Three years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of five years or the lease term

Maintenance and repairs that do not extend the useful life of the assets are expensed as incurred
and improvements are capitalized. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and
accumulated depreciation is removed from the consolidated balance sheet and any resulting gain
or loss is reflected in the consolidated statement of operations for the period realized.

Capitalized Internal-Use Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes qualifying internal-use software development costs that are incurred
during the application development stage. Capitalization of costs begins when two criteria are met:
(i) the preliminary project stage is completed and (ii) it is probable that the software will be
completed and used for its intended use. Capitalization ceases when the software is substantially
complete and ready for its intended use, including the completion of all significant testing. Costs
related to preliminary project activities and post implementation operating activities are expensed
as incurred.

Capitalized software development costs are included in long-term assets. These costs are amortized
over the estimated useful life of the software, generally three years, on a straight-line basis. The
amortization of costs related to the platform applications is included in operating expenses in the
consolidated statement of operations. Capitalization of costs associated with the development of
software for internal use totaled $0.9 million for the year ended January 31, 2021, net of
amortization expense of $0.2 million.

Business Combinations

When the Company acquires a business, it applies a screen test to evaluate if substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets to determine whether a transaction is accounted for as an asset
acquisition or business combination. When the Company acquires a business, the purchase
consideration is allocated to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets
acquired based on their estimated respective fair values. The excess of the fair value of purchase
consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
The Company’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but
which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable, and as a result, actual results may differ from
estimates.

{m) Impairment of Long-lived Assets (Including Goodwill and Intangible Assets)

Long-lived assets with finite lives include property and equipment, capitalized development
software costs, and acquired intangible assets. The Company evaluates long-lived assets, including
acquired intangible assets and capitalized internal-use software development costs, for impairment
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whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets held and used is measured by comparison of the
carrying amount of an asset or an asset group to estimated undiscounted future net cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
these estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the asset or asset group. The Company did
not recognize any impairment of long-lived assets for the period presented.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but rather tested for impairment
at least annually in the fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that impairment may exist. If qualitative analysis concludes that it is more likely than not
that the carrying value of the reporting unit is greater than its fair value, a two-step goodwill
impairment test is required. Goodwill impairment is recognized when the quantitative assessment
results in the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeding its fair value, in which case an
impairment charge is recorded to goodwill to the extent the carrying value exceeds the fair value,
limited to the amount of goodwill. The Company did not recognize any impairment of goodwill for
the period presented.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue primarily from two sources: (1) sales of subscriptions, including
term license for on-premise software and post-contract customer support {(“PCS”), and hosting fees
from sales of cloud software subscriptions and (2) services fees from training and professional
services related to the implementation of the Company’s products.

The Company recognizes revenue through the following steps:

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

Determination of the transaction price

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation

The Company sells subscriptions directly through sales teams and indirectly through channel
partners. The Company’s subscription contracts typically range from one-to-three years in duration,
are generally invoiced upfront or on an annual basis and are noncancelable and nonrefundable.

Revenue from PCS is recognized ratably over the contract duration. SaaS/Hosting fees from cloud
software subscriptions are recognized as revenue ratably over the cloud service term since the
customer does not have the right to take possession of the software. Revenue from on-premises
licenses is generally recognized upfront upon transfer of control of the software license, which
occurs at delivery, or when the license term commences, if later. The license provides significant
stand-alone functionality and is therefore deemed a distinct performance obligation. Performance
obligations related to PCS included unspecified updates, as well as support and maintenance. While
separate performance obligations are identified within PCS, the underlying performance obligations
generally have a consistent continuous pattern of transfer to a customer during the term of a
contract.

Training and professional services are generally provided on a fixed fee basis and are recognized on
a proportional performance basis as services are delivered.
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The Company’s contracts with customers often contain multiple performance obligations. For these
contracts, the Company accounts for individual performance obligations separately if they are
distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative
stand-alone selling price (“SSP”) basis. Judgment is required to determine the SSP for each distinct
performance obligation in a contract. The Company determines SSP based on an observable stand-
alone selling price when it is available, as well as other factors, including the price charged to
customers, the Company’s discounting practices, and its overall pricing objectives, while maximizing
observable inputs.

The Company’s policy is to record revenues net of any applicable sales, use, or excise taxes.

Total revenue for the Company for the year ended January 31, 2021 was $17.5 million. Of the
$17.5 million, subscription revenue was $15.7 million and services revenue was $1.8 million.

Contract liabilities are represented by deferred revenue, which consists of payments received
related to unsatisfied performance obligations at the end of the period, and are expected to be
fully recognized as revenue over the subsequent 12 months. Deferred revenue as of February 1,
2020, was $6.0 million, of which $5.9 million was recognized as revenue during the year ended
January 31, 2021.

Customer Liability

Customer liability represents amounts received from customers, which are potentially refundable
due to the customers’ contracts containing product exchange rights for which the Company is
unable to estimate future returns. Amounts are classified between current and noncurrent based
on the date that the exchange rights lapse, which is generally the end date of the contractual
arrangement.

During the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company had a customer liability balance of
$0.1 million, which was included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet.

Deferred Contract acquisition costs

The Company capitalizes certain sales commissions and referral fees, including related payroll
taxes, earned by the Company’s sales team and independent third-party partners, which are
considered to be incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract with a customer that are
ultimately expected to be recoverable. These costs are deferred and then amortized over a period
of benefit, which has been determined to be five years. Amounts expected to be recognized within
one year of the balance sheet date are included within current assets; the remaining portion is
included as a long-term asset on the consolidated balance sheet. Deferred contract costs are
periodically analyzed for impairment. Amortization expense is included in sales and marketing
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

The Company recognized amortization expense related to deferred contract costs of $0.8 million
for the year ended January 31, 2021. There was no impairment loss in relation to deferred contract
costs for the year ended January 31, 2021.
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Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenue consists primarily of personnel costs associated with customer support and the
delivery of professional services, expenses for third-party managed hosting services, amortization
expense of capitalized internal-use software development costs, and acquired technology and
allocated overhead costs.

Research and Development

Research and development costs, that are not capitalized as internal-use software development
costs, are expensed as incurred and consist primarily of employee compensation and other
employee-related expenses for employees on the Company’s engineering and technical teams who
are responsible for the maintenance and operation of the Company’s platform and new services, as
well as improving existing services.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses relate to both inbound and outbound sales activities. Sales and
marketing expenses generally are comprised of employee-related costs, including salaries, sales
commissions, stock-based compensation expense, other employee benefits and travel-related
expenses. Marketing expenses also include fees incurred to generate demand through various
advertising channels. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. These amounts are included in
sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying statement of operations and amounted to
$0.8 million for the year ended January 31, 2021.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of expenses related to operations, finance,
legal, human resources, information technology, and administrative personnel. General and
administrative expenses also include costs related to fees paid for certain professional services,
including legal, information technology, and tax and accounting services,

Leases

The Company leases facilities under operating leases. For leases that contain rent escalation or rent
concession provisions, the Company records the total rent expense during the lease termon a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The Company records the difference between the
rent paid and the straight-line rent expense as a current and noncurrent deferred rent liability, with
the current portion included in accrued expenses and other liabilities, respectively, in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards
granted to employees, directors, and nonemployees based on the estimated fair value of the
awards on the date of grant. The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated using the
Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model. Stock-based compensation for awards with only
service conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the
awards. For stock-based awards with both service and performance conditions, expenses are
recognized on a graded vesting basis over the requisite service period when it is probable that the
performance condition will be achieved. The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur.
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The Company is subject to income taxes in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions. The
Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the asset-and-liability method of
accounting for income taxes. Under the asset-and-liability method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized based upon anticipated future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and tax credit and net operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse.

The Company evaluates the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered from future
taxable income, and a valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amounts more likely than not expected to be realized.

The Company recognizes and measures uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. The first
step is to evaluate the tax position taken or expected to be taken by determining if the weight of
available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained in
an audit, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation process. The second step is to
measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon
ultimate settlement. Significant judgment is required to evaluate uncertain tax positions. The
Company evaluates its uncertain tax positions on a regular basis and evaluations are based on a
number of factors, including changes in facts and circumstances, changes in tax law,
correspondence with tax authorities during the course of audit, and effective settlement of audit
issues.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of two components, net loss and other comprehensive loss, net of tax.
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax, refers to revenue, expenses, gains, and losses that under
generally accepted accounting principles are recorded as an element of stockholders’ deficit but are
excluded from net loss. The Company did not have any other comprehensive income or loss in the
periods presented. Therefore, comprehensive loss is the same as net loss for the years presented.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842}, which supersedes the guidance in former
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 840, Leases. The FASB issued further updates to this
guidance in July 2018 through ASU No. 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases,
and ASU No. 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, in December 2018 through ASU
No. 2018-20, Leases (Topic 842): Narrow Scope Improvements for Lessors, in March 2019 through
ASU No. 2019-01, Leases (Topic 842): Codification Improvements, and in June 2020 through ASU
No. 2020-05, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Leases (Topic 842): Effective
Dates for Certain Entities, which requires lessees to put most leases in their balance sheet, but
recognize the expenses in their statement of operations in a manner similar to current practice.
These ASUs (collectively, the “new lease standard”) state that a lessee would recognize a lease
liability for the obligation to make lease payments and a right-to-use asset for the right to use the
underlying asset for the lease term. This new standard will be effective for the Company in its fiscal
year beginning February 1, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently
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evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326)
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. The FASB issued further updates to this
guidance in November 2018 through ASU No. 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326,
Financial Instruments—Credit Losses, in April 2019 through ASU No. 2019-04, Codification
Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and
Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments, in May 2019 through ASU No. 2019-05, Financial
Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief, and in November 2019 through
both ASU No. 2019-10, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging
(Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates, and ASU No. 2019-11, Codification
Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses. The pronouncement requires an
entity to utilize a new impairment model known as the current expected credit loss {“CECL”) model
to estimate its lifetime “expected credit loss” and record an allowance that, when deducted from
the amortized cost basis of the financial asset, presents the net amount expected to be collected on
the financial asset. The CECL model is expected to result in more timely recognition of credit losses.
The pronouncement also requires new disclosures for financial assets measured at amortized cost,
loans, and available-for-sale debt securities. The pronouncement is effective for private companies
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal
years. Entities will apply the standard’s provisions as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained
earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is adopted. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on the consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the
Accounting for Income Taxes. This standard simplifies the accounting for income taxes by
eliminating certain exceptions to the guidance in Topic 740 related to the approach for intraperiod
tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period, and the
recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. The guidance also simplifies
aspects of the accounting for franchise taxes and enacted changes in tax laws or rates, and clarifies
the accounting for transactions that result in a step-up in the tax basis of goodwill and the
allocation of consolidated income taxes to separate financial statements of entities not subject to
income tax. ASU No. 2019-12 will be effective for the Company on February 1, 2022. Upon
adoption, the Company must apply certain aspects of this standard retrospectively for all periods
presented while other aspects are applied on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-
effect adjustment to accumulated deficit as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this update on its consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company’s financial assets that are carried at fair value include Company’s cash and cash
equivalents and money market funds, which are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy
because they are marked to market and valued using quoted prices in active markets.
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The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities using the
above input categories as of January 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value
Money market accounts $106,835 s - S - $106,835
Total assets measured at fair value $106,835 S - S - $106,835

The Company has cash equivalents, which consist of money market accounts equal to the carrying
value. The Company’s money market accounts are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy
because they are valued using quoted market prices.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equipment, and software, net, as of January 31, 2021, consists of the following (in
thousands):

Computer equipment and software S 580
Furniture and fixtures 166
Leasehold improvements 68

814
Less accumulated depreciation (410)
Property and equipment—net S 404

Depreciation expense was $0.2 million for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2021. The amount of
depreciation expense included in cost of revenues for the year ended January 31, 2021, was immaterial.

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

In December 2019, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with a financial
institution for up to a $30.0 million commitment under three term loan tranches pursuant to which the
Company pledged substantially all of its assets, excluding its intellectual property, as loan collateral. The
first two tranches are available through December 31, 2021, for up to $15.0 million and $7.5 million.
The third tranche is contingently available for up to $7.5 million through December 31, 2021, based on
the achievement of a recurring revenue milestone. Advances under the Loan and Security Agreement
accrue interest at a floating interest rate of the greater of the Prime rate, plus 4.25% or 9.0%. Amounts
advanced under the Loan and Security Agreement will require interest-only payments until January 1,
2022, at which point principal will be due monthly through maturity at December 30, 2023. As of
January 31, 2021, no amounts have been advanced under the Loan and Security Agreement.

The Company incurred $0.4 million is debt issuance costs related to the Loan and Security Agreement,
which have been deferred as a discount to the debt and included in other assets on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet.

In connection with the Loan and Security Agreement, the Company granted the bank a warrant to
purchase up to 311,645 shares of Class B commons stock. The exercise price per share of the Class B
common stock underlying the warrant is $0.955 per share, which can be exercised at any time prior to
the expiration date of 10 years from the date of issuance. The fair value of the warrant was determined
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to be $0.3 million, which was recorded as a discount to the debt and is included in other assets on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Discounts to debt are being amortized to interest expense
over the availability period of the advances. Interest expense is included in other expenses, net, in the
consolidated statement of operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of Drone.io, Inc.—In July 2020, the Company executed a Stock Purchase and Sale
Agreement to acquire the assets and liabilities of Drone.io, Inc. {“Drone”). The Company acquired
Drone primarily for its workforce and developed technology, in exchange for purchase consideration of
$1.5 million in cash. In addition, a total of $2.0 million of additional payments are to be made to
Drone’s founding employee upon each of the first three anniversaries of the acquisition, contingent on
future employment of the founder by the Company. These payments will be recognized as employee
compensation expense over the required future service period and therefore have not been included as
part of the purchase consideration.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition were recorded at their
fair value on the date of acquisition as follows (in thousands):

Assets:
Accounts Receivable $ 81
Developed Technology 425
Customer relationships 425
Goodwill 849
Liabilities:
Deferred Revenue (312)
Total 51,468

The acquired developed technology and customer relationships have an estimated useful life of four
and six years, respectively. The fair value assigned to the developed technology and customer
relationships was determined primarily using a market approach. Goodwill represents the excess of
purchase price over future economic benefits arising from other assets that could not be individually
identified and separately recognized, such as the acquired assembled workforce of Drone. In addition,
goodwill represents the future benefits as a result of the acquisition that will enhance the Company’s
product available to both new and existing customers and increase the Company’s competitive
position.

The Company incurred an immaterial amount of transaction, which were recorded under general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.

Acquisition of Retter Technology Consulting Private Limited—In November 2020, the Company
executed Stock Purchase Agreements to acquire the assets and liabilities of Retter Technology
Consulting Private Limited (“Retter”) for purchase consideration of $0.3 million, which was composed
of $0.2 million in cash consideration and $0.1 million in equity consideration in the form of a warrant
for 19,815 shares of common stock. The Company acquired Retter primarily to incorporate its
technology into its platform and for its workforce.

The tangible and intangible assets and liabilities were recorded as part of the opening balance sheet.
$0.15 million was recorded as developed technology and $0.15 million was recorded as goodwill.
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The acquired developed technology has an estimated useful life of three years. The Company incurred
an immaterial amount of transaction, which were recorded under general and administrative expenses
in the consolidated statement of operations.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill —The change in the carrying amount of goodwill was as follows (in thousands):

Balance as of January 31, 2020 S -
Addition 1,001
Balance as of January 31, 2021 $1,001

Intangible Assets, Net—The Company’sintangible assets are made up of developed technology and
customer relationships which were acquired through business combinations. The carrying amount of
intangibles assets, net as of January 31, 2021, is as follows {in thousands):

Gross Net

Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Period Amount Amortization Amount
Developed technology 4years S 577 $(62) $515
Customer relationships 6years 425 (36) 389
Total $1,002 $(98) $904

Amortization expense was $0.1 million during the year ended January 31, 2021. Amortization of
developed technology is included in cost of revenues, and amortization of customer relationships is
included in sales and marketing expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

As of January 31, 2021, future amortization expense is expected to be as follows (in thousands):

2022 $228
2023 228
2024 219
2025 124
2026 71
2027 34
Total amortization expense 904
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7.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Operating Leases

The following is a schedule of future noncancelable minimum lease payments, by year, required
under operating leases that have initial terms in excess of one year as of January 31, 2021:

Fiscal Year Ended

January 31

2022 $ 965
2023 336
Total minimum lease payments $1,301

Rent expense for fiscal year ended January 31, 2021, was approximately $1.8 million.
Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to certainroutine legal proceedings, as well as demands and claims that
arise in the normal course of its business. The Company makes a provision for a liability relating to
legal matters when it is both probable that a liability will be incurred and the amount of such
liability can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed periodically and adjusted to
reflect the impact of negotiations, estimated settlements, legal rulings, advise of legal counsel, and
other information and events pertaining to a particular matter. In the Company’s opinion, the
resolution of any pending claims, either individually or in the aggregate, is not expected to have a
material adverse impact on the consolidated results of operations, cash flows, or financial position,
nor is it possible to provide an estimated amount of any such losses. However, the unfavorable
resolution of a matter could materially affect the Company’s future consolidated results of
operations, cash flows, or financial position.

Warranties and Product Indemnifications

The Company’s arrangements generally include certain provisions for indemnifying customers
against liabilities if there is a breach of a customer’s data or if the Company’s services infringe a
third-party’s intellectual property rights. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs
as a result of such indemnifications and has not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in
the consolidated financial statements. The Company is unable to estimate the maximum potential
impact of these indemnifications on its future consolidated results of operations due to its limited
and infrequent history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances
involved in each particular agreement.

The Company has entered into service-level agreements with certain customers, primarily cloud
software subscription customers, warranting defined levels of performance and response and
permitting those customers to receive credits for prepaid amounts in the event that those
performance and response levels are not met. To date, the Company has not experienced any
significant failures to meet defined levels of performance and response. In connection with those
agreements the Company has not incurred any costs and has not accrued any liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements.
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The Company'’s software license agreements also generally include a warranty that the products
will substantially operate as described in the applicable program documentation for a period of

30 days after delivery. The Company’s cloud-based service is typically warranted to be performed in
a professional manner and in a manner that will comply with the terms of the customer
agreements. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs associated with these
warranties.

8. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

Convertible preferred stock as of January 31, 2021, consisted of the following:

Issued and Net Carrying Liquidation
Shares Outstanding Value Preference
Authorized Shares (in thousands) (in thousands)

Founders 48,000,000 48,000,000 S 2,978 S 3,000
Series A 17,287,440 17,287,440 21,941 22,000
Series B 12,665,655 12,665,655 62,003 62,187
Series B-1 4,989,221 4,989,221 30,550 30,550
Series C 6,070,887 6,070,887 82,840 83,000
89,013,203 89,013,203 $200,311 $200,737

The holders of convertible redeemable preferred stock have various rights and preferences as follows:
(a) Conversion Rights

Right to Convert to Class A Common Stock—Each share of Founders preferred stock shall be
convertible, at the option of the holder, at any time after the issuance date of such share, into
shares of Class A common stock on a one for one basis. Any transfers of Founders preferred stock
shares that is not (i) made in connection with an equity financing, (ii) authorized by the majority of
the Company’s board of directors, or {iii) made to certain permitted entities, shall be deemed an
election of an option to convert such shares into Class A common stock followed immediately by a
conversion of such shares of Class A common stock into shares of Class B common stock, and each
share of Founders preferred stock will automatically convert into that number of shares of Class B
common stock as if such Founders preferred stock first converted into Class A common stock.

Right to Convert to Class B Common Stock—Each share of Series A, Series B, Series B-1, and

Series C preferred stock (collectively referred to as “Investor” preferred stock) shall be convertible,
at the option of the holder, at any time after the issuance date of such share, into shares of Class B
common stock on a one for one basis.

Automatic Conversion of Founders Preferred Stock—Shares of Founders preferred stock will be
automatically converted into shares of Class A common stock upon the earlier of (a) the closing of
the sale of the Company’s common stock in a firm commitment underwritten public offering
pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 or Form SB-2 under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, of which the aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of $75.0 million or more (a
“Qualified Public Offering”); or (b) the date specified by written consent or agreement of the
holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of Founders preferred stock, voting together
as a single class.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Automatic Conversion of Investor Preferred Stock—Shares of Investor preferred stock will be
automatically converted into shares of Class B common stock upon the earlier of (a) the closing of a
Qualified Public Offering or (b) the date specified by written consent or agreement of the holders of
a majority of the then outstanding shares of Investor preferred stock, voting together as a single
class, which vote must include the holders of a majority of the Series A, Series B, Series B-1 and
Series C preferred stock, each voting as a separate series.

Dividends

The preferred stockholders are entitled to dividends at an annual rate of 8% of their original
issuance price of $0.0625, $1.2726, $4.9099, $6.1232, and $13.6718 for the Founders, Series A,
Series B, Series B-1, and Series C preferred stock, respectively {(as adjusted for stock dividends, stock
splits, combinations, or other similar recapitalizations). Dividends are payable only when and if
declared by the Company’s board of directors and are not cumulative. No dividends have been
declared to date.

Liquidation Preference

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or
involuntary, the holders of the Company’s outstanding preferred stock are entitled to receive out of
the proceeds of such liquidation, on a pro rata basis, prior and in preference to holders of common
stock, an amount per share equal to the greater of (i) the original issuance price of such series, plus
any dividends declared but unpaid or (i) for each series of preferred stock, an amount per share as
would have been payable had all shares of such series of preferred stock were converted into

Class B or Class A common stock, as applicable. If the assets of the Company available for
distribution to its stockholders are insufficient to pay the holders of shares of preferred stock the
full amount they are entitled to, then the holders of preferred stock shall share ratably in the
distribution in proportion to the respective amounts which would otherwise be payable.

After payment of the foregoing liquidation preferences in full, any remaining assets would be
distributed among the holders of common stock on a pro rata basis.

Voting Rights

The holders of Founders preferred stock have the right to 10 votes for each share of Class A or
Class B common stock, into which such Founders preferred stock could then be converted and, with
respect to such vote, holders of preferred stock are entitled to vote together with the holders of
common stock as a single class.

All series of preferred stock other than the Founders preferred stock have the right to one vote for
each share of Class B common stock into which such preferred stock could then be converted and,
with respect to such vote, holders of preferred stock are entitled to vote together with the holders
of common stock as a single class.

So long as any shares of Series B preferred stock remain outstanding, the holders of Series B
preferred stock, voting separately as a single class, are entitled to elect one member of the board of
directors. So long as any shares of Series A preferred stock remain outstanding, the holders of
Series A preferred stock, voting separately as a single class, are entitled to elect one member of the
board of directors. So long as any shares of Founders preferred stock remain outstanding, the
holders of Founders preferred stock, voting separately as a single class, are entitled to elect one
member of the board of directors. The holders of Class A common stock, Class B common stock,
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and Class A issued or issuable upon conversion of the Founders preferred stock, voting separately
as a single class, are entitled to elect one member of the board of directors. The holders of
common stock and preferred stock (excluding Series C preferred stock), voting separately as a
single class, are entitled to elect any remaining member of the board of directors.

(e) Convertible Preferred Stock Balance Sheet Classification

As the shares of the convertible preferred stock are redeemable upon a deemed liquidation event
as discussed in Liquidation Preference, and because the Company determined that such a deemed
liquidation would be outside of its control, the convertible preferred stock is recorded at issuance
date fair value outside of stockholders’ deficit in the convertible preferred stock section of the
consolidated balance sheets. As it is uncertain as to when a redemption event may occur, if ever,
the carrying amounts of the convertible preferred stock are not accreted to their redemption value
until such event were to become probable.

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock—As of January 31, 2021, the Company has authorized for issuance 188,500,000 shares
of common stock at $0.0001 par value, of which common stock consists of: 57,700,000 shares of Class A
common stock and 130,800,000 shares of Class B common stock. As of January 31, 2021, the Company
reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:

Convertible preferred stock 89,013,203
Warrant for Class B common stock 331,459
Stock options outstanding 10,623,463
Shares Reserved for stock plans 7,573,746

107,541,871

Stock Incentive Plans—The Company currently has two stock incentive plans: the 2021 Stock Option
and Grant Plan (the “2021 Stock Plan”) and the 2015 Stock Option and Grant Plan (the “2015 Stock
Plan”), which both provides for the grant of incentive and nonstatutory stock options and restricted
stock awards to employees, nonemployee directors, and consultants of the Company. As of January 31,
2021, there were 25,518,566 shares reserved for issuance under the Stock Plan, with 5,073,746 shares
available to be issued under the 2015 Stock Plan and 2,500,000 shares authorized and available to be
issued under the 2021 Stock Plan. There have been no awards granted under the 2021 Stock Plan
through January 31, 2021.

Stock options granted under the 2015 Stock Plan and 2021 Stock Plan generally expire within 10 years
from the date of grant. The Company has granted stock-based awards with service-based vesting
conditions and performance-based vesting conditions. Awards with service-based vesting conditions
generally vest over four years. Awards with a performance-based conditions vest annually upon the
achievement of specified performance conditions.
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A summary of the 2015 Stock Plan’s activity is as follows:

Weighted-  Weighted-

Average Average Aggregate
Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Number of Price Contractual Life Value
Shares Per Share {In Years) (in thousands)

Outsanding options as of January 31, 2020 12,082,682 S 0.60 9.0 6,902
Granted 4,394,182 1.12 - -
Exercised (3,775,141) 0.35 - -
Cancelled/forfeited {(2,078,260) 0.76 - -
Outsanding options as of January 31, 2021 10,623,463 0.87 8.7 32,738
Vested and Exercisable as of January 31, 2021 6,302,011 081 8.6 19,804

The intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock
option award and the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock as of January 31, 2021. The
weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the year ended January 31, 2021, was
$1.79 per share. As of January 31, 2021, there was approximately $9.3 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested options, which is expected to be recognized over the weighted-
average period of 3.3 years.

Valuation Assumptions—The Company measures compensation expense for all stock-based payment
awards based on the estimated fair values on the date of the grant. The fair value of stock options
granted is estimated using the Black-Scholes Merton option valuation model utilizing the assumptions
noted below:

Fair Value of Common Stock—The Company’s board of directors considers numerous objective and
subjective factors to determine the fair value of the Company’s common stock options at each meeting
in which awards are approved. The factors considered include, but are not limited to: (i) the results of
contemporaneous independent third-party valuations of the Company’s common stock; (ii) the prices,
rights, preferences, and privileges of the Company’s preferred stock relative to those of its common
stock; (iii) the lack of marketability of the Company’s common stock; (iv) actual operating and financial
results; (v) current business conditions and projections; and (vi) the likelihood of achieving a liquidity
event, such as an initial public offering or sale of the Company, given prevailing market conditions.

Expected Volatility—Expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which the stock price is
expected to fluctuate. Since the Company does not have sufficient trading history of its common stock,
it estimates the expected volatility of its stock options at their grant date by taking the weighted-
average historical volatility of a group of comparable publicly traded companies over a period equal to
the expected life of the options.

Expected Term—Expected term represents the period over which the Company anticipates stock-based
awards to be outstanding. The Company uses the simplified method to calculate the expected term
estimate based on the options’ vesting term and contractual terms. Under the simplified method, the
expected life is equal to the average of the stock-based award’s weighted-average vesting period and
its contractual term.
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10.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—The Company uses the average of the published interest rates of U.S. Treasury
zero coupon issues with terms consistent with the expected term of the awards for its risk-free interest
rate.

Expected Dividends—The Company historically has not paid dividends on common stock and has no
plans to issue dividends in the foreseeable future.

The calculated fair value of employee and nonemployee option grants was estimated using the Black-
Scholes model with the following weighted-average assumptions during the year ended January 31,
2021:

Expected volatility 53.8 %
Risk-free interest rate 0.6 %
Expected dividend yield - %
Expected term (inyears) 6.0

Share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended January 31, 2021, is as follows (in thousands):

Cost of revenues S 142
Research and development 1,042
Sales and marketing 833
General and administrative 5,115
Total stock-based compensation expense $7,133

Secondary Sales of Common Stock—During the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company facilitated
secondary sales between current and former employees to sell shares of the Company’s common stock
to new and existing investors (i.e., third-party) at a purchase price of $8.0 million. These investors
acquired 805,250 shares of outstanding common stock from certain employees and the purchase price
per share in the secondary sale was in excess of the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the
time of the transaction. As a result, the Company recorded a total of $4.9 million in stock-based
compensation expense for the difference between the price paid by these investors and the estimated
fair value of the shares sold on the date of the transaction for the year ended January 31, 2021. This
expense is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
operations.

INCOME TAXES

The components of loss before provision for income taxes for the year ended January 31, 2021, were as
follows (in thousands):

uUs $(50,127)
Foreign 1,826
$(48,301)
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The provision for income taxes for the year ended January 31, 2021, consisted of the following (in
thousands):

Current:
Federal S -
State 4
Foreign 355

Total current 359
Deferred:
Federal -
State -
Foreign -

Total deferred -

Total provision $ 359

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as
follows (in thousands):

Amount Percent

Tax provision (benefit) at U.S. statutory rate $ (10,143) 21.00 %
State income taxes—net of federal benefit (1,114) 2.31
Foreign income and withholding taxes 196 (0.41)
Stock-based compensation 1,482 (3.07)
Change in valuation allowance 10,205 (21.13)
Research and development credits (290) 0.60
Other 23 (0.05)
S 359 (0.75)%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective bases for income
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tax purposes. The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of
January 31, 2021, were as follows {in thousands):

Compensation accruals $ 681
Property and equipment (205)
Intangibles (496)
Net operating loss 26,008
Deferred expenses (1,602)
Resarch and development credits 955
Other 54

Deferred tax assets 25,395
Valuation allowance (25,395)
Net deferred tax asset $ -

The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon its ability to realize the
deferred tax assets. The Company has considered its history of cumulative net losses incurred since
inception and has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the
benefits of the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been established against
the deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of realizing future tax benefits from the Company’s net
operating loss (“NOL") carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. The Company reevaluates the
positive and negative evidence at each reporting period.

As of January 31, 2021, the Company had a federal operating loss carryforward of approximately

$96.7 million. As of January 31, 2021, the Company’s state operating loss carryforward was
approximately $95.6 million. With the exception of $90.8 million of federal net operating losses which
can be carried forward indefinitely, the federal and state net operating losses, if not used, will begin to
expire on January 31, 2035 and January 31, 2037. The Company has federal and California research and
development tax credit carry-forwards of approximately $1.5 million and $0.6 million. The federal
research and development tax credits, if not used, will begin to expire on January 31, 2034, while the
state tax credit carry-forwards do not have an expiration date and may be carried forward indefinitely.

On June 29, 2020, Governor Newsom signed into law Assembly Bill 85 (“AB 85”). Key provisions of this
assembly bill include the suspension of net operating loss (“NOL”) utilization for corporations with at
least $1.0 million of net business income or modified adjusted gross income subject to the tax imposed
under the California Revenue & Taxation Code. Suspended NOL will receive an extended carryover
period for the amount that was disallowed. The AB 85 NOL suspension is effective for taxable years
beginning on or after January 1, 2020, and before January 1, 2023. AB 85 also imposes a credit
utilization limit of $5.0 million. This credit limit shall apply to the “total of all business credits otherwise
allowable” including carryovers. Corporations filing combined returns are limited to $5.0 million for all
taxpayers included in the combined report. There is no impact expected related to the passage of AB 85
on the Company as it is currently and has historically been generating net operating losses.

Utilization of the operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of operating
loss carryforwards and credits before utilization.
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The Company follows the provisions of the FASB’s guidance for accounting for uncertain tax positions.
The guidance indicates a comprehensive model for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure in financial statements of any uncertain tax positions that have been taken or expected to be
taken on a tax return. No liability related to uncertain tax positions is recorded in the financial
statements due to the fact the liabilities have been netted against deferred attribute carryovers. It is
the Company’s policy to include penalties and interest related to income tax matters in income tax
expense.

The Company does not expect that its uncertain tax positions will materially change in the next twelve
months. For year ending January 31, 2021, the amount of unrecognized tax benefits increased due to
additional research and development credits generated. The additional uncertain tax benefits would
not impact the Company’s effective tax rate to the extent that it continues to maintain a full valuation
allowance against its deferred tax assets.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits was as follows (in

thousands):
Balance as of February 1, 2020 S 441
Additions for prior years 573

Additions for current year -

Balance as of January 31, 2021 $1,014

In March and December 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the CARES Act and the
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, were passed into law and provide additional economic stimulus
to address the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company did not have any significant benefit to
its income tax provision as a result of this legislation.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and various states and foreign jurisdictions.
The Company is not currently under examination by income tax authorities in any federal, state or
other jurisdictions. All U.S. tax returns will remain open for examination by the federal and state
authorities for three and four years, respectively, from the date of utilization of any NOL or tax credits.

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Mountain View Office Lease Renewal—In August 2021, the Company entered into a sub-sublease
agreement with Coda Project, Inc. The sub-subleased Premises consists of a portion of the 12th Floor of
444 Castro Street, Mountain View office of approximately 4,233 rentable square feet. The sub-sublease
term commences on September 1, 2021, and ends on November 14, 2022.

The Company evaluated subsequent events from February 1, 2021, through October 19, 2021, the date
the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance and determined there are no other
items to disclose.

* %k k %k %k ok
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